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SIGNATURES

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Exchange Act”). These
forward-looking statements are generally located in the material set forth under the headings “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, “Business”, “Properties” but may be found in other locations as well. These
forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from the results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
You should not unduly rely on these statements. Factors, risks, and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in
the forward-looking statements include, among others,
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

our growth strategies;
anticipated trends in our business;
our ability to make or integrate acquisitions;
our liquidity and ability to finance our exploration, acquisition and development strategies;
market conditions in the oil and gas industry;
the timing, cost and procedure for proposed acquisitions;
the impact of government regulation;
estimates regarding future net revenues from oil and natural gas reserves and the present value thereof;
the outcome of and/or negative perceptions associated with legal proceedings;
planned capital expenditures (including the amount and nature thereof);
increases in oil and gas production;
the number of wells we anticipate drilling in the future;
estimates, plans and projections relating to acquired properties;
the number of potential drilling locations; and
our financial position, business strategy and other plans and objectives for future operations.

We identify forward-looking statements by use of terms such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “hope,” “plan,”
“believe,” “predict,” “envision,” “intend,” “will,” “continue,” “potential,” “should,” “confident,” “could” and similar words and expressions,
although some forward-looking statements may be expressed differently. You should be aware that our actual results could differ materially
from those contained in the forward-looking statements. You should consider carefully the statements under the “Risk Factors” section of this
report and other sections of this report which describe factors that could cause our actual results to differ from those set forth in the forwardlooking statements, and the following factors:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

the possibility that our acquisitions may involve unexpected costs;
the volatility in commodity prices for oil and gas;
the accuracy of internally estimated proved reserves;
the presence or recoverability of estimated oil and gas reserves;
the ability to replace oil and gas reserves;
the availability and costs of drilling rigs and other oilfield services;
environmental risks; exploration and development risks;
competition;
the inability to realize expected value from acquisitions;
the ability of our management team to execute its plans to meet its goals; and
other economic, competitive, governmental, legislative, regulatory, geopolitical and technological factors that may negatively
impact our businesses, operations and pricing.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report or the date of any document incorporated by reference in this
report. Except to the extent required by applicable law or regulation, we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General
Lucas Energy, Inc., a Nevada corporation, is an independent oil and natural gas company based in Houston, Texas with a field office
in Gonzales, Texas. Lucas Energy, Inc. (herein the "Company," "Lucas," "Lucas Energy," or "we") is engaged in the acquisition and
development of crude oil and natural gas from various known productive geological formations, including the Austin Chalk, Eagle Ford and
Buda formations, primarily in Gonzales, Wilson, Karnes and Atascosa counties south of the city of San Antonio; and the Eaglebine, Buda, and
Glen Rose formations in Leon and Madison counties north of the city of Houston, Texas. Incorporated in Nevada in December 2003 under the
name Panorama Investments Corp., the Company changed its name to Lucas Energy, Inc. effective June 9, 2006.
The Company's strategy is to increase shareholder value by developing its significant acreage positions in the Eagle Ford, Austin
Chalk, Eaglebine, Buda and Glen Rose oil bearing formations through a committed development program, effective management and efficiency
of its current operations, being opportunistic in industry cycles and trends, and building a strong balance sheet. Below are key points of our
strategy:
·

·
·
·

Development of current asset base. The Austin Chalk has contributed to most of our production in the past year, including over
90% of our producing wells. We are planning to develop and execute a drilling program beginning in the second half of 2013
(our 2014 fiscal year), which include the Austin Chalk, Buda/Glen Rose, and the Eagle Ford areas. The magnitude of the
opportunity and associated drilling costs will require external sources of capital. We expect to utilize some combination of debt
and equity in conjunction with operating cash flow to fund this development. Dependent upon varying factors such as joint
ownership, size of lease and other asset specific conditions, the Company may also utilize joint interest participation partners or
other forms of partnering.
Ongoing fieldwide evaluation and optimization. Our strategy is to be cost efficient and manage our operations with sound
judgment and excellence. We pride ourselves with considering technological advancements to enhance our operations. This
process should enhance production results and also lead to lower operating costs on a per barrel basis.
Maintain a strong balance sheet. Through its extensive asset base, the Company is focused to leverage its current balance
sheet and maximize value with an appropriate and flexible capital structure program.
Execution of our business plan. We will conduct the affairs of the Company with the objective of maintaining positive cash
flow, managing all essentials of our cost structure, drilling and operating programs, and our corporate general and administrative
costs. We have made great strides with this approach by recently eliminating overburdened operating costs and legal
impediments to move forward in becoming a contributing player in our core areas.

At March 31, 2013, the Company had leasehold interests (working interests) in approximately 21,462 gross acres, or 15,898 net
acres. The Company’s total net developed and undeveloped acreage as measured from the surface to the base of the Austin Chalk formation
was approximately 15,490 net acres. In deeper formations, the Company has approximately 4,510 net acres in the Eagle Ford oil window and
3,441 net acres in the Eaglebine, Buda and Glen Rose oil bearing formations.
At the end of March 2013, Lucas was producing approximately 203 net barrels of oil equivalent per day (BOEPD) from 55 active well
bores, of which 18 wells accounted for more than 80% of our production. The ratio between the gross and net production varies due to varied
working interests and net revenue interests in each well. An affiliate of Marathon Oil Corporation operates the only two Eagle Ford horizontal
wells in our Gonzales leases, of which we have a 15% working interest on each well. Our -production sales totaled 85,766 barrels of oil
equivalent, net to our interest, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.
At March 31, 2013, Lucas Energy's total estimated net proved reserves were 5.6 million barrels of oil equivalent (BOE), of which 5.1
million barrels (BBLs) were crude oil reserves, and 2.6 billion cubic feet (BCF) were natural gas reserves (see Item 8 Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data).
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As of March 31, 2013, Lucas employed 8 full-time employees. We also utilized over 10 contractors on an "as-needed" basis to carry
out various functions of the Company, including but not limited to field operations, land administration, corporate activity and information
technology maintenance.
Industry Segments
Lucas Energy's operations are all crude oil and natural gas exploration and production related.
Operations and Oil and Gas Properties
We operate in known productive areas which minimizes our geological risk. Our holdings are found in a broad area of current industry activity
in Gonzales, Wilson, Karnes, Atascosa, Leon and Madison counties in Texas. We concentrate on three vertically adjoining formations in
Gonzales, Wilson, Karnes and Atascosa counties: the Austin Chalk, Eagle Ford and Buda formations, listed in the order of increasing depth
measuring from the land surface. The development of the Eagle Ford as a high potential producing zone has heightened industry interest and
success. Lucas Energy’s acreage position is in the oil window of the Eagle Ford trend. In 2010, the Company sold 85% of its working interest
in its Eagle Ford acreage in Gonzales county, Texas to Hilcorp Resources, LLC (now Marathon Resources EF, LLC); and in 2011 the
Company sold 50% of its working interest in its Wilson county Eagle Ford acreage to Marathon Oil Company. In December 2011, we
acquired 3,745 net acres in Leon and Madison counties, Texas and thereby expanded our holdings of the Eagle Ford trend. We concentrate in
several formations in Madison and Leon counties, Texas: the Eaglebine, Buda, and Glen Rose which have productive zones surrounding our
acreage.
Austin Chalk
The Company’s original activity started in Gonzales County by acquiring existing shut-in and stripper wells and improving production
from those wells. Most of the wells had produced from the Austin Chalk. The Austin Chalk is a dense limestone, varying in thickness along its
trend from approximately 200 feet to more than 800 feet. It produces by virtue of localized fractures within the formation.
Eagle Ford
Drilling activities by other operators and the improvement in horizontal drilling, well stimulation, and completion technologies, have brought the
Eagle Ford play to prominence as one of the foremost plays in the United States today.
On Lucas’ leases, the Eagle Ford is a porous limestone with organic shale matter. The Eagle Ford formation directly underlies the Austin Chalk
formation and is believed to be the primary source of oil and natural gas produced from the Austin Chalk. Reservoir thickness in the area of the
Company’s leases varies from approximately 60 feet to 80 feet.
Eaglebine
The Eaglebine is so named because the Eagle Ford formation overlies the Woodbine formation. This is a continuation of the Eagle Ford trend
that is productive from south Texas to the east north of Houston, Texas. The Woodbine formation is best known as the prolific reservoir in the
famous East Texas Oil Field. There has been increased interest and activity in the Eaglebine formation in the Leon, Houston, and Madison
county areas. There is established production from horizontal and vertical wells surrounding Lucas’ holdings and numerous permits for
additional wells have been filed for additional exploratory and development drilling.
Glen Rose
The Glen Rose limestone is a deeper formation below the Buda, around 11,000 feet in our acreage. Its thickness varies from approximately 100
feet to more than 300 feet in this area. The Glen Rose has several prolific zones that produce from natural fractures and matrix porosity and is
prospective across this whole area. There are a number of Glen Rose wells with cumulative production of more than 100,000 barrels of oil and
associated natural gas adjacent to our leases.
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Buda
The Buda limestone underlies the Eagle Ford formation separated by a 10 foot to 20 foot inorganic shale barrier. Its thickness varies from
approximately 100 feet to more than 150 feet in this area. The Buda produces from natural fractures and matrix porosity and is prospective
across this whole area. There are a number of Buda wells with cumulative production of more than 100,000 barrels of oil.
Marketing
We operate exclusively in the onshore United States oil and natural gas trends. Crude oil production sales are to gatherers and
marketers with national reputations. Our sales are made on a month-to-month basis, and title transfer occurs when the oil is loaded onto the
purchaser’s truck. Crude oil prices realized from production sales are indexed to published posted refinery prices, and to published crude
indexes with adjustments on a contract basis.
Our natural gas production is associated gas resulting from crude oil production and is currently very nominal. We expect that as we
drill our proved undeveloped opportunities, the Company would have an increase in production of natural gas and natural gas liquids.
Although we believe that we are not dependent upon any one purchaser, our marketing arrangement with Enterprise Crude Oil, LLC
accounted for almost all of our revenues for the year ended March 31, 2013 and GulfMark Energy Inc. accounted for approximately 69% in
2012. Lucas Energy has alternative purchasers readily available at competitive market prices if there is disruption in services or other events that
cause us to search for other ways to sell our production.
We actively manage our crude oil inventory in field tanks and have engaged a marketing company to negotiate our crude and natural gas
contracts.
Competition
We are in direct competition for properties with numerous oil and natural gas companies and partnerships exploring various areas of
Texas and elsewhere. Many competitors are large, well-known oil and natural gas and/or energy companies, although no single entity
dominates the industry. Many of our competitors possess greater financial and personnel resources, enabling them to identify and acquire more
economically desirable energy producing properties and drilling prospects than us. Additionally, there is competition from other fuel choices to
supply the energy needs of consumers and industry.
Regulation
Lucas Energy's operations are subject to various types of regulation at the federal, state and local levels. These regulations include
requiring permits for the drilling of wells; maintaining hazard prevention, health and safety plans; submitting notification and receiving permits
related to the presence, use and release of certain materials incidental to oil and natural gas operations; and regulating the location of wells, the
method of drilling and casing wells, the use, transportation, storage and disposal of fluids and materials used in connection with drilling and
production activities, surface plugging and abandonment of wells and the transporting of production. Lucas Energy's operations are also subject
to various conservation matters, including the number of wells which may be drilled in a unit, and the unitization or pooling of oil and natural
gas properties. In this regard, some states allow the forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration, while other states rely on
voluntary pooling of lands and leases, which may make it more difficult to develop oil and gas properties. In addition, state conservation laws
establish maximum rates of production from oil and natural gas wells, generally limiting the venting or flaring of natural gas, and impose certain
requirements regarding the ratable purchase of production. The effect of these regulations is to possibly limit the amounts of oil and natural gas
Lucas can produce from its wells and to limit the number of wells or the locations at which Lucas Energy can drill.
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In the United States, legislation affecting the oil and natural gas industry has been pervasive and is under constant review for
amendment or expansion. Pursuant to such legislation, numerous federal, state and local departments and agencies issue recommended new and
extensive rules and regulations binding on the oil and natural gas industry and its individual members, some of which carry substantial penalties
for failure to comply. These laws and regulations have a significant impact on oil and natural gas drilling, natural gas processing plants and
production activities, increasing the cost of doing business and, consequently, affect profitability. Insomuch as new legislation affecting the oil
and natural gas industry is common-place and existing laws and regulations are frequently amended or reinterpreted, Lucas Energy may be
unable to predict the future cost or impact of complying with these laws and regulations. The Company considers the cost of environmental
protection a necessary and manageable part of its business. It has been able to plan for and comply with new environmental initiatives without
materially altering its operating strategies.
Insurance Matters
We maintain insurance coverage which we believe is reasonable per the standards of the oil and natural gas industry. It is common for
companies in this industry to not insure fully against all risks associated with their operations either because such insurance is unavailable or
because premium costs are considered prohibitive. A material loss not fully covered by insurance could have an adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. We maintain insurance at industry customary levels to limit our financial exposure in the event of a
substantial environmental claim resulting from sudden, unanticipated and accidental discharges of certain prohibited substances into the
environment. Such insurance might not cover the complete amount of such a claim and would not cover fines or penalties for a violation of an
environmental law.
Other Matters
Environmental. Our exploration, development, and production of oil and natural gas, including our operation of saltwater injection
and disposal wells, are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. Such laws and regulations can increase the
costs of planning, designing, installing and operating oil, natural gas, and disposal wells. Our domestic activities are subject to a variety of
environmental laws and regulations, including but not limited to, the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (OPA), the Clean Water Act (CWA), the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA),
the Clean Air Act (CAA), and the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA), as well as state regulations promulgated under comparable state statutes.
We are also subject to regulations governing the handling, transportation, storage, and disposal of naturally occurring radioactive materials that
are found in our oil and gas operations. Civil and criminal fines and penalties may be imposed for non-compliance with these environmental
laws and regulations. Additionally, these laws and regulations require the acquisition of permits or other governmental authorizations before
undertaking certain activities, limit or prohibit other activities because of protected areas or species, and impose substantial liabilities for cleanup
of pollution.
Under the OPA, a release of oil into water or other areas designated by the statute could result in the Company being held responsible
for the costs of remediating such a release, certain OPA specified damages, and natural resource damages. The extent of that liability could be
extensive, as set forth in the statute, depending on the nature of the release. A release of oil in harmful quantities or other materials into water or
other specified areas could also result in the company being held responsible under the CWA for the costs of remediation, and civil and criminal
fines and penalties.
CERCLA and comparable state statutes, also known as "Superfund" laws, can impose joint and several and retroactive liability,
without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons for the release of a "hazardous substance" into the
environment. In practice, cleanup costs are usually allocated among various responsible parties. Potentially liable parties include site owners or
operators, past owners or operators under certain conditions, and entities that arrange for the disposal or treatment of, or transport hazardous
substances found at the site. Although CERCLA, as amended, currently exempts petroleum, including but not limited to, crude oil, natural gas
and natural gas liquids, from the definition of hazardous substance, our operations may involve the use or handling of other materials that may
be classified as hazardous substances under CERCLA. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the exemption will be preserved in future
amendments of the act, if any.
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RCRA and comparable state and local requirements impose standards for the management, including treatment, storage, and disposal,
of both hazardous and non-hazardous solid wastes. We generate hazardous and non-hazardous solid waste in connection with our routine
operations. From time to time, proposals have been made that would reclassify certain oil and natural gas wastes, including wastes generated
during drilling, production and pipeline operations, as "hazardous wastes" under RCRA, which would make such solid wastes subject to much
more stringent handling, transportation, storage, disposal, and clean-up requirements. This development could have a significant impact on our
operating costs. While state laws vary on this issue, state initiatives to further regulate oil and natural gas wastes could have a similar impact.
Because oil and natural gas exploration and production, and possibly other activities, have been conducted at some of our properties by previous
owners and operators, materials from these operations remain on some of the properties and in some instances, require remediation. In addition,
in certain instances, we have agreed to indemnify sellers of producing properties from which we have acquired reserves against certain liabilities
for environmental claims associated with such properties. While we do not believe that costs to be incurred by us for compliance and
remediating previously or currently owned or operated properties will be material, there can be no guarantee that such costs will not result in
material expenditures.
Additionally, in the course of our routine oil and natural gas operations, surface spills and leaks, including casing leaks, of oil or other
materials occur, and we incur costs for waste handling and environmental compliance. Moreover, we are able to control directly the operations
of only those wells for which we act as the operator. Management believes that the Company is in substantial compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations.
In response to liabilities associated with these activities, accruals are established when reasonable estimates are possible. Such accruals
would primarily include estimated costs associated with remediation. Lucas Energy has used discounting to present value in determining its
accrued liabilities for environmental remediation or well closure, but no material claims for possible recovery from third party insurers or other
parties related to environmental costs have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements. We adjust the accruals when new
remediation responsibilities are discovered and probable costs become estimable, or when current remediation estimates must be adjusted to
reflect new information.
We do not anticipate being required in the near future to expend amounts that are material in relation to our total capital expenditures
program by reason of environmental laws and regulations, but inasmuch as such laws and regulations are frequently changed, we are unable to
predict the ultimate cost of compliance. There can be no assurance that more stringent laws and regulations protecting the environment will not
be adopted or that we will not otherwise incur material expenses in connection with environmental laws and regulations in the future.
Occupational Health and Safety. Lucas Energy is also subject to laws and regulations concerning occupational safety and health. Due
to the continued changes in these laws and regulations, and the judicial construction of many of them, The Company is unable to predict with
any reasonable degree of certainty its future costs of complying with these laws and regulations. Lucas Energy considers the cost of safety and
health compliance a necessary and manageable part of its business. Lucas Energy has been able to plan for and comply with new initiatives
without materially altering its operating strategies.
Taxation. The operations of the Company, as is the case in the petroleum industry generally, are significantly affected by federal tax
laws. Federal, as well as state, tax laws have many provisions applicable to corporations which could affect the future tax liabilities of the
Company.
Commitments and Contingencies. Lucas Energy is liable for future restoration and abandonment costs associated with its oil and gas
properties. These costs include future site restoration, post closure and other environmental exit costs. The costs of future restoration and well
abandonment have not been determined in detail. State regulations require operators to post bonds that assure that well sites will be properly
plugged and abandoned. Lucas Energy operates only in Texas which requires a security bond based on the number of wells it operates.
Management views this as a necessary requirement for operations and does not believe that these costs will have a material adverse effect on its
financial position as a result of this requirement.
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Available Information
Our website address is http://www.lucasenergy.com. The information on, or that may be accessed through, our website is not
incorporated by reference into this report and should not be considered a part of this report. You can access our filings of Annual Reports on
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports have been filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In addition, you can access
our proxy statements, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter, Audit Committee
Charter, and Compensation Committee Charter.
Our fiscal year ends on the last day of March of each year. We refer to the twelve-month periods ended March 31, 2013 and March
31, 2012 as our 2013 fiscal year and 2012 fiscal year, respectively.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
Our business and operations are subject to many risks. The risks described below may not be the only risks we face, as our business
and operations may also be subject to risks that we do not yet know of, or that we currently believe are immaterial. If any of the events or
circumstances described below actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow could be materially and
adversely affected and the trading price of our common stock could decline. The following risk factors should be read in conjunction with the
other information contained herein, including the consolidated financial statements and the related notes. Unless the context requires
otherwise, "we," "us" and "our" refer to Lucas Energy, Inc. and its subsidiary. In addition, please read “Cautionary Note Regarding ForwardLooking Statements” in this filing, where we describe additional uncertainties associated with our business and the forward-looking statements
included or incorporated by reference in this filing.
Our securities should only be purchased by persons who can afford to lose their entire investment in us. You should carefully
consider the following risk factors and other information in this filing before deciding to become a holder of our securities. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business and financial results could be negatively affected to a significant extent.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Crude oil and natural gas prices are highly volatile in general and low prices will negatively affect our financial results.
Our revenues, operating results, profitability, cash flow, future rate of growth and ability to borrow funds or obtain additional capital,
as well as the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties, are substantially dependent upon prevailing prices of crude oil and natural
gas. Lower crude oil and natural gas prices also may reduce the amount of crude oil and natural gas that we can produce economically.
Historically, the markets for crude oil and natural gas have been very volatile, and such markets are likely to continue to be volatile in the
future. Prices for oil and natural gas fluctuate widely in response to a variety of factors beyond our control, such as:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

overall U.S. and global economic conditions;
weather conditions and natural disasters;
seasonal variations in oil and natural gas prices;
price and availability of alternative fuels;
technological advances affecting oil and natural gas production and consumption;
consumer demand;
domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas;
variations in levels of production;
regional price differentials and quality differentials of oil and natural gas; price and quantity of foreign imports of oil, NGLs and natural
gas;
the completion of large domestic or international exploration and production projects.
restrictions on exportation of our oil and natural gas;
the availability of refining capacity;
the impact of energy conservation efforts;
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·
·

political conditions in or affecting other oil producing and natural gas producing countries, including the current conflicts in the Middle
East and conditions in South America and Russia; and
domestic and foreign governmental regulations, actions and taxes.

Further, oil and natural gas prices do not necessarily fluctuate in direct relation to each other. Our revenue, profitability, and cash flow
depend upon the prices of supply and demand for oil and natural gas, and a drop in prices can significantly affect our financial results and
impede our growth. In particular, declines in commodity prices may:
·
·
·

negatively impact the value of our reserves, because declines in oil and natural gas prices would reduce the value and amount of oil and
natural gas that we can produce economically;
reduce the amount of cash flow available for capital expenditures, repayment of indebtedness, and other corporate purposes; and
limit our ability to borrow money or raise additional capital.

We require financing to execute our business plan and fund capital program requirements.
We believe that our anticipated cash flow from operations, possible proceeds from sales of properties and funding provided by
leveraging our capital structure, will be sufficient to meet our working capital and operating needs for approximately the next twelve months.
However, to continue growth and to fund our business and expansion plans, we will require additional financing. The amount of capital
available to us is limited, and may not be sufficient to enable us to fully execute our growth plans without additional fund raising. Additional
financing may be required to meet our desired growth and strategic objectives and to provide more working capital for expanding our
development and marketing capabilities and to achieve our ultimate plan of expansion and a larger scale of operations. Moving forward, we
hope to pursue third party capital in form of debt, equity or some combination of the two for certain funding requirements. There can be no
assurance that we will be successful in obtaining additional financing on attractive terms, if at all.
On May 16, 2013 we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-188663), which allows us the ability to sell up to $10
million in securities from time to time in the future, including common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and/or units consisting of
any of the above. On May 24, 2013, the Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC; provided that as of the date of the filing of
this report, no securities have been sold under the Registration Statement and we do not have any immediate plans to sell any securities under
the Registration Statement.
We currently have no committed source of additional cash funding as of the date of this report.
We do not intend to pay cash dividends to our shareholders.
We do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends at any time
in the foreseeable future. At present, we will follow a policy of retaining all of our earnings, if any, to finance development and expansion of
our business.
We face intense competition.
We are in direct competition for properties with numerous oil and natural gas companies, drilling and income programs and
partnerships exploring various areas of Texas. Many competitors are large, well-known energy companies, although no single entity
dominates the industry. Many of our competitors possess greater financial and personnel resources enabling them to identify and acquire
more economically desirable energy producing properties and drilling prospects than us. Additionally, there is competition from other fuel
choices to supply the energy needs of consumers and industry. Management believes that a viable marketplace exists for smaller producers of
natural gas and crude oil.
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We currently owe funds under outstanding promissory notes.
On April 4, 2013 and May 31, 2013, the Company entered into loan transactions (see “Item 8 – Note 12. Subsequent Events” of the financial
statements attached hereto and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results Of Operations” with
various lenders, including certain related parties (as described below under “Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and
Director Independence”) pursuant to loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”) to which the lenders loaned the Company an aggregate of
$3,250,000, with a loan of $2,750,000 being made on April 4, 2013 (“Tranche A”) and the second loan for $500,000 being made on May 31,
2013 (“Tranche B”). The proceeds of the loans were used for general working capital and to pay amounts owed to Nordic. The Tranche A and
Tranche B lenders included entities beneficially owned by our directors, Ken Daraie (which entity loaned us $2,000,000) and W. Andrew
Krusen, Jr. (which entity loaned us $250,000), as well as unrelated third parties which loaned the Company $1,000,000.
The Tranche A and Tranche B loans bear interest of 14% per annum. The maturity for Tranche A is due and payable on or before
October 4, 2013 and Tranche B is due and payable on or before April 4, 2014. The Company agreed to comply with certain standard covenants
in connection with the Loan Agreement, including the requirement to continue to have its common stock listed on the NYSE MKT (or any
equivalent replacement exchange), and the requirement to continue to comply with the filing requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Additionally, pursuant to the Loan Agreement, any proceeds received by the Company through any future funding activities
or through the sale of oil and gas properties or interests is required to first be applied to the repayment of the notes issued in connection with the
Loan Agreements. The repayment of the notes is secured by a first priority security interest in one hundred (100) barrels of oil per day of net
production from the Company’s owned and operated oil and gas properties, and all payments and proceeds associated therewith. Additionally,
the lenders were granted an aggregate of 325,000 warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per
share in connection with the loans.
As of the date of this report, the Tranche A and Tranche B loans are still outstanding and there is no assurance we would have the cash
to repay either loan. In such case, the lenders may seek to secure their interest pursuant to the aforementioned rights. Consequently, the value
of our securities may decline in value.
If we acquire crude oil and natural gas properties in the future, our failure to fully identify existing and potential problems, to accurately
estimate reserves, production rates or costs, or to effectively integrate the acquired properties into our operations could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
From time to time, we seek to acquire crude oil and natural gas properties. Although we perform reviews of properties to be acquired
in a manner that we believe is duly diligent and consistent with industry practices, reviews of records and properties may not necessarily reveal
existing or potential problems, and may not permit us to become sufficiently familiar with the properties in order to fully assess their
deficiencies and potential. Even when problems with a property are identified, we may assume environmental and other risks and liabilities in
connection with acquired properties pursuant to the acquisition agreements. Moreover, there are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating
quantities of crude oil and natural gas reserves (as discussed further below), actual future production rates and associated costs with respect to
acquired properties. Actual reserves, production rates and costs may vary substantially from those assumed in our estimates. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to locate or make suitable acquisitions on acceptable terms or that future acquisitions will be effectively and
profitably integrated into the Company. Acquisitions involve risks that could divert management resources and/or result in the possible loss of
key employees and customers of the acquired operations. For the reasons above, among others, an acquisition may have a material and adverse
effect on our business and results of operations, particularly during the periods in which the operations of the acquired properties are being
integrated into our ongoing operations or if we are unable to effectively integrate the acquired properties into our ongoing operations.
We depend significantly upon the continued involvement of our present management.
Our success depends to a significant degree upon the involvement of our management, who are in charge of our strategic planning
and operations. We may need to attract and retain additional talented individuals in order to carry out our business objectives. The competition
for such persons could be intense and there are no assurances that these individuals will be available to us.
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Our business is subject to extensive regulation.
As many of our activities are subject to federal, state and local regulation, and as these rules are subject to constant change or
amendment, there can be no assurance that our operations will not be adversely affected by new or different government regulations, laws or
court decisions applicable to our operations.
Government regulation and liability for environmental matters may adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Crude oil and natural gas operations are subject to extensive federal, state and local government regulations, which may be changed from time
to time. Matters subject to regulation include discharge permits for drilling operations, drilling bonds, reports concerning operations, the
spacing of wells, unitization and pooling of properties and taxation. From time to time, regulatory agencies have imposed price controls and
limitations on production by restricting the rate of flow of crude oil and natural gas wells below actual production capacity in order to conserve
supplies of crude oil and natural gas. There are federal, state and local laws and regulations primarily relating to protection of human health and
the environment applicable to the development, production, handling, storage, transportation and disposal of crude oil and natural gas,
byproducts thereof and other substances and materials produced or used in connection with crude oil and natural gas operations. In addition,
we may inherit liability for environmental damages caused by previous owners of property we purchase or lease. As a result, we may incur
substantial liabilities to third parties or governmental entities. The implementation of new, or the modification of existing, laws or regulations
could have a material adverse effect on us.
Future increases in our tax obligations; either due to increases in taxes on energy products, energy service companies and exploration
activities or reductions in currently available federal income tax deductions with respect to oil and natural gas exploration and
development, may adversely affect our results of operations and increase our operating expenses.
Federal, state and local governments have jurisdiction in areas where we operate and impose taxes on the oil and natural gas products
we sell. There are constant discussions by federal, state and local officials concerning a variety of energy tax proposals, some of which, if
passed, would add or increase taxes on energy products, service companies and exploration activities. Additionally, the current administration
has proposed legislation that would, if enacted into law, make significant changes to federal tax laws, including the elimination of certain key
United States federal income tax incentives currently available to oil and natural gas exploration and production companies. These proposed
changes include, but are not limited to: (1) the repeal of the percentage depletion allowance for oil and natural gas properties, (2) the
elimination of current deductions for intangible drilling and development costs, (3) the elimination of the deduction for certain domestic
production activities, and (4) an extension of the amortization period for certain geological and geophysical expenditures. It is unclear whether
any such changes will be enacted into law or how soon any such changes could become effective in the event they were enacted into law. The
passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any other changes in U.S. federal income tax laws could eliminate or increase the
taxes that we are required to pay and consequently adversely affect our results of operations and/or increase our operating expenses.
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The crude oil and natural gas reserves we report in our SEC filings are estimates and may prove to be inaccurate.
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating crude oil and natural gas reserves and their estimated values. The reserves we
report in our filings with the SEC now and in the future will only be estimates and such estimates may prove to be inaccurate because of these
uncertainties. Reservoir engineering is a subjective and inexact process of estimating underground accumulations of crude oil and natural gas
that cannot be measured in an exact manner. Estimates of economically recoverable crude oil and natural gas reserves depend upon a number
of variable factors, such as historical production from the area compared with production from other producing areas and assumptions
concerning effects of regulations by governmental agencies, future crude oil and natural gas prices, future operating costs, severance and
excise taxes, development costs and work-over and remedial costs. Some or all of these assumptions may in fact vary considerably from actual
results. For these reasons, estimates of the economically recoverable quantities of crude oil and natural gas attributable to any particular group
of properties, classifications of such reserves based on risk of recovery, and estimates of the future net cash flows expected therefrom
prepared by different engineers or by the same engineers but at different times may vary substantially. Accordingly, reserve estimates may be
subject to downward or upward adjustment. Actual production, revenue and expenditures with respect to our reserves will likely vary from
estimates, and such variances may be material.
Additionally, “probable” and “possible reserve estimates” (which the SEC began allowing effective January 1, 2010), which
estimates are considered unproved reserves and as such, the SEC views such estimates to be inherently unreliable, may be misunderstood or
seen as misleading to investors that are not “experts” in the oil or natural gas industry. Unless the shareholder has such expertise, the
shareholder should not place undue reliance on these estimates. Except as required by applicable law, we undertake no duty to update this
information and do not intend to update this information.
Crude oil and natural gas development, re-completion of wells from one reservoir to another reservoir, restoring wells to production and
exploration, drilling and completing new wells are speculative activities and involve numerous risks and substantial and uncertain costs.
Our growth will be materially dependent upon the success of our future development program. Even considering our business
philosophy to avoid wildcat wells, drilling for crude oil and natural gas and reworking existing wells involves numerous risks, including the
risk that no commercially productive crude oil or natural gas reservoirs will be encountered. The cost of exploration, drilling, completing and
operating wells is substantial and uncertain, and drilling operations may be curtailed, delayed or cancelled as a result of a variety of factors
beyond our control, including: unexpected drilling conditions; pressure or irregularities in formations; equipment failures or accidents; inability
to obtain leases on economic terms, where applicable; adverse weather conditions and natural disasters; compliance with governmental
requirements; and shortages or delays in the availability of drilling rigs or crews and the delivery of equipment. Furthermore, we cannot
provide investors with any assurance that we will be able to obtain rights to additional producing properties in the future and/or that any
properties we obtain rights to will contain commercially exploitable quantities of oil and/or gas.
Drilling or reworking is a highly speculative activity. Even when fully and correctly utilized, modern well completion techniques such
as hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling do not guarantee that we will find crude oil and/or natural gas in our wells. Hydraulic fracturing
involves pumping a fluid with or without particulates into a formation at high pressure, thereby creating fractures in the rock and leaving the
particulates in the fractures to ensure that the fractures remain open, thereby potentially increasing the ability of the reservoir to produce oil or
natural gas. Horizontal drilling involves drilling horizontally out from an existing vertical well bore, thereby potentially increasing the area and
reach of the well bore that is in contact with the reservoir. Our future drilling activities may not be successful and, if unsuccessful, such failure
would have an adverse effect on our future results of operations and financial condition. We cannot assure our shareholders that our overall
drilling success rate or our drilling success rate for activities within a particular geographic area will not decline. We may identify and develop
prospects through a number of methods, some of which do not include lateral drilling or hydraulic fracturing, and some of which may be
unproven. The drilling and results for these prospects may be particularly uncertain. Our drilling schedule may vary from our capital budget.
The final determination with respect to the drilling of any scheduled or budgeted prospects will be dependent on a number of factors,
including, but not limited to: the results of previous development efforts and the acquisition, review and analysis of data; the availability of
sufficient capital resources to us and the other participants, if any, for the drilling of the prospects; the approval of the prospects by other
participants, if any, after additional data has been compiled; economic and industry conditions at the time of drilling, including prevailing and
anticipated prices for crude oil and natural gas and the availability of drilling rigs and crews; our financial resources and results; the availability
of leases and permits on reasonable terms for the prospects; and the success of our drilling technology.
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We cannot assure our shareholders that these projects can be successfully developed or that the wells discussed will, if drilled,
encounter reservoirs of commercially productive crude oil or natural gas. There are numerous uncertainties in estimating quantities of proved
reserves, including many factors beyond our control. If we are unable to find commercially exploitable quantities of oil and natural gas in any
properties we may acquire in the future, and/or we are unable to commercially extract such quantities we may find in any properties we may
acquire in the future, the value of our securities may decline in value.
Because of the inherent dangers involved in oil and gas exploration, there is a risk that we may incur liability or damages as we conduct
our business operations, which could force us to expend a substantial amount of money in connection with litigation and/or a settlement.
The oil and natural gas business involves a variety of operating hazards and risks such as well blowouts, pipe failures, casing collapse,
explosions, uncontrollable flows of oil, natural gas or well fluids, fires, spills, pollution, releases of toxic gas and other environmental hazards
and risks. These hazards and risks could result in substantial losses to us from, among other things, injury or loss of life, severe damage to or
destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution or other environmental damage, cleanup responsibilities, regulatory
investigation and penalties and suspension of operations. In addition, we may be liable for environmental damages caused by previous owners
of property purchased and leased by us in the future. As a result, substantial liabilities to third parties or governmental entities may be incurred,
the payment of which could reduce or eliminate the funds available for the purchase of properties and/or property interests, exploration,
development or acquisitions or result in the loss of our properties and/or force us to expend substantial monies in connection with litigation or
settlements. As such, there can be no assurance that any insurance we currently maintain or that we obtain in the future will be adequate to
cover any losses or liabilities. We cannot predict the availability of insurance or the availability of insurance at premium levels that justify our
purchase. The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured or indemnified against could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and operations. We may elect to self-insure if management believes that the cost of insurance, although available, is excessive
relative to the risks presented. In addition, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. The occurrence of an event not
fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations, which could lead to any
investment in us declining in value or becoming worthless.
We incur certain costs to comply with government regulations, particularly regulations relating to environmental protection and safety,
and could incur even greater costs in the future.
Our exploration, production and marketing operations are regulated extensively at the federal, state and local levels and are subject to
interruption or termination by governmental and regulatory authorities based on environmental or other considerations. Moreover, we have
incurred and will continue to incur costs in our efforts to comply with the requirements of environmental, safety and other
regulations. Further, the regulatory environment in the oil and natural gas industry could change in ways that we cannot predict and that might
substantially increase our costs of compliance and, in turn, materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Specifically, as an owner or lessee and operator of crude oil and natural gas properties, we are subject to various federal, state, local
and foreign regulations relating to the discharge of materials into, and the protection of, the environment. These regulations may, among other
things, impose liability on us for the cost of pollution cleanup resulting from operations, subject us to liability for pollution damages and
require suspension or cessation of operations in affected areas. Moreover, we are subject to the United States (U.S.) Environmental Protection
Agency's (U.S. EPA) rule requiring annual reporting of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Changes in, or additions to, these regulations
could lead to increased operating and compliance costs and, in turn, materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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We are aware of the increasing focus of local, state, national and international regulatory bodies on GHG emissions and climate
change issues. In addition to the U.S. EPA's rule requiring annual reporting of GHG emissions, we are also aware of legislation proposed by
U.S. lawmakers to reduce GHG emissions.
Additionally, there have been various proposals to regulate hydraulic fracturing at the federal level. Currently, the regulation of
hydraulic fracturing is primarily conducted at the state level through permitting and other compliance requirements. Any new federal
regulations that may be imposed on hydraulic fracturing could result in additional permitting and disclosure requirements (such as the
reporting and public disclosure of the chemical additives used in the fracturing process) and in additional operating restrictions. In addition to
the possible federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing, some states and local governments have considered imposing various conditions and
restrictions on drilling and completion operations, including requirements regarding casing and cementing of wells, testing of nearby water
wells, restrictions on the access to and usage of water and restrictions on the type of chemical additives that may be used in hydraulic
fracturing operations. Such federal and state permitting and disclosure requirements and operating restrictions and conditions could lead to
operational delays and increased operating and compliance costs and, moreover, could delay or effectively prevent the development of crude
oil and natural gas from formations which would not be economically viable without the use of hydraulic fracturing.
We will continue to monitor and assess any new policies, legislation, regulations and treaties in the areas where we operate to
determine the impact on our operations and take appropriate actions, where necessary. We are unable to predict the timing, scope and effect of
any currently proposed or future laws, regulations or treaties, but the direct and indirect costs of such laws, regulations and treaties (if enacted)
could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our officers and directors have limited liability, and we are required in certain instances to indemnify our officers and directors for
breaches of their fiduciary duties.
We have adopted provisions in our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws which limit the liability of our officers and directors and
provide for indemnification by us of our officers and directors to the full extent permitted by Nevada corporate law. Our articles generally
provide that our officers and directors shall have no personal liability to us or our shareholders for monetary damages for breaches of their
fiduciary duties as directors, except for breaches of their duties of loyalty, acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or knowing violation of law, acts involving unlawful payment of dividends or unlawful stock purchases or redemptions, or any
transaction from which a director derives an improper personal benefit. Such provisions substantially limit our shareholders' ability to hold
officers and directors liable for breaches of fiduciary duty, and may require us to indemnify our officers and directors.
Risks Relating to Our Outstanding Securities
If the holders of our outstanding convertible securities and warrants sell a large number of shares all at once or in blocks after
converting such convertible securities and exercising such warrants, or the holders of our registered shares sell a large number of
shares, the trading value of our shares could decline in value.
We currently have Series B Warrants outstanding to purchase an aggregate of 2,510,506 shares of common stock which have an
exercise price of $2.86 per share; outstanding warrants to purchase 150,630 shares of common stock held by our placement agent in our
December 2010 unit offering, which have an exercise price of $2.98 per share; outstanding warrants to purchase 1,032,500 shares of common
stock sold in April 2012, which have an exercise price of $2.30 per share; outstanding warrants to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock
sold in September 2012, which have an exercise price of $1.65 per share; and outstanding warrants to purchase 325,000 shares of our
common stock at an exercise price of $1.50 per share, which were issued in connection with our April and May 2013 loan agreements. The
trading price of our common stock has fluctuated between $2.50 and $1.10 per share during the last 52 weeks.
We currently have 2,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (herein the “Preferred Stock Shares”), which convert on a
1,000-for-one basis into shares of our common stock at the option of the holders thereof. Additionally, although the Preferred Stock Shares
may not be converted if such conversion would cause the holder thereof to own more than 4.99% of our outstanding common stock, this
restriction does not prevent the holder from converting some of the Preferred Stock Shares, selling those shares and then converting the rest of
its holdings, while still staying below the 4.99% limit. In this way, the holder could sell more than this limit while never actually holding more
shares than this limit allows. As of the date of this report, if the 2,000 outstanding Preferred Stock Shares were converted into common stock
and sold (subject to the ownership limitations set forth above) an additional 2,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company or
approximately 7% of the Company’s currently outstanding shares, would be issued and outstanding.
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We have 26,734,232 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of the date of this report. As a result, the exercise of
outstanding warrants (including, but not limited to warrants which have an exercise price substantially below the current trading price of our
common stock) or conversion of shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in the future and the subsequent resale of such shares of
common stock (which shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Series B Warrants, the placement agent warrants and the
warrants sold in our April and September 2012 offerings, will be eligible for immediate resale, and which shares of common stock issuable
upon conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock and exercise of the warrants issued in April and May 2013, will be eligible for immediate
resale subject to the terms and conditions of Rule 144) may cause dilution to existing shareholders and cause the market price of our securities
to decline in value. Additionally, the common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants or conversion of the Preferred Stock Shares may
represent overhang that may also adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Overhang occurs when there is a greater supply of a
company's stock in the market than there is demand for that stock. When this happens the price of the company's stock will decrease, and any
additional shares which shareholders attempt to sell in the market will only further decrease the share price. Finally, the offer or sale of large
numbers of shares of common stock in the future, including those shares previously registered in our registration statements and prospectus
supplements, and/or in connection with future registration statements or prospectus supplements may cause the market price of our securities
to decline in value.
Nevada law and our Articles of Incorporation authorize us to issue shares of stock which shares may cause substantial dilution to our
existing shareholders.
We have authorized capital stock consisting of 100,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share and 10,000,000
shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. As of June 17, 2013, we have 26,734,232 shares of common stock outstanding and
2,000 Preferred Stock Shares issued and outstanding, each convertible into 1,000 shares of our common stock. As a result, our Board of
Directors has the ability to issue a large number of additional shares of common stock without shareholder approval, subject to the
requirements of the NYSE MKT Equities Exchange (which generally require shareholder approval for any transactions which would result in
the issuance of more than 20% of our then outstanding shares of common stock or voting rights representing over 20% of our then
outstanding shares of stock), which if issued could cause substantial dilution to our then shareholders. Shares of additional preferred stock
may also be issued by our Board of Directors without shareholder approval, with voting powers and such preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights and powers as determined by our Board of Directors, which may be greater than the shares of
common stock currently outstanding. As a result, shares of preferred stock may be issued by our Board of Directors which cause the holders
to have majority voting power over our shares, provide the holders of the preferred stock the right to convert the shares of preferred stock they
hold into shares of our common stock, which may cause substantial dilution to our then common stock shareholders and/or have other rights
and preferences greater than those of our common stock shareholders. Investors should keep in mind that the Board of Directors has the
authority to issue additional shares of common stock and preferred stock, which could cause substantial dilution to our existing
shareholders. Additionally, the dilutive effect of any preferred stock which we may issue may be exacerbated given the fact that such
preferred stock may have super voting rights and/or other rights or preferences which could provide the preferred shareholders with
substantial voting control over us subsequent to the date of this report and/or give those holders the power to prevent or cause a change in
control. As a result, the issuance of shares of common stock and/or Preferred Stock may cause the value of our securities to decrease and/or
become worthless.
Shareholders may be diluted significantly through our efforts to obtain financing and/or satisfy obligations through the issuance of
additional shares of our common stock.
On May 16, 2013 we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-188663), which allows us the ability to sell up to
$10 million in securities from time to time in the future, including common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and/or units
consisting of any of the above. On May 24, 2013, the Registration Statement was declared effective by the SEC; provided that as of the date
of the filing of this report, no securities have been sold under the Registration Statement and we do not have any immediate plans to sell any
securities under the Registration Statement.
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We currently have no committed source of financing. Wherever possible, our Board of Directors will attempt to use non-cash
consideration to satisfy obligations. In many instances, we believe that the non-cash consideration will consist of restricted shares of our
common stock. Our Board of Directors has authority, without action or vote of the shareholders, to issue all or part of the authorized but
unissued shares of common stock (subject to NYSE MKT Equities Exchange rules which limit among other things, the number of shares we
can issue without shareholder approval to no more than 20% of our outstanding shares of common stock). These actions will result in dilution
of the ownership interests of existing shareholders, and that dilution may be material.
If persons engage in short sales of our common stock, including sales of shares to be issued upon exercise of our outstanding warrants,
the price of our common stock may decline.
Selling short is a technique used by a stockholder to take advantage of an anticipated decline in the price of a security. In addition,
holders of options and warrants will sometimes sell short knowing they can, in effect, cover through the exercise of an option or warrant, thus
locking in a profit. A significant number of short sales or a large volume of other sales within a relatively short period of time can create
downward pressure on the market price of a security. Further sales of common stock issued upon exercise of our outstanding warrants could
cause even greater declines in the price of our common stock due to the number of additional shares available in the market upon such
exercise, which could encourage short sales that could further undermine the value of our common stock. Shareholders could, therefore,
experience a decline in the values of their investment as a result of short sales of our common stock.
The market price for our common stock may be volatile, and our shareholders may not be able to sell our stock at a favorable price or at
all.
Many factors could cause the market price of our common stock to rise and fall, including: actual or anticipated variations in our
quarterly results of operations; changes in market valuations of companies in our industry; changes in expectations of future financial
performance; fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes; issuances of dilutive common stock or other securities in the future; the addition
or departure of key personnel; announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, investments or strategic alliances; and the increase or
decline in the price of oil and natural gas.
It is possible that the proceeds from sales of our common stock may not equal or exceed the prices our shareholders paid for it plus
the costs and fees of making the sales.
We face potential liability in the event we do not satisfy the current public information requirements of Rule 144(c) of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, prior to the date the Series B Warrants and shares of common stock issuable upon exercise thereof have been sold
by the holders thereof or have expired.
Pursuant to an Amendment Agreement entered into with the Series B Warrant holders, we agreed that if at any time prior to the date
that all of the Series B Warrants and any shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants are sold by the holders thereof, we
fail to satisfy the current public information requirement of Rule 144(c) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (a “Public Information
Failure”), as partial relief for the damages to any holder of warrants, we would pay the holders, based on their pro rata ownership of nonexercised and non-expired warrants on the first day of a Public Information Failure, an aggregate of $80,000 for the first thirty calendar days
that there is a Public Information Failure (pro-rated for a period of less than thirty days) and an amount in cash equal to one and one-half
percent (1.5%) of the aggregate Black Scholes Value (as defined in the warrants) of such holder’s non-exercised and non-expired warrants on
the sixty-first (61st) calendar day after the Public Information Failure (covering the 31st to 60th calendar days) and on every thirtieth day (prorated for periods totaling less than thirty days) thereafter until the earlier of (i) the date such Public Information Failure is cured; (ii) such time
that such public information is no longer required pursuant to Rule 144; and (iii) the expiration date of the warrants. Additionally, upon the
occurrence of any Public Information Failure during the 12 months prior to the expiration of any warrant, the expiration date of such warrant
will be automatically extended for one day for each day that a Public Information Failure occurs and is continuing. As such, in the event of the
occurrence of a Public Information Failure, we will face liability and penalties.
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We incur significant costs as a result of operating as a fully reporting publicly traded company and our management is required to
devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.
We incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses in connection with our status as a fully reporting public company.
Specifically, we are required to prepare and file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the
SEC. Additionally, our officers, directors and significant shareholders are required to file Form 3, 4 and 5’s and Schedule 13D/G’s with the
SEC disclosing their ownership of the Company and changes in such ownership. Furthermore, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the
“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and rules subsequently implemented by the SEC have imposed various new requirements on public companies,
including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we
maintain effective internal controls for financial reporting and disclosure of controls and procedures. The costs and expenses of compliance
with SEC rules and our filing obligations with the SEC, or our identification of deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting
that are deemed to be material weaknesses, could materially adversely affect our results of operations or cause the market price of our stock to
decline in value.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES.

Areas of Activities
Lucas Energy, Inc. has oil and natural gas interests, and operates oil and natural gas properties only in the onshore Texas area. All of
the Company’s operations and leasehold interests are in known prolific oil prone trends which extend from South Texas along the border with
Mexico to the Northeast area towards the Louisiana-Texas state line north of Beaumont, Texas. The oil and natural gas properties owned by the
Company are in five major reservoir areas of interest: the Eagle Ford shale, Austin Chalk, Eaglebine, Buda and Glen Rose zones.
Eagle Ford & Austin Chalk Area
The core properties of Lucas Energy are in an area of the Austin Chalk and Eagle Ford trends south, and southeast of San Antonio,
Texas. Lucas has approximately 14,518 gross acres with approximately 4,510 net acres of Eagle Ford in this core area. Current production
from approximately 55 wells operated by the Company is from the Austin Chalk, Buda, and Edwards formations. Non-operated production
from the Eagle Ford formation includes two (2) wells operated by an affiliate of Marathon Oil Company. These Eagle Ford properties are
located within Atascosa, Gonzales, Karnes, Frio, and Wilson counties, Texas. This core area accounts for almost all of the production and most
of the workover operations during fiscal year 2013.
Eaglebine Area
During the third quarter of fiscal year 2012, the Company acquired oil and natural gas leasehold interests in the Eaglebine portion of
the Eagle Ford trend. Lucas acquired working interests in approximately 3,700 net acres in Leon and Madison counties in Texas in the buyout
of an affiliate of Hall Financial Group of Dallas, Texas. The Company operated one well in that area which was completed in the Dexter
formation. Although there are multiple formations of interest in this area north of Houston, Texas, the Eaglebine has become an area of
interest. The Eaglebine is a series of formations that include the Eagle Ford on top of the Woodbine. Other common named intervals in this
series are the Dexter and the Subclarksville.
Buda & Glen Rose Area
The Buda and Glen Rose areas have become another key formation of interest in Madison County. Recent activity has focused on vertical
integration in these zones and has provided additional opportunities to exploit based on recent technological advancement and techniques. The
Company’s leases are contiguous to other successful operators and we expect to expand our presence in this area. Porous interval thickness of
the Glen Rose ranges from 125 to 300 feet in our leasehold area. We currently do not have producing Glen Rose in our properties. We have
approximately 3,400 net acres in Madison and Leon counties.
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A recap of the acreage held by Lucas is shown below as of March 31, 2013:
Acres
State of Texas
Gross Acreage - Surface Area

21,462

Net Acreage by Formation Below Surface
Austin Chalk
Below Austin Chalk

15,490
7,951

Production of Crude Oil and Natural Gas
The Company produced oil and natural gas from 55 wells in seven Texas counties, as of the year ended March 31, 2013. However,
most of the production was from 18 wells which produced over half of the production. Over 98% of our production is oil and we operate over
95% of our producing wells. As we develop our properties, we may see the opportunity to increase our natural gas and natural gas liquids
production. Below are well statistics.
At March 31,
2013
Crude oil wells, Texas:
Gross
Net
Natural gas wells, Texas:
Gross
Net

2012
55.0
37.9

56.0
37.7

-

1.0
0.9

Crude oil sales have increased over the last three years from 37,687 BBLs of oil as of the year ended March 31, 2011 to 84,227 BBLs of oil as
of the year ended March 31, 2013. The second and third quarter of 2013 accounted for the highest producing quarters of the year as it carried a
portion of the production from the Baker DeForest Unit sold in December 2012 (see “Item 8 – Note 4 Property and Equipment” for additional
information). The following summarizes our net production for the fiscal years ended 2013, 2012, and 2011:
2013
Production sales:
Crude oil (Barrels or Bbls)
Natural gas (Thousand cubic feet or Mcf)
Total (barrels oil equivalent or BOE) (1)

84,227
9,236
85,766

2012
54,466
14,560
56,892

2011
37,687
8,737
39,143

(1) Oil equivalents are determined under the relative energy content method by using a ratio of 6.0
Mmbtu to 1.0 Bbl of oil.
Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
Reserve Information. For estimates of Lucas' net proved producing reserves of crude oil and natural gas, as well as discussion of
Lucas' proved and probable undeveloped reserves, see "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
At March 31, 2013, Lucas' total estimated proved reserves were 5.6 million BOE of which 5.1 million BBLs were crude oil reserves,
and 2.6 BCF were natural gas reserves (see “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”).
Internal Controls. The preparation of our reserve estimates is in accordance with our prescribed procedures that include verification
of input data into a reserve forecasting and economic software, as well as management review. Our reserve analysis includes but is not limited
to the following:
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·

Research of operators near our lease acreage. Review operating and technological techniques, as well as reserve projections of such
wells.
The review of internal reserve estimates by well and by area by a qualified petroleum engineer. A variance by well to the previous
year-end reserve report is used as a tool in this process.
The discussion of any material reserve variances among management to ensure the best estimate of remaining reserves.

·
·

The Company retained several consultants which provided reserve estimates internally. These consultants have extensive experience in
their fields, including petroleum & reservoir engineering and geology. They provided a comprehensive analysis of the reserves in our leases
and have given management and our Third Party Engineers the necessary data to provide the support needed for our reserve estimates.
The Company retained Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc., licensed independent consulting engineers, to prepare estimates of our oil
and gas reserves. The technical person primarily responsible for audit of our reserve estimates at Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc. meets the
requirements regarding qualifications, independence, objectivity, and confidentiality set forth in the Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and
Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Engineers. Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc. does
not own an interest in our properties and is not employed on a contingent fee basis. Reserve estimates are imprecise and subjective, and may
change at any time as additional information becomes available. Furthermore, estimates of oil and gas reserves are projections based on
engineering data. There are uncertainties inherent in the interpretation of this data as well as the projection of future rates of production. The
accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time, we may become party to litigation or other legal proceedings that we consider to be a part of the ordinary course of
our business. We are not currently involved in any legal proceedings that we believe could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations, other than the below. We may become involved in material legal
proceedings in the future.
On October 5, 2012, Knight Capital Americas LLC (as successor in interest to Knight Capital America, L.P. (“Knight”)), filed suit
against the Company in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York (Index No. 157012/2012). The Company
previously engaged Knight as a broker/dealer in connection with a proposed fund raise. The suit alleges causes of actions for breach of
contract, unjust enrichment, breach of implied covenants, tortious interference and seeks declaratory relief in connection with the Company
allegedly failing to pay Knight fees in connection with its right of first refusal to provide broker/dealer services in connection with a
subsequently completed fund raise undertaken by the Company. The Company is in the process of attempting to negotiate a settlement with
Knight, provided that there can be no assurance that a settlement will be reached or if reached will be on favorable terms to the Company.
On October 13, 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Nordic Oil USA I, LLLP (“Nordic”), whereby effective
July 1, 2011, Lucas purchased all of Nordic’s right, title and interest in certain oil, gas and mineral leases located in Gonzales, Karnes and
Wilson Counties, Texas. The transaction officially closed on November 18, 2011. Lucas agreed to pay Nordic $22 million, payable in the form
of a senior secured promissory note (with recourse only to the properties acquired), which accrued interest at the rate of 6% per annum (the
“Note”), the payment of which was secured by a Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, Financing Statement and Assignment of Production on
the property acquired (the “Deed of Trust”). Lucas failed to pay the note when it was due on November 17, 2012, and the parties were unable
to come to terms on a settlement of the debt. Subsequently in December 2012, Nordic filed a lawsuit against Lucas pursuant to which Nordic
made claims for the payment of damages in connection with liens attached to the property, the proceeds from alleged wrongful assignments of
the property acquired in the transaction, pre-and-post judgment interest, a foreclosure and sale of the property, plus attorney’s fees in the amount
of 10% of the principal and interest then owing on the note (as allegedly allowed pursuant to the terms of the Note), and sought damages for
breach of contract and attorney’s fees. On March 29, 2013, and effective March 31, 2013 (the “Effective Date”), Lucas entered into a Settlement
and Release Agreement with Nordic (the “Settlement Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed to settle and terminate the purchase and
sale agreement, Lucas agreed to:
· Pay Nordic an aggregate of $1,125,000 as follows:
o
o
o
o

$250,000 upon the parties entry into the Settlement Agreement (which has been paid to date);
$250,000 on or before April 1, 2013 (which has been paid to date);
$500,000 on or before June 1, 2013 (which has been paid to date); and
$125,000 on or before September 30, 2013,

provided that if Lucas fails to pay any amounts when due, Nordic is able to file an agreed judgment with the court stipulating that
Lucas agrees that the amount owed pursuant to the schedule above is immediately due and payable together with 5% interest;

19

· To assign certain properties to Nordic (free of certain liens and encumbrances), together with any rights in the Interests owned by any
current or former officers or directors of Lucas; and
· To complete certain field work on the properties at Lucas’ sole expense, which has been performed and has an immaterial effect.
Additionally, the parties agreed to mutually release each other and each other’s affiliates and assigns from all claims, causes of
actions, damages and liabilities relating to any events which occurred prior to the Effective Date, whether as a result of the purchase of the
properties, the note or otherwise, and to further indemnify each other from any claims associated therewith. Finally, Nordic agreed to dismiss
the Lawsuit with prejudice five business days after Lucas has made the final payment required as discussed above.
On April 8, 2013, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with Seidler Oil & Gas, L.P. (“Seidler”) on a lawsuit claiming a
refund on previous investments with Lucas Energy. The Company settled the outstanding balance and paid Seidler $1.3 million plus legal
fees. Seidler released the Company, its current and past officers, directors and agents from associated claims and Seidler agreed to dismiss the
previously filed lawsuit with prejudice. In addition, certain private investors also agreed to release the Company, Seidler, and their respective
past and present affiliates from any and all claims.
The Company filed a lawsuit against the holder of the Company’s 2,000 outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in
the District Court of Harris County, Texas, on May 9, 2013, seeking a declaratory judgment that the 2,000 shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock should be cancelled, injunctive relief prohibiting the holder from selling or transferring the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, and attorney’s fees. The outcome of the litigation matter cannot be determined at this time with any reasonable certainty.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable. The Company does not have any mining operations.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
Our common stock is quoted on the NYSE MKT under the symbol LEI. Set forth in the table below are the quarterly high and low
closing prices of our common stock for the past two fiscal years.
High

Low

2013
Quarter ended March 31, 2013
Quarter ended December 31, 2012
Quarter ended September 30, 2012
Quarter ended June 30, 2012

$1.71
2.31
2.34
2.50

$1.21
1.10
1.41
1.39

2012
Quarter ended March 31, 2012
Quarter ended December 31, 2011
Quarter ended September 30, 2011
Quarter ended June 30, 2011

$3.24
2.68
3.30
4.65

$2.20
1.04
1.27
2.40

Holders
As of June 17, 2013, there were approximately 150 record holders of Lucas' common stock. As of June 17, 2013, there was also
one record holder for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock which issuance and the validity of such shares Lucas is currently in litigation
regarding (see “Item 8 - Note 11. Subsequent Events”). Our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is not listed, traded or quoted on any
market or exchange.
Description of Capital Stock
As of June 17, 2013, we had 26,734,232 shares of our common stock outstanding, 2,000 shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
designated and outstanding and 3,000 shares of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock designated, with no shares of Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock outstanding.
Common Stock
Holders of our common stock: (i) are entitled to share ratably in all of our assets available for distribution upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of our affairs; (ii) do not have preemptive, subscription or conversion rights, nor are there any redemption or
sinking fund provisions applicable thereto; and (iii) are entitled to one vote per share on all matters on which stockholders may vote at all
stockholder meetings. Each shareholder is entitled to receive the dividends as may be declared by our directors out of funds legally available
for dividends. Our directors are not obligated to declare a dividend. Any future dividends will be subject to the discretion of our directors and
will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, the operating and financial condition of our Company, our capital requirements,
general business conditions and other pertinent factors.
The presence of the persons entitled to vote a majority of the outstanding voting shares on a matter before the stockholders shall
constitute the quorum necessary for the consideration of the matter at a stockholders’ meeting.
The vote of the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote on the matter and represented at a meeting at which a quorum is
present shall constitute an act of the stockholders, except for the election of directors, who shall be appointed by a plurality of the shares
entitled to vote at a meeting at which a quorum is present. The common stock does not have cumulative voting rights, which means that the
holders of 51% of the common stock voting for election of directors can elect 100% of our directors if they choose to do so.
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Our common stock is listed and traded on the NYSE MKT under the symbol “LEI”.
Preferred Stock
Subject to the terms contained in any designation of a series of Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized, at any
time and from time to time, to fix, by resolution or resolutions, the following provisions for shares of any class or classes of Preferred Stock
of the Company:
(1)

The designation of such class or series, the number of shares to constitute such class or series which may be increased
(but not below the number of shares of that class or series then outstanding) by a resolution of the Board of Directors;

(2)

Whether the shares of such class or series shall have voting rights, in addition to any voting rights provided by law,
and if so, the terms of such voting rights;

(3)

The dividends, if any, payable on such class or series, whether any such dividends shall be cumulative, and, if so,
from what dates, the conditions and dates upon which such dividends shall be payable, and the preference or relation
which such dividends shall bear to the dividends payable on any share of stock of any other class or any other shares
of the same class;

(4)

Whether the shares of such class or series shall be subject to redemption by the Company, and, if so, the times, prices
and other conditions of such redemption or a formula to determine the times, prices and such other conditions;

(5)

The amount or amounts payable upon shares of such series upon, and the rights of the holders of such class or series
in, the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or upon any distribution of the assets, of the
Company;

(6)

Whether the shares of such class or series shall be subject to the operation of a retirement or sinking fund, and, if so,
the extent to and manner in which any such retirement or sinking fund shall be applied to the purchase or redemption
of the shares of such class or series for retirement or other corporate purposes and the terms and provisions relative to
the operation thereof;

(7)

Whether the shares of such class or series shall be convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of stock of any other
class or any other series of the same class or any other securities and, if so, the price or prices or the rate or rates of
conversion or exchange and the method, if any, of adjusting the same, and any other terms and conditions of
conversion or exchanges;

(8)

The limitations and restrictions, if any, to be effective while any shares of such class or series are outstanding upon
the payment of dividends or the making of other distributions on, and upon the purchase, redemption or other
acquisition by the Company of the common stock or shares of stock of any other class or any other series of the same
class;

(9)

The conditions or restrictions, if any, upon the creation of indebtedness of the Company or upon the issuance of any
additional stock, including additional shares of such class or series or of any other series of the same class or of any
other class;

(10)

The ranking (be it pari passu, junior or senior) of each class or series vis-à-vis any other class or series of any class of
Preferred Stock as to the payment of dividends, the distribution of assets and all other matters;

(11)

Facts or events to be ascertained outside the Articles of Incorporation of the Company, or the resolution establishing
the class or series of stock, upon which any rate, condition or time for payment of distributions on any class or series
of stock is dependent and the manner by which the fact or event operates upon the rate, condition or time of payment;
and

(12)

Any other powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights, and any qualifications,
limitations and restrictions thereof, insofar as they are not inconsistent with the provisions of the Articles of
Incorporation of the Company, as amended, to the full extent permitted by the laws of the State of Nevada.
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The powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of each class or series of Preferred Stock, and the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding.
Series A and B Convertible Preferred Stock
The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock have no voting rights, no liquidation rights and
no redemption rights, but have conversion rights providing the holder thereof the right to convert each outstanding Series A and B Convertible
Preferred Stock share into 1,000 shares of the Company's common stock. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock contains a provision that
limits the amount of common shares that the holder can own at any time upon conversion to an aggregate of 4.99% of the Company’s then
issued and outstanding shares of common stock. The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock contains a similar provision, limiting the amount
of common shares that the holder can own upon any conversion to an aggregate of 9.99% of the Company’s then issued and outstanding
shares of common stock. The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock has dividend rights when and if cash dividends are declared by the
Company on an “if converted” basis. Additionally, the conversion rate of the Series A and B Convertible Preferred Stock adjusts
automatically in connection with and in proportion to any dividends payable by the Company in common stock.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared or paid cash dividends, or made distributions in the past. We do not anticipate that we will pay cash
dividends or make distributions in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain and reinvest future earnings to finance
operations. We may however declare and pay dividends in shares of our common stock in the future.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities to be
Number of securities available for
issued upon exercise of
Weighted-average exercise
future issuance under equity
outstanding options,
price of outstanding options, compensation plans (excluding
Plan Category
warrants and rights (a)
warrants and rights (b)
those in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
the security holders
819,668
$1.55
759,758
Equity compensation plans not
150,630
$2.98
approved by the security holders
Total
970,298
$1.77
759,758
(a)
(b)

Includes any compensation plan and individual compensation arrangement of the Company under which equity securities of the
Company are authorized for issuance to employees, or non-employees including directors, consultants, advisors, vendors,
customers, suppliers or lenders in exchange for consideration in the form of goods or services, as of March 31, 2013.
Includes the weighted average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants, and rights identified in (a).
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Year Ended March 31, 2013
In July 2012, the holder of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock converted 2,270 shares of such Series B Convertible Preferred
Stock into 2,270,000 shares of our common stock.
We claim an exemption from registration afforded by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), for the
above conversion as the securities were exchanged by the Company with its existing security holder exclusively in a transaction where no
commission or other remuneration was paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange.
In August 2012, Peter K. Grunebaum, our then director, exercised 14,000 warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock for aggregate consideration of $14,000 or $1.00 per share and the Company issued Mr. Grunebaum 14,000 shares of restricted common
stock.
The Company claims an exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended since the
foregoing issuance did not involve a public offering, the recipient took the securities for investment and not resale, the Company took
appropriate measures to restrict transfer, and the recipient was a director of the Company.
In August 2012, Meson Capital Partners LP (“Meson LP”), which is an affiliate of Ryan J. Morris, who became our director
effective October 1, 2012, purchased warrants to purchase 83,334 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share (the
“Warrants”) for an aggregate of $25,000, or $0.30 per Warrant, from the Company’s Chairman, J. Fred Hofheinz, and Warrants to purchase
an aggregate of 15,167 shares for an aggregate of $4,550, or $0.30 per Warrant, from Peter K. Grunebaum, a then member of the Company’s
Board of Directors, in private transactions, which Warrants were subsequently exercised by Meson LP for an aggregate exercise price of
$98,501. The Company subsequently issued Meson LP an aggregate of 98,501 shares of restricted common stock.
In August 2012, Gulf Standard Energy Company, LLC, which is beneficially owned by W. Andrew Krusen, Jr., our director,
exercised warrants to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share and was issued 200,000 shares of
common stock.
The Company claims an exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended since the
foregoing issuances and transfers did not involve a public offering, the recipients took the securities for investment and not resale, the
Company took appropriate measures to restrict transfer, and the recipients were “accredited investors”.
In September 2012, we cancelled 20,000 shares of our common stock as part of a settlement agreement with a shareholder, which
shares were originally issued in error.
In September 2012, the holder of our Series B Convertible Preferred Stock converted 554 shares of such Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock into 554,000 shares of our common stock. As a result of this conversion, there are no shares of our Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock outstanding.
We claim an exemption from registration afforded by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for the above
conversions as the securities were exchanged by the Company with its existing security holders exclusively in a transaction where no
commission or other remuneration was paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange.
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Subsequent to the Year Ended March 31, 2013
Effective April 4, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders, including related parties (see below under
“Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence”), pursuant to which such lenders loaned the Company
an aggregate of $2,750,000 which was documented by Promissory Notes which accrue interest at the rate of 14% per annum, with such interest
payable monthly in arrears (beginning June 1, 2013) and which are due and payable on October 4, 2013. The Company granted each of the
note holders their pro rata portion of five year warrants to purchase 275,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$1.50 per share.
The Company claims an exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) of the Act since the foregoing sales and grants did not
involve a public offering, the recipients took the securities for investment and not resale, the Company took appropriate measures to restrict
transfer, and the recipients were “accredited investors”. No underwriters or agents were involved in the foregoing and the Company paid no
underwriting discounts or commissions.
Effective May 31, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders pursuant to which such lenders loaned the
Company an aggregate of $500,000 which was documented by Promissory Notes which accrue interest at the rate of 14% per annum, with
such interest payable monthly in arrears (beginning July 1, 2013) and which are due and payable on April 4, 2014. The Company granted each
of the note holders their pro rata portion of five year warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $1.50 per share.
The Company claims an exemption from registration afforded by Section 4(2) of the Act since the foregoing sales and grants did not
involve a public offering, the recipients took the securities for investment and not resale, the Company took appropriate measures to restrict
transfer, and the recipients were “accredited investors”. No underwriters or agents were involved in the foregoing and the Company paid no
underwriting discounts or commissions.
Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Securities
Our Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-188663) in connection with the sale by us of up to $10 million in securities
(common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and units) was declared effective by the SEC on May 24, 2013. We have sold no
securities pursuant to the Registration Statement to date and have no immediate plans to sell any securities.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
Not applicable.
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ITEM 7.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.
General
The following is a discussion by management of its view of the Company’s business, financial condition, and corporate performance
for the past year. The purpose of this information is to give management’s recap of the past year, and to give an understanding of
management’s current outlook for the near future. This section is meant to be read in conjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our fiscal year ends on the last day of March of the calendar year. We refer to the twelve-month periods ended March 31, 2013 and
March 31, 2012 as our 2013 fiscal year and 2012 fiscal year, respectively.
Overview
The ultimate goal of the management of Lucas is to maximize shareholder value. We seek to accomplish this through various business activities
and strategies identified in “Item 1. Business” and “Item 2. Properties” of this report. Specific targets include: increasing production by
developing our acreage, increasing profitability margins by evaluating and optimizing our production, leveraging our balance sheet, and
executing our business plan to increase property values, reserves, and expanding our asset base.
Results for our 2013 fiscal year include the following:
·
·
·

production increase of 51% to 85,766 BOE’s;
net operating revenue of $8.2 million, an increase of 57% from the previous year; and
net loss of $6.8 million, or $0.27 per diluted share, compared to a net loss of $7.6 million last year, or $0.41 per diluted share.

We believe our strengths will help us successfully execute our ultimate goals. We benefit from having asset-rich properties in core areas such
as the Eagle Ford, one of the most active plays in the U.S. The activity around our Eagle Ford assets has begun to define the tremendous
opportunities we have in our leases. The increasing number of wells drilled and the corresponding data available to us this year has enhanced
our knowledge and as a result increased the opportunities shown in our reserve report. In addition, leading operators in the Eagle Ford area
have developed drilling and completion technologies that have significantly reduced production risk and decreased per unit drilling and
completion costs.
We also benefit from the size and local knowledge of our operations. Our size provides us with the opportunity to acquire smaller
acreage blocks that may be less attractive to larger operators in the area. We believe that our acquisition of these smaller blocks, if successful,
will have a meaningful impact on our overall acreage position.
We benefit from having an experienced management team with proven acquisition, operating and financing capabilities. Mr. Anthony
Schnur, our Chief Executive Officer, has over twenty years of extensive oil and gas and financial management experience. He has developed
strategic business plans, raised debt and equity capital, and provided asset management, cash flow forecasts, transaction modeling and
development planning for both start-ups and special situations. On three separate occasions Mr. Schnur has been asked to lead work-out/turnaround initiatives in the E&P space. He is complemented by Mr. William J. Dale, our Chief Financial Officer, who has 17 years of oil and gas
industry financial experience across corporate finance, treasury, strategic planning, and financial reporting, planning and analysis functions both
at large global corporations as well as small, entrepreneurial oil and gas companies. He has dual Bachelor degrees in Accounting and Finance,
an MBA from the University of Houston and is also a Texas Certified Public Accountant. Functionally he crosses disciplinary lines from
finance-planning-execution to operations assessment and acquisition evaluation and due diligence. Further the Company has attracted new
talent in its operations, reservoir analysis, land and accounting functions and it believes it has brought together a professional and dedicated team
to deliver value to Lucas shareholders.
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2013 Overview
In the 2013 fiscal year, we performed several workovers throughout our properties. We had an average net production flow of 235 BOE for
the year, with oil production contributing to most of our production. By the end of the year, our production stabilized to an average of 203 net
BOE per day and we reduced our operating costs dramatically with positive field results. In 2013, although our revenues were higher than
previous years, we still had a net loss for the year. Therefore, in the fourth quarter of 2013, we implemented a cost reduction plan throughout
the organization which we expect to maintain going forward. Our strategy is to maintain our operating cost to an acceptable rate that will benefit
the operating margin of the Company as we look to develop our current acreage.
Overview of Properties
During our 2013 fiscal year, the Company continued to acquire and purchase some additional Austin Chalk and Eagle Ford assets. These
transactions were done with minimal cash outlay and at prices which Lucas believes were under the current market. We also managed to settle
legal proceedings with Nordic on March 29, 2013 (see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”). The settlement provided for us to pay Nordic $1,125,000
in cash and to assign back to Nordic certain properties in Wilson and Gonzales counties which were acquired from Nordic in 2011 and Nordic
to cancel a $22 million note which was previously due to Nordic.
The Company ended the 2013 fiscal year with approximately 4,510 net acres in the Eagle Ford reservoir and approximately 3,441 net acres in
the Eaglebine, Buda, and Glen Rose trends.
Operations
The first half of 2013 carried over production from previous year for wells drilled in our acreage. These wells were drilled in the Austin Chalk
formation in Gonzales, Texas. For fiscal year 2013, these wells contributed to approximately 50% of our total production. Remaining
production has been through an extensive workover program to extend and increase the life of our older wells. Lucas’ objective for our current
producing wells is to operate as efficient as possible, look for technological advancements to increase the life of the wells, evaluate the economic
viability of these wells, and consider adding or redrilling our low producing assets. As new wells are drilled in our acreage, we expect to see
workover costs diminish. An increase in the drilling program of older leases could significantly reduce our lifting costs per BBL (barrel).
Reserves
Our estimated net proved crude oil and natural gas reserves at March 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately 5.6 million BOE and 8.8 million
BOE, respectively, a decrease of 3.2 million BOE or 37%. Crude oil reserves decreased approximately 1.9 million BBLs to 5.1 million BBLs
or 27% and natural gas reserves decreased 8.1 BCF to 2.6 BCF. Using the average monthly crude oil price of $104.76 per BBL and natural gas
price of $3.51 per thousand cubic feet (MCF) for the twelve months ended March 31, 2013, our estimated discounted future net cash flow (PV10) before tax expenses for our proved reserves was approximately $132.6 million, an increase of $28.3 million or 27% from a year ago using
the same SEC pricing and reserves methodology. Oil and natural gas prices have historically been volatile and such volatility can have a
significant impact on our estimates of proved reserves and the related PV-10 value.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, we had the opportunity to research and collect data from the development of surrounding properties by
other operators. As a result, we reported a net decrease of 3.2 million BOE or 37% from previous year mainly due to the Nordic settlement and
termination of the $22 million note originally owed to Nordic (see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”), the oil and natural gas recoveries in our areas
have changed mainly from local operator’s technical efficiencies, our working interest in certain properties have changed, and oil recoveries
around our Gonzales properties were greatly enhanced.
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These reserves were determined in accordance with standard industry practices and SEC regulations by the licensed independent petroleum
engineering firm of Forest A. Garb and Associates, Inc. A large portion of the proved undeveloped crude oil reserves are associated with the
Eagle Ford formation. Although these hydrocarbon quantities have been determined in accordance with industry standards, they are prepared
using the subjective judgments of the independent engineers, and may actually be more or less.
Crude Oil and Natural Gas Sales
During the year ended March 31, 2013, our crude oil sales volumes increased to 84,227 BBLs or 231BOPD from 54,466 BBLs, or 149
BOPD, a 55% increase over the previous fiscal year. We exited the year producing 100% crude oil and a majority of our crude oil sale volumes
came from Austin Chalk formation wells which we operate. We operate over 95% of our producing wells, except two (2) wells producing
from the Eagle Ford which is being operated by an affiliate of Marathon Oil Corporation.
On November 21, 2012, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Sundown Energy, LP to sell the Company’s 0.77% net royalty
interest in the oil and natural gas properties located on approximately 52 acres of land within the Baker Deforest Unit, located in Gonzales and
Dewitt counties, Texas. The purchaser paid $4.0 million in cash in connection with the sale for certain wells contributing to our production in
the third quarter of 2013. The closing occurred on December 19, 2012, but was effective as of October 1, 2012. Over 90% of our gas
production for the year was from the Baker Deforest sale, with only 10% contributing to our oil sales.
Major Expenditures
The table below sets out the major components of our operating and corporate expenditures for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:
2013
Additions (Deductions) to Oil and Gas Properties (Capitalized)
Acquisitions Using Cash
Other Capitalized Costs (a)
Subtotal
Acquisitions Using Shares
Issuance/Relinquishment of Nordic Note Payable (b)
Issuance/Relinquishment of Origin Note Payable (c)
Issuance/Relinquishment of Origin Note Receivable (d)
Other Non-Cash Acquisitions (Deductions) (e)
Total Additions (Deductions) to Oil and Gas Properties
Lease Operating Expenditures (Expensed)
Severance and Property Taxes (Expensed)

General and Administrative Expense (Cash based)
Share-Based Compensation (Non-Cash)
Total General and Administrative Expense

(a)
(b)
(c)

2012

$

116,700 $ 2,094,161
4,782,327 12,354,246
4,899,027 14,448,407
8,703,354
(22,829,333) 22,000,000
180,837
470,812
(181,970)
621,519
(17,460,627) 45,773,280
3,760,036
4,289,672
432,187
316,307
$(13,268,404) $50,379,259
$ 5,421,220 $ 5,206,024
677,553
423,992
$ 6,098,773 $ 5,630,016

Other capitalized costs include title related expenses and tangible and intangible drilling costs.
Issuance/Relinquishment of Nordic Note Payable relates to the $22.0 million non-recourse senior secured promissory
note issued during October 2011 in connection with the Nordic acquisition. This Note has been settled and is no longer
part of our contingent liabilities (see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”)
Issuance/Relinquishment of Origin Note Payable relates to the original purchase by the Company of properties from
Origin for $50,000 cash and a note payable of $450,000 on October 30, 2012. On May 23, 2012, the remaining
$269,163 balance of the note (net $180,837) was subsequently relinquished through the sale of other properties to Origin
from the Company.
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(d)
(e)

Issuance/Relinquishment of Origin Note Receivable relates to sale of properties to Origin for a $500,000 note receivable
on December 1, 2011. On August 1, 2012, the Company repurchased certain properties plus one additional property
from Origin for the $470,812 remaining balance of the note receivable.
Other non-cash acquisitions relate to the present value of the estimated asset retirement costs capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the long-lived asset.

Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations for each of the two fiscal years in the period ended March 31, 2013
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Lucas Energy, Inc. and notes thereto (see “Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data”). As used below, the abbreviations "BBLs" stands for barrels, "MCF" for thousand cubic feet and
"BOE" for barrels of oil equivalent (determined under the relative energy content method by using a ratio of 6.0 Mmbtu to 1.0 Bbl of oil).
We reported a net loss for the year ended March 31, 2013 of $6.8 million, or $0.27 per share. For the year ended March 31, 2012, we
reported a net loss of $7.6 million, or $0.41 per share. Our revenues increased by $3.0 million, or 57%, and our net loss decreased by $0.8
million.
Net Operating Revenues
The following table sets forth the revenue and production data for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013
Sale Volumes:
Crude Oil (Bbls)
Natural Gas (Mcf)
Total (Boe) (1)
Crude Oil (Bbls per day)
Natural Gas (Mcf per day)
Total (Boe per day) (1)
Average Sale Price:
Crude Oil ($/Bbl)
Natural Gas ($/Mcf)
Operating Revenues:
Crude Oil
Natural Gas
Total Revenues

(1)

Increase
(Decrease)

2012

%
Increase
(Decrease)

84,227
9,236
85,766

54,466
14,560
56,892

29,761
(5,324)
28,874

55%
(37%)
51%

231
25
235

149
40
156

82
(15)
79

55%
(38%)
51%

$
$

97.59
2.93

$
$

95.14
5.25

$
$

2.45
(2.32)

3%
(44%)

$

8,219,984
27,100
8,247,084

$

5,182,087
76,374
5,258,461

$

3,037,897
(49,274)
2,988,623

59%
(65%)
57%

$

$

$

Oil equivalents are determined under the relative energy content method by using a ratio of 6.0 Mmbtu to 1.0 Bbl of
oil.

Total crude oil and natural gas revenues for the year ended March 31, 2013 increased $3.0 million, or 57%, to $8.3 million from $5.3
million for the same period a year ago, due primarily to a favorable crude oil volume variance of $2.8 million and a favorable crude oil price
variance of $0.2 million. The increased crude oil volumes sold was due to higher production levels during the 2013 fiscal year as compared to
the prior year which were attributable to production from several new wells drilled in the early part of 2012 and production from the Baker
DeForest Unit sold in December 2012.
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Operating and Other Expenses

Lease Operating Expenses
Direct lease operating expense
Workovers expense
Other
Severance and Property Taxes
Depreciation, Depletion,
Amortization and Accretion

$

General and Administrative (Cash based)
Share-Based Compensation (Non-Cash)
Total General and Administrative Expense

$

Interest Expense

2013
3,760,036
2,106,372
1,540,098
113,566
432,187

$

3,585,674

2012
4,289,672
2,003,339
2,252,417
33,916
316,307

Increase (Decrease)
$
(529,636)
103,033
(712,319)
79,650
115,880

2,008,235
$

$

5,421,220
677,553
6,098,773

$

1,367,844

%
Increase
(Decrease)
(12%)
5%
(32%)
235%
37%

1,577,439

79%
4%
60%
8%
116%

$

$

5,206,024
423,992
5,630,016

$

215,196
253,561
468,757

$

633,182

$

734,662

Lease Operating Expenses. Lease operating expenses can be divided into the following categories: costs to operate and maintain
Lucas’ crude oil and natural gas wells, the cost of workovers and lease and well administrative expenses. Operating and maintenance expenses
include, among other things, pumping services, salt water disposal, equipment repair and maintenance, compression expense, lease upkeep and
fuel and power. Workovers are operations to restore or maintain production from existing wells. Each of these categories of costs individually
fluctuates from time to time as Lucas attempts to maintain and increase production while maintaining efficient, safe and environmentally
responsible operations. The costs of services charged to Lucas by vendors, fluctuate over time.
Lease operating expenses of $3.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2013 decreased $0.5 million, or 12%, from $4.3 million for the
same period a year ago, primarily due to decreased expenses associated with a reduction of workover costs of $0.7 million in the last quarter of
the year. Generally, workover costs are incurred for increasing production and maintaining leases on certain properties. In the first and second
quarter of fiscal 2013, there was a considerable workover program started that increased production for the first part of the 2013 fiscal year. In
the fourth quarter of 2013, in order to maintain cash flows, we reduced our workover program and stabilized production.
Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Accretion (“DD&A”). DD&A, related to proved oil and gas properties is calculated using
the unit-of-production method. Under Full Cost Accounting, the amortization base is comprised of the total capitalized costs and total future
investment costs associated with all proved reserves.
DD&A expenses for the year ended March 31, 2013 increased $1.6 million, or 79%, to $3.6 million from $2.0 million for the same
period a year ago. The increase was primarily due to increased production of 27,760 BOE and a higher unit DD&A rate. The unit DD&A rate
increased to $40.51 per BOE from $33.68 per BOE was due primarily to an increase in the future investment costs associated with the
Company's proved undeveloped reserves for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the same period a year ago.
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General and Administrative Expenses (excluding share-based compensation). General and administrative expenses (excluding sharebased compensation) increased approximately $0.2 million or 4% for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the prior year primarily
due to an increase of $0.5 million of expenses related to employee based severance costs, an increase of $0.1 million of employee and consultant
fees, offset by a decrease of $0.3 million related to the discount of options issued in the Company’s 2012 capital raise and $0.1 million decrease
in professional fees, including investor relations and consultants.
Share-Based Compensation. Share-based compensation, which is included in General and Administrative expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations increased approximately $0.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to the prior year primarily due
to an increase in employee based stock option costs related to the severance of key individuals of $0.3 million, offset by a decrease in stock
compensation of $0.1 million. Share-based compensation is utilized for the purpose of conserving cash resources for use in field development
activities and operations.
Interest Expense. Interest expense increased approximately $0.7 million primarily due to interest on the $22 million Nordic note that was settled
and terminated in March 2013. Interest expense for the note was $1.3 million for the current year.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Working Capital
At March 31, 2013, the Company’s total current liabilities of $6.5 million exceeded its total current assets of $1.7 million, resulting in
a working capital deficit of $4.8 million. At March 31, 2012, the Company had a working deficit of $31.5 million. The $26.7 million deficit
reduction is primarily related to the relinquishment of a $22.0 million non-recourse senior secured promissory note with Nordic (see Part I,
Item 3 “Legal Proceedings”) and an overall reduction of current liabilities.
The primary sources of cash for Lucas during 2013 fiscal year were funds generated from operations, proceeds from the sale of oil
and gas properties, proceeds from the issuance of units consisting of shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our
common stock and the exercise of warrants.
The Company believes its undeveloped acreage and ability to access the capital markets in both equity and debt provides a sufficient
means to conduct its current operations, meet its contractual obligations and undertake a forward outlook on future development of its current
fields.
Cash Flows

Cash flows used in operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

$
$

Year Ended March 31,
2013
2012
(1,814,640) $
(3,360,980)
(5,374,669)
(3,873,065)
6,956,021
5,446,916
(233,288) $
(1,787,129)

The primary sources of cash for Lucas during the two-year period ended March 31, 2013 were funds generated from sales of crude oil
and natural gas, proceeds from the sale of oil and gas properties and proceeds from sale of shares of the Company's common stock. The
primary uses of cash were funds used in operations, acquisitions of oil and gas properties and equipment, and repayments of debt.
Net cash used in operating activities was $1.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to net cash used in operating
activities of $3.4 million for the same period a year ago. The decrease in net cash used in operating activities of $1.6 million primarily reflects an
increase in revenues of $3.0 million and offset by a decrease in working capital and other current assets and liabilities of $4.6 million
Net cash used in investing activities was $5.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to net cash used by investing
activities of $3.8 million for the same period a year ago. The increase in net cash used in investing activities of $1.6 million is due primarily to
an increase in additions of oil and gas properties and equipment of $1.1 million and an increase in proceeds from the sale of oil and gas
properties of $0.4 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $6.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2013 as compared to net cash provided by
financing activities of $5.4 million for the same period a year ago. The increase in cash was mainly related to the issuances of new shares of our
common stock of $1.4 million and proceeds for the exercises of warrants.
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Financing
The primary sources of cash for Lucas during 2013 fiscal year were funds generated from operations, proceeds from the sale of oil and
gas properties, proceeds from the issuance of units consisting of shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common
stock, and the exercise of warrants as further discussed below. The primary uses of cash were funds used in operations and for additions of oil
and gas properties. Our cash balance decreased from $0.7 million to $0.5 million as of March 31, 2013 as compared to March 31, 2012. At
March 31, 2013, our total current liabilities of $6.5 million exceeded our total current assets of $1.7 million primarily due to the (1) $0.9 million
settlement note issued to Nordic in connection with the settlement and termination of the Purchase and Sale Agreement dated October 13, 2011
(see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”), (2) $1.3 million on advances from working interest owners on previous investments, which was returned to
investors on April 8, 2013 (see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”), (3) $3.7 million in payables associated with drilling and workover costs, and (4)
$0.5 million in accrued employee compensation and revenues payable under joint venture agreements.
As of March 31, 2012, the Company carried a $22.0 million non-recourse senior secured promissory note on its balance sheet which
was issued in November 2011 in connection with the Nordic acquisition, which was forgiven in March 2013 in connection with the Company’s
entry into a settlement agreement with Nordic (see “Item 3. Legal Proceedings”). In connection with the cancellation of the note, the Company
and Nordic also cancelled the November 2011 acquisition agreement and consequently the Company’s oil and gas properties decreased from
$66.2 million as of March 31, 2012 to $44.7 million as of March 31, 2013.
In April 2012, the Company closed its registered direct offering of $5.9 million (approximately $5.5 million net, after deducting
commissions and other expenses) of securities to certain institutional investors. In total, the Company sold 2.95 million units at a price of $2.00
per unit. Each unit consists of one share of the Company's common stock and 0.35 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company's
common stock. Each warrant can be exercised to purchase one share of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $2.30 per share
and will become exercisable after six months from the closing date of the offering and for a period of five years thereafter. A total of 2,950,000
shares and 1,032,500 warrants were sold in connection with the offering. The Company used the net proceeds received from the offering to
pay down expenses related to drilling, lease operating, and workover activities and for general corporate purposes, including general and
administrative expenses.
In September 2012, the Company sold an aggregate of 800,000 units at $1.65 each, with each unit consisting of one share of Company
common stock and 0.25 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share in a
registered direct offering. A total of 800,000 shares and 200,000 warrants were sold in connection with the offering. The Company received an
aggregate of $1,320,000 (or $1.65 per unit) in gross funding and approximately $1,308,000 (or $1.64 per unit) in net proceeds after paying
related expenses associated with the offering. The Company used the net proceeds of the offerings to pay down expenses related to drilling,
lease operating and workover activities; and for general corporate purposes, including general and administrative expenses. The Company did
not pay any commissions in connection with the offerings.
Effective April 4, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders (the “April 2013 Loan Agreement”)
pursuant to which such lenders loaned the Company an aggregate of $2,750,000 to be used for general working capital. The lenders included
entities beneficially owned by our directors, Ken Daraie (which entity loaned us $2,000,000) and W. Andrew Krusen, Jr. (which entities
loaned us $250,000), as well as an unrelated third party which loaned the Company $500,000.
Effective May 31, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders (the “May 2013 Loan Agreement” and
together with the April 2013 Loan Agreement, the “Loan Agreements”), pursuant to which such lenders loaned the Company an aggregate of
$500,000 to be used for general working capital and to pay amounts the Company owed to Nordic Oil USA I, LLLP ("Nordic”). The lenders
were third parties, unaffiliated with the Company, provided that one lender who previously loaned the Company funds in connection with the
April 2013 Loan Agreement provided the Company an additional $300,000 loan in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement. The
Loan Agreement included substantially similar terms as the April 2013 Loan Agreement and was approved by the prior lenders in the April
2013 Loan Agreement, who also waived their right to be repaid from the proceeds from the loans.
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The loans provided pursuant to the Loan Agreements were documented by Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) which accrue interest at
the rate of 14% per annum, with such interest payable monthly in arrears (beginning June 1, 2013 in connection with the April 2013 Loan
Agreement and July 1, 2013 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement) and are due and payable on October 4, 2013 in connection
with the May 2013 Loan Agreement and April 4, 2014 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement. The Notes can be prepaid at any
time without penalty. In the event any amounts are not paid when due under the Notes and/or in the event any event of default occurs and is
continuing under the Notes, the Notes accrue interest at the rate of 17% per annum. The Note holders were each paid their pro rata portion of a
commitment fee ($55,000 in connection with the April 2013 Loan Agreement and $15,000 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement)
and were each granted their pro rata portion of warrants to purchase 325,000 shares of the Company’s common stock which were evidenced by
Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the “Warrants”).
During the year ended March 31, 2013, 412,501 warrants with an exercise price of $1.00 per share were exercised for total
consideration of $412,501 and 412,501 shares of common stock were issued to the warrant holders.
Lucas plans to continue to focus a substantial portion of its capital expenditures in various known prolific and productive geological formations,
including the Austin Chalk, Eagle Ford and Buda formations, primarily in Gonzales, Wilson, Karnes and Atascosa counties south of the city of
San Antonio, Texas and in the Eaglebine, Buda, and Glen Rose formations in Madison and Leon counties north of the city of Houston,
Texas. Lucas expects capital expenditures to be greater than cash flow from operating activities for the 2013 fiscal year. To cover the
anticipated shortfall, our business plan includes establishing a reserve-based line of credit, initiate bank or private borrowings, and/or issue
equity or debt offerings.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Lucas does not participate in financial transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships. As
of March 31, 2013, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Lucas prepares its financial statements and the accompanying notes in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America, which requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the reported
amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Lucas identifies certain accounting policies as critical based on, among other
things, their impact on the portrayal of Lucas’ financial condition, results of operations or liquidity, and the degree of difficulty, subjectivity and
complexity in their deployment. Critical accounting policies cover accounting matters that are inherently uncertain because the future resolution
of such matters is unknown. Management routinely discusses the development, selection and disclosure of each of the critical accounting
policies. Following is a discussion of Lucas’ most critical accounting policies:
Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
Lucas’ independent petroleum consultants estimate proved oil and gas reserves, which directly impact financial accounting estimates,
including depreciation, depletion and amortization. Proved reserves represent estimated quantities of crude oil and condensate, natural gas
liquids and natural gas that geological and engineering data demonstrate, with reasonable certainty, to be recoverable in future years from known
reservoirs under economic and operating conditions existing at the time the estimates were made. The process of estimating quantities of proved
oil and gas reserves is very complex, requiring significant subjective decisions in the evaluation of all available geological, engineering and
economic data for each reservoir. The data for a given reservoir may also change substantially over time as a result of numerous factors
including, but not limited to, additional development activity, evolving production history and continual reassessment of the viability of
production under varying economic conditions. Consequently, material revisions (upward or downward) to existing reserve estimates may
occur from time to time. For related discussion, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors."
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Full Cost Accounting Method
Lucas uses the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas producing activities. Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and gas
properties, to drill and equip exploratory wells used to find proved reserves, and to drill and equip development wells including directly related
overhead costs and related asset retirement costs are capitalized.
Under this method, all costs, including internal costs directly related to acquisition, exploration and development activities are
capitalized as oil and gas property costs on a country-by-country basis. Properties not subject to amortization consist of exploration and
development costs, which are evaluated on a property-by-property basis. Amortization of these unproved property costs begins when the
properties become proved or their values become impaired. Lucas assesses overall values of unproved properties, if any, on at least an annual
basis or when there has been an indication that impairment in value may have occurred. Impairment of unproved properties is assessed based
on management's intention with regard to future development of individually significant properties and the ability of Lucas to obtain funds to
finance their programs. If the results of an assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is added to the
capitalized costs to be amortized. Costs of oil and gas properties are amortized using the units of production method. Sales of oil and natural
gas properties are accounted for as adjustments to the net full cost pool with no gain or loss recognized, unless the adjustment would
significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves.
Full Cost Ceiling Test Limitation
In applying the full cost method, Lucas performs an impairment test (ceiling test) at each reporting date, whereby the carrying value
of property and equipment is compared to the “estimated present value,” of its proved reserves discounted at a 10-percent interest rate of future
net revenues, based on current economic and operating conditions at the end of the period, plus the cost of properties not being amortized, plus
the lower of cost or fair market value of unproved properties included in costs being amortized, less the income tax effects related to book and
tax basis differences of the properties. If capitalized costs exceed this limit, the excess is charged as an impairment expense.
Share-Based Compensation
In accounting for share-based compensation, judgments and estimates are made regarding, among other things, the appropriate
valuation methodology to follow in valuing stock compensation awards and the related inputs required by those valuation
methodologies. Assumptions regarding expected volatility of Lucas’ common stock, the level of risk-free interest rates, expected dividend
yields on Lucas’ stock, the expected term of the awards and other valuation inputs are subject to change. Any such changes could result in
different valuations and thus impact the amount of share-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Revenue Recognition
Lucas recognizes oil and natural gas revenue under the sales method of accounting for its interests in producing wells as crude oil and
natural gas is produced and sold from those wells. Costs associated with production are expensed in the period incurred. Crude oil produced
but remaining as inventory in field tanks is not recorded in Lucas' financial statements.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Pursuant to Item 305(e) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.305(e)), the Company is not required to provide the information required by this
Item as it is a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 229.10(f)(1).
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Our consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 have
been audited by Hein & Associates, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, and have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles pursuant to Regulation S-X as promulgated by the SEC.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Lucas Energy, Inc.
Houston, Texas
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lucas Energy, Inc. as of March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of Lucas Energy, Inc.’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Lucas
Energy, Inc. as of March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Hein & Associates, LLP
Houston, Texas
June 28, 2013
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LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
At March 31,

2013

2012

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash
Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Other Current Assets
Current Portion of Note Receivable
Total

$

Property and Equipment
Oil and Gas Properties (Full Cost Method)
Other Property and Equipment
Total Property and Equipment
Accumulated Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization
Total Property and Equipment, Net
Other Assets

450,691
832,801
64,630
337,860
1,685,982

$

44,709,800
552,154
45,261,954
(9,204,649)
36,057,305
-

Total Assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Common Stock Payable
Accrued Expenses
Accrued Interest
Advances From Working Interest Owners
Notes Payable
Asset Retirement Obligation, current
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt
Total

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

$ 64,021,067

$

$

3,696,848
17,502
501,809
1,384,085
875,000
73,621
6,548,865

985,152
25,489

3,095,600

3,095,600

-

5,166,754

26,751
48,970,509
(21,701,152)
(49,159)
30,342,549

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

8,605,490
84,431
1,062,763
623,333
1,349,066
22,000,000
90,000
76,894
33,891,977

851,873
-

$ 37,743,287
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66,240,375
646,611
66,886,986
(5,716,989)
61,169,997
426,570

$ 37,743,287

Asset Retirement Obligation, net of current portion
Notes Payable, net of current portion
Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 6)
Stockholders' Equity
Preferred Stock Series A, 2,000 Shares Authorized of
$0.001 Par, 2,000 Shares issued and Outstanding
Preferred Stock Series B, 3,000 Shares Authorized of
$0.001 Par, No Shares issued and Outstanding and 2,824 Shares issued and Outstanding as of
March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively
Common Stock, 100,000,000 Shares Authorized of $0.001 Par,
26,751,407 Shares Issued and 26,714,507 Outstanding Shares
at March 31, 2013 and 19,581,657 Issued and 19,544,757
Outstanding Shares at March 31, 2012, respectively
Additional Paid in Capital
Accumulated Deficit
Common Stock Held in Treasury, 36,900 Shares at cost
Total Stockholders' Equity

683,979
1,416,819
63,868
199,677
60,157
2,424,500

19,582
35,791,345
(14,905,673)
(49,159)
29,118,449
$ 64,021,067

LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended March 31,

2013

Net Operating Revenues
Crude Oil
Natural Gas
Total
Operating Expenses
Lease Operating Expenses
Severance and Property Taxes
Depreciation, Depletion,
Amortization and Accretion
General and Administrative
Total
Operating Loss
Other Income, Net
Interest Expense
Loss Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision
Net Loss

$

Net Loss Per Share
Basic and Diluted

8,219,984
27,100
8,247,084

5,182,087
76,374
5,258,461
4,289,672
316,307

3,585,674
6,098,773
13,876,670
(5,629,586)
241,112
(1,367,844)
(6,756,318)
(39,161)
$ (6,795,479) $

2,008,235
5,630,016
12,244,230
(6,985,769)
17,469
(633,182)
(7,601,482)
(7,601,482)

(0.27) $

25,099,749

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

38

$

3,760,036
432,187

$

Weighted Average Number of
Common Shares Outstanding
Basic and Diluted

2012

(0.41)

18,676,186

LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock
Number
Common
Of Shares
Stock
Balance at March 31,
2011
16,727,713 $ 16,728
Series A & B Preferred Shares issued for:
Property
Acquisitions
Common Shares issued for:
Series C Warrants Exercise
and modification
2,510,506
2,511
Property
Acquisitions
150,000
150
Share-Based
Compensation
68,438
68
Accrued liability
retirement
125,000
125
Amortization of
stock options
Net loss
Balance at March 31,
2012
19,581,657
19,582
Common Shares issued for:
Unit Offering
3,750,000
3,750
Warrants
Exercised
412,501
412
Share-Based
Compensation
183,249
183
Conversion of
Series B Preferred
2,824,000
2,824
Amortization of
stock options
Modification of
stock options
Net loss
Balances, March 31,
2013
26,751,407 $ 26,751

Preferred Stock
Number
Preferred
Of
Shares
Stock
- $

Additional
Paid In

Accumulated

Capital

Deficit

Common
Stock
Total
Held in
Stockholders'
Treasury

Equity

- $28,461,239 $ (7,304,191) $ (49,159) $ 21,124,617

4,824

8,262,354

-

-

-

8,262,354

-

-

6,051,138

-

-

6,053,649

-

-

440,850

-

-

441,000

-

-

136,050

-

-

136,118

-

-

498,625

-

-

498,750

-

-

203,443
-

(7,601,482)

4,824

8,262,354

35,791,345

(14,905,673)

-

-

6,822,990

-

-

6,826,740

-

-

412,089

-

-

412,501

-

-

320,686

-

-

320,869

5,163,930

-

-

-

-

-

575,812

(2,824)

(5,166,754)

-

-

575,812

-

-

(116,343)
-

(49,159)

(6,795,479)

-

203,443
(7,601,482)
29,118,449

(116,343)
(6,795,479)

2,000 $ 3,095,600 $48,970,509 $ (21,701,152) $ (49,159) $ 30,342,549

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended March 31,
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net losses to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, Depletion, Amortization and Accretion
Share-Based Compensation
Share-Based Compensation Related to Purchase of Stock Options
Non-Operating Expense Relating to Exercise of Warrants
Settlement of Debt
Gain (loss) on property, plant and equipment
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Changes in Components of Working Capital and Other Assets
Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Interest Payable
Advances from Working Interest Owners
Other Assets
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

2013

$ (6,795,479) $ (7,601,482)

Investing Cash Flows
Additions of Oil and Gas Properties
Additions of Other Property and Equipment
Proceeds from Sale of Oil and Gas Properties
Payments Received on Notes Receivable
Repayment of Note Payable
Deposit for Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

3,585,674
677,553
83,657
(344,329)
2,065
123,513

2,008,235
423,992
293,275
-

584,018
(762)
(138,183)
371,402
35,019
1,212
(1,814,640)

(610,721)
(63,868)
(46,884)
1,187,694
991,667
57,112
(3,360,980)

(9,139,834)
(69,486)
4,069,948
14,703
(250,000)
(5,374,669)

(7,841,671)
(228,412)
3,683,745
13,273
500,000
(3,873,065)

412,501
6,826,740
(283,220)
6,956,021

5,760,374
(313,458)
5,446,916

Financing Cash Flows
Net Proceeds from Exercises of Warrants
Net Proceeds from the Sale of Common Stock
Repayment of Borrowings
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2012

(233,288)
(1,787,129)
683,979
2,471,108
450,691 $
683,979

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY
Lucas Energy Inc. is an independent oil and gas company engaged in the development and acquisition of onshore properties in Texas. The
Company’s main operations are primarily located in the Eagle Ford and Austin Chalk trends in Wilson and Gonzales counties and in the
Eaglebine, Buda, and Glen Rose formations in Madison and Leon counties.
Our corporate headquarters is in Houston, Texas and our field operation is located in Gonzales, Texas where we manage the Company’s well
operations.
NOTE 2 – LIQUIDITY
At March 31, 2013, the Company’s total current liabilities of $6.5 million exceeded its total current assets of $1.7 million, resulting in a
working capital deficit of $4.8 million. At March 31, 2012, the Company had a working deficit of $31.5 million. The $26.7 million deficit
reduction is primarily related to the relinquishment of a $22.0 million non-recourse senior secured promissory note with Nordic (see Part I,
Item 3 “Legal Proceedings”) and an overall reduction of current liabilities.
The primary sources of cash for Lucas during 2013 fiscal year were funds generated from operations, proceeds from the sale of oil and gas
properties, proceeds from the issuance of units consisting of shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock
and the exercise of warrants.
The Company believes its undeveloped acreage and ability to access the capital markets in both equity and debt provides a sufficient means to
conduct its current operations, meet its contractual obligations and undertake a forward outlook on future development of its current fields.
NOTE 3 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of Lucas Energy include the accounts of its wholly-owned subsidiary, LEI Alcalde Holdings, LLC. On
August 16, 2012, Lucas Energy created the wholly-owned subsidiary LEI Alcalde Holdings, LLC to distinguish our investment in a Gonzales
county building bought on November 21, 2011. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates and Reclassifications
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Lucas' consolidated financial statements are based on a number of significant estimates, including oil and natural gas reserve quantities which
are the basis for the calculation of depreciation, depletion and impairment of oil and natural gas properties, and timing and costs associated with
its asset retirement obligations, as well as those related to the fair value of stock options, stock warrants and stock issued for services. While we
believe that our estimates and assumptions used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements are appropriate, actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in banks and financial instruments which mature within three months of the date of purchase.
Restricted Cash
As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had no restricted cash.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable consist of uncollaterized oil and natural gas revenues due under normal trade terms. Management reviews receivables
periodically and reduces the carrying amount by a valuation allowance that reflects management’s best estimate of the amount that may not be
collectible. There was no allowance recorded as of March, 31, 2013 or 2012.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amount and generally do not bear interest. The Company’s accounts receivables are concentrated
among entities engaged in the energy industry within the U.S. and include operating revenue from our producing wells. The Company
periodically assesses the financial condition of these entities and institutions and considers any possible credit risk to be minimal.
Although we believe that we are not dependent upon any one purchaser, our marketing arrangement with Enterprise Crude Oil, LLC accounted
for almost all of our revenues for the year ended March 31, 2013 and GulfMark Energy Inc. accounted for approximately 69% in 2012. Lucas
Energy has alternative purchasers readily available at competitive market prices if there is disruption in services or other events that cause us to
search for other ways to sell our production.

42

Marketable Securities
Lucas reports its short-term investments and other marketable securities at fair value in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification
(ASC) Topic 825 “Financial Instruments.” As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not have any material investments in marketable
securities.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of Lucas' cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, note receivable and note payable
approximate carrying values because of the short-term maturity of these instruments.
The initial measurement of asset retirement obligations at fair value is calculated using discounted cash flow techniques and based on internal
estimates of future retirement costs associated with property, plant and equipment. Significant Level 3 inputs used in the calculation of asset
retirement obligations include plugging costs and reserve lives. A reconciliation of the Company's asset retirement obligations is presented in
“Note 5 – Asset Retirement Obligations”.
Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Full Cost Method
Lucas uses the full cost method of accounting for oil and natural gas producing activities. Costs to acquire mineral interests in oil and natural gas
properties, to drill and equip exploratory wells used to find proved reserves, and to drill and equip development wells including directly related
overhead costs and related asset retirement costs are capitalized.
Under this method, all costs, including internal costs directly related to acquisition, exploration and development activities, are capitalized as oil
and natural gas property costs on a country-by-country basis. Costs not subject to amortization consist of unproved properties that are evaluated
on a property-by-property basis. Amortization of these unproved property costs begins when the properties become proved or their values
become impaired. Lucas assesses overall values of unproved properties, if any, on at least an annual basis or when there has been an indication
that impairment in value may have occurred. Impairment of unproved properties is assessed based on management's intention with regard to
future development of individually significant properties and the ability of Lucas to obtain funds to finance their programs. If the results of an
assessment indicate that the properties are impaired, the amount of the impairment is added to the capitalized costs to be amortized.
Sales of oil and natural gas properties are accounted for as adjustments to the net full cost pool with no gain or loss recognized, unless the
adjustment would significantly alter the relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves. If it is determined that the relationship is
significantly altered, the corresponding gain or loss will be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.
Costs of oil and natural gas properties are amortized using the units of production method. Amortization expense calculated per equivalent
physical unit of production amounted to $40.51 and $33.68 per barrel of oil equivalent for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.
Ceiling Test
In applying the full cost method, Lucas performs an impairment test (ceiling test) at each reporting date, whereby the carrying value of property
and equipment is compared to the “estimated present value” of its proved reserves discounted at a 10-percent interest rate of future net revenues,
based on current economic and operating conditions at the end of the period, plus the cost of properties not being amortized, plus the lower of
cost or fair market value of unproved properties included in costs being amortized, less the income tax effects related to book and tax basis
differences of the properties. If capitalized costs exceed this limit, the excess is charged as an impairment expense. During the years ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012, no impairment of oil and natural gas properties was recorded.
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Other Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and consist primarily of a building, furniture and computer equipment. Depreciation is computed on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives.
Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are provided on the liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and
operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences
are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Deferred tax assets and accrued tax liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment.
Lucas has evaluated and concluded that there are no significant uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the Company’s financial
statements as of March 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company’s policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax related interest expense and
penalties as interest expense.
Earnings per Share of Common Stock
Basic and diluted net income per share calculations are calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of the Company's
common stock (Common Shares) outstanding during the year. Purchases of treasury stock reduce the outstanding shares commencing on the
date that the stock is purchased. Common stock equivalents are excluded from the calculation when a loss is incurred as their effect would be
anti-dilutive.
Stock options to purchase 819,668 Common Shares at an average exercise price of $1.55 per share and warrants to purchase 3,893,636
Common Shares at an average exercise price of $2.65 per share were outstanding at March 31, 2013.
Stock options to purchase 456,000 Common Shares at an average exercise price of $2.88 per share and warrants to purchase 2,966,136
Common Shares at an average exercise price of $2.67 per share were outstanding at March 31, 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012,
Lucas issued 2,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. During the year ended March 31, 2012, Lucas issued 2,824 shares of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock for interests in oil and natural gas properties. Each share of the Series A and Series B Convertible
Preferred Stock shares is convertible into an aggregate of 1,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and have no liquidation preference and
no maturity date. During the year ended March 31, 2013, the holder of the Company’s Series B Preferred Stock converted their 2,824 shares
into 2,824,000 Common Shares.
Using the treasury stock method, had the Company had net income, approximately 216,668 Common Shares attributable to our outstanding
stock options would have been included in the fully diluted earnings per share calculation for the year ended March 31, 2013.
Share-Based Compensation
In accordance with the provisions of the Stock Compensation Topic of the ASC (ASC Topic 718), Lucas measures the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award over the vesting period.
Revenue and Cost Recognition
Lucas recognizes oil and natural gas revenue under the sales method of accounting for its interests in producing wells as crude oil and natural
gas is produced and sold from those wells. Costs associated with production are expensed in the period incurred.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2011-04, which amends the
Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures topic of the Accounting Standards Codification. The amendments clarify the FASB's intent about the
application of existing fair value measurement requirements and change certain principles or requirements for measuring fair value or disclosing
information about fair value measurements. ASU 2011-04 is effective for interim and annual fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2011.
The adoption of ASU 2011-04 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Oil and Natural Gas Properties
All of Lucas' oil and natural gas properties are located in the United States. Costs being amortized at March 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Proved leasehold costs
Costs of wells and development
Capitalized asset retirement costs
Total oil & natural gas properties
Accumulated depreciation and depletion
Net Capitalized Costs

$

$

At March 31,
2013
2012
10,002,828 $ 35,454,781
33,961,775
29,858,429
745,197
927,165
44,709,800
66,240,375
(9,077,997)
(5,625,961)
35,631,803 $ 60,614,414

The following table sets forth the changes in the total cost of oil and natural gas properties at March 31, for each of the two years in the period
ended March 31, 2013:
2013
2012
Balance at beginning of period
$ 66,240,375 $ 24,650,840
Acquisitions using cash
116,700
2,094,161
Other capitalized costs
4,782,327
12,354,246
Sale proceeds
(4,069,948)
(4,183,745)
Assumption of note payable
450,000
22,000,000
Acquisitions using shares
8,703,354
Relinquish of note receivable
470,812
Relinquish of note payable
(269,163)
Relinquishment of Nordic note
(22,829,333)
Other non-cash transactions
(181,970)
621,519
Balance at end of period
$ 44,709,800 $ 66,240,375
Other capitalized costs include title related expenses and tangible and intangible drilling costs.
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Acquisition of Oil and Natural Gas Properties
Fiscal Year 2013. During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company purchased various oil and natural gas properties and equipment for
$1,037,512. As part of the acquisitions, we entered into a $450,000 Note Payable, paid $116,700 in cash, and extinguished a Note Receivable
for $470,812.
Fiscal Year 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012, Lucas acquired various oil and natural gas properties and equipment at an aggregate
net cost of $45,151,761 including $22,000,000 with a note payable, $14,448,407 cash, 2,824 shares of Lucas’ preferred stock series B valued
at $5,166,754, respectively, and 150,000 shares of Lucas' common stock valued at $441,000 ($2.94 per share based upon the closing price of
the Company’s common stock on the date of agreement).
On October 13, 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Nordic Oil USA I, LLLP (“Nordic”), whereby effective July 1,
2011, Lucas purchased all of Nordic’s right, title and interest in certain oil, gas and mineral leases located in Gonzales, Karnes and Wilson
Counties, Texas. The transaction officially closed on November 18, 2011. Lucas agreed to pay Nordic $22 million, payable in the form of a
senior secured promissory note (with recourse only to the properties acquired), which accrued interest at the rate of 6% per annum (the
“Note”), the payment of which was secured by a Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, Financing Statement and Assignment of Production on
the property acquired (the “Deed of Trust”). Lucas failed to pay the Note when it was due on November 17, 2012, and the parties were unable
to come to terms on a settlement of the debt. Subsequently in December 2012, Nordic filed a lawsuit against Lucas pursuant to which Nordic
made claims for the payment of damages in connection with liens attached to the property, the proceeds from alleged wrongful assignments of
the property acquired in the transaction, pre-and-post judgment interest, a foreclosure and sale of the property, plus attorney’s fees in the
amount of 10% of the principal and interest then owing on the note, and sought damages for breach of contract and attorney’s fees. On March
29, 2013, and effective March 31, 2013 (the “Effective Date”), Lucas entered into a Settlement and Release Agreement with Nordic (the
“Settlement Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed to cancel and terminate the purchase and sale agreement, Lucas agreed to:
· Pay Nordic an aggregate of $1,125,000 as follows:
o
o
o
o

$250,000 upon the parties entry into the Settlement Agreement (which has been paid to date);
$250,000 on or before April 1, 2013 (which has been paid to date);
$500,000 on or before June 1, 2013 (which has been paid to date); and
$125,000 on or before September 30, 2013,

provided that if Lucas fails to pay any amounts when due, Nordic is able to file an agreed judgment with the court stipulating that Lucas
agrees that the amount owed pursuant to the schedule above is immediately due and payable together with 5% interest;
· To assign certain of the properties acquired back to Nordic (free of certain liens and encumbrances), together with any rights in the
Interests owned by any current or former officers or directors of Lucas; and
· To complete certain field work on the properties at Lucas’ sole expense, which has been performed and has an immaterial effect.
Additionally, the parties agreed to mutually release each other and each other’s affiliates and assigns from all claims, causes of actions,
damages and liabilities relating to any events which occurred prior to the Effective Date, whether as a result of the purchase of the properties,
the Note or otherwise, and to further indemnify each other from any claims associated therewith. Finally, Nordic agreed to dismiss the Lawsuit
with prejudice five business days after Lucas has made the final payment required as discussed above.
On October 13, 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase agreement with a company, with an effective date of July 1, 2011. The intent of this
transaction was to acquire all of the company’s interests in properties owned by Nordic, in consideration for 2,000 shares of designated Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, each of which shares are convertible into an aggregate of 1,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The discounted fair value of the transaction was $3.8 million, due to the six-month holding period during which the holder of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is not allowed to sell the shares of the Company’s common stock when converted, and other
restrictions. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock contains a provision that limits the amount of common shares that the holder can own at
any time upon conversion to an aggregate of 4.99% of the Company’s then issued and outstanding shares of common stock. Lucas
subsequently filed a lawsuit against the company who received the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock seeking among other things, the
return and cancellation of such Series A Convertible Preferred Stock due to the fact that Lucas did not receive valid consideration for such
shares and such shares were not validly issued (see “Note 11. Subsequent Events”).
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On December 29, 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Hall Phoenix Energy, LLC (Hall Phoenix), with an effective
date of December 1, 2011, to purchase all of Hall Phoenix’s interests in certain oil, natural gas and mineral leases, rights and assets located in
Leon, Madison and Wilson counties, Texas. Pursuant to the transaction, Lucas agreed to pay as consideration 2,824 shares of Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, each of which shares are convertible into an aggregate of 1,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Series B Convertible Preferred Stock contains a provision that limited the amount of common shares that the holder can own at any
time upon conversion to an aggregate of 9.99% of Company’s then issued and outstanding shares of common stock. During the year ended
March 31, 2013, Hall Phoenix exercised their right of conversion and converted all their Series B Convertible Preferred Stock into 2,824,000
shares of the Company’s common stock.
Sale of Oil and Gas Properties
Fiscal Year 2013. During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company sold several oil and natural gas properties with aggregate gross
proceeds of $4,069,948, of which $269,163 was offset by a Note Payable due from a previous purchase transaction. All oil and natural gas
property sale proceeds were treated as a reduction in the full cost pool with no gain or loss recorded on the sales.
On November 21, 2012, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Sundown Energy, LP to sell the Company’s 0.77% net royalty
interest in the oil and natural gas properties located on approximately 52 acres of land within the Baker Deforest Unit, located in Gonzales and
Dewitt counties, Texas, including the Baker Deforest Unit #1H, #2H, #3H, #4H and #12H wells. The purchaser paid $4.0 million in cash in
connection with the sale, excluding any adjusted purchase amounts. The closing occurred on December 19, 2012, but was effective as of
October 1, 2012.
Fiscal Year 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012, Lucas sold various oil and natural gas properties and equipment for aggregate gross
proceeds of approximately $4,183,745, of which $3,683,745 was paid in cash. Lucas received a $500,000 note receivable for the sale of certain
properties. All oil and natural gas property sale proceeds were treated as a reduction in the full cost pool with no gain or loss recorded on the
sales. Such sales included the transactions discussed below.
In September 2011, Lucas entered into several joint venture agreements to drill new Austin Chalk horizontal wells. Under the agreements, the
counterparty purchased a working interest in the well operated by Lucas. Proceeds from the sale of the partial working interest were
approximately $100,100 and were recorded as a reduction in the full cost pool.
In October 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Nordic Oil USA 2, LLLP (Nordic 2), with an effective date of
February 1, 2011, to sell to Nordic 2 all of Lucas’ interests in certain oil, natural gas and mineral leases located in McKinley County, New
Mexico for $4 million in cash. Net proceeds to the Company from the sale were approximately $3.6 million after deducting commissions. As a
portion of the transaction, Nordic 2 returned a cash deposit for property acquisition of $0.5 million. The proceeds from this sale were recorded
as a $3.1 million reduction in the full cost pool with no gain or loss recorded from the sale, and a $0.5 million reduction in Other Assets. The
Company acquired the properties in January 2011 in a purchase transaction for $2.5 million, which included a deposit of $0.5 million. Nordic 2
acquired, among other things, the rights to the $0.5 million deposit. No revenues or expenses were derived from Lucas relating to these
properties since the properties were acquired in January 2011.
On December 1, 2011, Lucas entered into an asset sale agreement with a company to sell certain underperforming wells. Lucas received as
consideration $100,000 in cash and a $500,000 secured promissory note. The proceeds from the sale were recorded as a reduction in the full
cost pool with no gain or loss recorded on the sale. The note bears interest at 6% per annum with monthly installments of $7,300, including
accrued interest, through 2018. Relinquishment of the note receivable occurred on August 1, 2012, when Lucas repurchased certain properties
plus one additional property from the company for $470,812, the remaining balance of the note receivable.
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Other Property and Equipment
On November 21, 2011, Lucas entered into a purchase agreement for a building in Gonzales County for $450,000 to be used as office
space. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company agreed to pay $325,000 in the form of a promissory note to be repaid in monthly
installments. The final payment was paid on May 1, 2012. The note bears an interest rate of 8% per annum and is collateralized by the
property. On March 21, 2013 Lucas entered into an agreement to sell the building for $325,000, which resulted in an impairment loss of
$123,513. Payment on the building is due August 22, 2013. As of March 31, 2013, the building was still recognized in Other Property and
Equipment.
NOTE 5 – ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
Lucas records the fair value of a liability for asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) in the period in which it is incurred and a corresponding
increase in the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The present value of the estimated asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the long-lived asset and is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Lucas accrues an abandonment liability associated
with its oil and natural gas wells when those assets are placed in service. The ARO is recorded at its estimated fair value and accretion is
recognized over time as the discounted liability is accreted to its expected settlement value. Fair value is determined by using the expected future
cash outflows discounted at Lucas’ credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate. No market risk premium has been included in Lucas’ calculation of the
ARO balance.
The following table presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amounts of long-term legal obligations associated
with the future retirement of oil and natural gas properties for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Carrying amount at beginning of year
Liabilities incurred
Liabilities settled
Accretion
Revisions
Reduction for sale of oil and natural gas property
Carrying amount at end of year

$

$

2013
1,075,152 $
228,918
(27,337)
59,649
39,162
(450,050)
925,494 $

2012
409,112
207,131
(53,263)
44,521
518,357
(50,706)
1,075,152

NOTE 6 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Minimum Commitments
At March 31, 2013, total minimum commitments were as follows:
Years Ended March 31,
Contractual
Obligations
Non-Cancelable
Operating Leases

Total
$

187,532

2014
$

75,911

2015
$

2016

78,477

$
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33,144

2017
$

2018
-

$

Thereafter
-

$

-

Legal Proceedings. There are currently various suits and claims pending against Lucas that have arisen in the ordinary course of Lucas’
business, including contract disputes and title disputes. While the ultimate outcome and impact on Lucas cannot be predicted with certainty,
management believes that the resolution of these suits and claims will not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on
Lucas’ consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flow. Lucas records reserves for contingencies when information available
indicates that a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
NOTE 7 – INCOME TAXES
The Company recorded provision for income taxes of $39,161 and $0 for the years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, respectively.
2013
2012
Current taxes:
Federal
$
8,161 $
State
31,000
39,161
Deferred taxes:
Federal
State
Total
$ 39,161 $
The following is a reconciliation between actual tax expense (benefit) and income taxes computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate
and state income tax rate to income from continuing operations before income taxes for the two years ended March 31, 2013:

Computed at expected tax rates (34%)
Meals and entertainment
State Income tax net of FIT benefit
Percentage depletion
Return to accrual true-up
Change in valuation allowance
Total

$

$

49

2013
(2,297,148) $
10,938
20,460
(3,000)
2,307,911
39,161 $

2012
(2,584,504)
4,774
(116,829)
2,696,559
-

Tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred liabilities are presented below:

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating tax loss carryforwards
Gain on sale of oil and gas properties
Depletion
Unrealized net loss on available-for-sale
securities
Share-based compensation
Accrued compensation
Tax Credit
Total deferred tax assets

$

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible drilling costs
Depreciation
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Subtotal
Less: Valuation allowance
Total

$

2013

2012

10,049,197 $
6,303,421
1,562,341

9,406,667
4,262,969
899,552

123,954
201,729
208,313
8,161
18,457,116

123,954
25,105
14,718,247

(8,661,765)
(2,020,555)
(2,066)
(10,684,386)

(7,288,433)
(1,964,289)
(706)
(9,253,428)

7,772,730
(7,772,730)
- $

5,464,819
(5,464,819)
-

At March 31, 2013, Lucas had estimated net operating loss carry-forwards for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $ 29.6
million which will begin to expire, if not previously used, beginning in the year 2029.
The above estimates are based upon management’s decisions concerning certain elections which could change the relationship between net
income and taxable income. Management decisions are made annually and could cause the estimates to vary significantly.
The Company files income tax returns for federal and state purposes. Management believes that with few exceptions, the Company is not
subject to examination by United States tax authorities for tax periods prior to 2008.
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NOTE 8 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock
The following summarizes Lucas’ common stock activity for each of the two years ended March 31, 2013:
Common Shares
Issued
Amount (a)
Per Share
Shares
Treasury
Outstanding
Balance at March 31, 2011
16,727,713
(36,900)
16,690,813
Series C Warrants Exercise
$ 5,760,374 $
2.29
2,510,506
2,510,506
Property Acquisitions
441,000
2.94
150,000
150,000
Share-Based Compensation
136,118
1.99
68,438
68,438
Retirement of Accrued Liability
498,750
3.99
125,000
125,000
Balance at March 31, 2012
19,581,657
(36,900)
19,544,757
Unit Offering
$ 6,826,740 $
1.82
3,750,000
3,750,000
Warrants Exercised
412,501
1.00
412,501
412,501
Share-Based Compensation
320,869
1.75
183,249
183,249
Conversion of Preferred
2,824,000
2,824,000
Balance at March 31, 2013
26,751,407
(36,900)
26,714,507
(a) Net proceeds or fair market value on grant date, as applicable.
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Fiscal Year 2013. In April 2012, the Company sold an aggregate of 2,950,000 units at $2.00 each, with each unit consisting of one share of
Company common stock and 0.35 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $2.30 per share in
a registered direct offering. A total of 2,950,000 shares and 1,032,500 warrants were sold in connection with the offering. The Company
received an aggregate of $5,900,000 (or $2.00 per unit) in gross funding and approximately $5,518,000 (or $1.87 per unit) in net proceeds after
paying commissions and other expenses associated with the offering. In September 2012, the Company sold an aggregate of 800,000 units at
$1.65 each, with each unit consisting of one share of Company common stock and 0.25 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share in a registered direct offering. A total of 800,000 shares and 200,000 warrants were sold
in connection with the offering. The Company received an aggregate of $1,320,000 (or $1.65 per unit) in gross funding and approximately
$1,308,000 (or $1.64 per unit) in net proceeds after paying related expenses associated with the offering. The Company used the net proceeds
of the offerings to pay down expenses related to drilling, lease operating and workover activities; and for general corporate purposes, including
general and administrative expenses. The Company did not pay any commissions in connection with the offerings. During the year ended
March 31, 2013, 412,501 warrants with an exercise price of $1.00 per share were exercised for total consideration of $412,501 and 412,501
shares of common stock were issued to the warrant holders. See Note 9 – Share-Based Compensation for information on common stock
activity related to Share-Based Compensation, including shares granted to the Board of Directors, officers, employees and consultants.
Fiscal Year 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012, Series C Warrants were exercised for 2,510,506 shares of common stock. The
exercise price of the Series C Warrants was $2.48 per share. The per share price of $2.29 shown in the above tabulation was net of
commissions paid to the placement agent, see "Warrants" below for additional information. Common stock issuances for property acquisitions
and share-based compensation are recorded at the grant date fair value of the shares on the date of issuance. See Note 4 – Property and
Equipment for information on common stock issuances related to property acquisitions. See Note 9 – Share-Based Compensation for
information on common stock activity related to Share-Based Compensation, including shares granted to the Board of Directors, officers,
employees and consultants.
Preferred Stock
The following summarizes Lucas’ preferred shares activity for each of the two years ended March 31, 2013:
Preferred Shares
Issued
Shares
Amount
- $

Balance at March 31, 2011
Issuances for Property Acquisitions:
Series A convertible
Series B convertible
Balance at March 31, 2012
Conversion to Common Stock:
Series B convertible
Balance at March 31, 2013

-

2,000
2,824
4,824 $

3,095,600
5,166,754
8,262,354

(2,824)
2,000 $

(5,166,754)
3,095,600

Preferred stock issuances for property acquisitions are recorded at the fair value of the shares on the date of issuance. Each share of the Series
A and Series B Convertible Preferred Stock shares are convertible into an aggregate of 1,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and have
no liquidation preference and no maturity date. The Series B Preferred Stock has dividends rights when and if declared by the Company on an
“if converted” basis.
Treasury Stock
Lucas did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the two years ended March 31, 2013. The shares previously purchased are
held by Lucas’ transfer agent as Treasury Stock, and the shares are treated as issued, but not outstanding, at March 31, 2013 and 2012. The
shares are recorded at a cost of $49,159.
52

Warrant
The following summarizes Lucas’ warrant activity for each of the two years ended March 31, 2013:

Outstanding at Beginning of Year
Issued
Expired
Exercised
Outstanding at End of Year

2013

2012

Weighted
Average
Number of
Exercise
Warrants
Price
2,966,136 $
2.67
1,345,001
2.30
(5,000)
1.00
(412,501)
1.00
3,893,636 $
2.65

Weighted
Average
Number of
Exercise
Warrants
Price
5,476,642 $
2.67
(2,510,506)
2.51
2,966,136 $
2.67

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company issued 1,232,500 warrants and reissued 112,501 warrants to warrant holders in
connection with purchased securities. In April 2012, the Company sold an aggregate of 2,950,000 units at $2.00 each, with each unit consisting
of one share of Company common stock and 0.35 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of
$2.30 per share in a registered direct offering. A total of 2,950,000 shares and 1,032,500 warrants were sold in connection with the
offering. The Company received an aggregate of $5,900,000 (or $2.00 per unit) in gross funding and approximately $5,518,000 (or $1.87 per
unit) in net proceeds after paying commissions and other expenses associated with the offering. In September 2012, the Company sold an
aggregate of 800,000 units at $1.65 each, with each unit consisting of one share of Company common stock and 0.25 of a warrant to purchase
one share of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share in a registered direct offering. A total of 800,000 shares and
200,000 warrants were sold in connection with the offering. The Company received an aggregate of $1,320,000 (or $1.65 per unit) in gross
funding and approximately $1,308,000 (or $1.64 per unit) in net proceeds after paying related expenses associated with the offering. The
Company used the net proceeds of the offerings to pay down expenses related to drilling, lease operating and workover activities; and for
general corporate purposes, including general and administrative expenses. The Company did not pay any commissions in connection with the
offerings.
During the year ended March 31, 2013, 412,501 warrants with an exercise price of $1.00 per share were exercised and 5,000 warrants with an
exercise price of $1.00 per share expired. These warrants were originally issued to the warrant holders in connection with the purchase of units
in a private equity placement in September 2009. These warrants had an expiration date of August 31, 2012. At March 31, 2013, all of the
September 2009 warrants had been exercised or expired.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company did not issue any warrants, and none of the Company’s outstanding warrants expired. In
July 2011, in an effort to secure the funding for the capital expenditure program for the Company’s fiscal year and to avoid the unpredictable
nature of the financial market, the Company incentivized the institutional investors who purchased securities in the Company's December 2010
offering to exercise the Series C Warrants they purchased as part of the offering by entering into an amendment to the original Series C Warrant
Agreement on July 18, 2011 (the “Amendment Agreement”). The expiration date for the Series C Warrants was August 3, 2011. Without
changing the expiration date, the Amendment Agreement required the investors to immediately exercise 25% of the Series C Warrants they held
and the Company to lower the exercise price of the Series C Warrants to $2.48 per share from the original exercise price of $2.62 per
share. Pursuant to the Series C Warrant Agreement, as amended, the investors were required to exercise all of their remaining Series C
Warrants if the closing bid price of the Company's stock was higher than the amended exercise price on August 3, 2011. Since the closing bid
price on that date for the Company's stock was $2.51, all remaining Series C Warrants were exercised. Net proceeds to the Company from
exercises of all of the 2,510,506 Series C Warrants were approximately $5.8 million after deducting commissions paid to the placement
agent. The Company used the net proceeds for general corporate purposes, including the funding of capital expenditures. Based on the Black
Scholes option pricing model, the change in the exercise price resulted in an increase of $293,275 in the aggregate value of the Series C
Warrants. Pursuant to the Stock Compensation Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (ASC
Topic 718), the Company recorded the increase as a non-operating expense in Other Income (Expense) in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations and recorded the same amount in Additional Paid in Capital in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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At March 31, 2013, the outstanding warrants had no intrinsic value.
NOTE 9 – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Common Stock
During the annual shareholder meeting held on March 31, 2012, Company shareholders approved the Lucas Energy, Inc. Long Term Incentive
Plan (“2012 Incentive Plan”) providing for the Company to issue up to 1,500,000 shares of common stock to officers, directors, employees,
contractors and consultants for services provided to the Company. The Company registered shares to be issued under the Incentive Plan in a
Form S-8 filed with the SEC in April 2012. At March 31, 2013, 565,240 shares remained available for issuance under the 2012 Incentive Plan.
During the annual shareholder meeting held on March 30, 2010, Company shareholders approved the Lucas Energy, Inc. Long Term Incentive
Plan (“2010 Incentive Plan”) providing for the Company to issue up to 900,000 shares of common stock to officers, directors, employees,
contractors and consultants for services provided to the Company. The Company registered shares to be issued under the Incentive Plan in a
Form S-8 filed with the SEC in April 2010. At March 31, 2012, 194,518 shares remained available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.
Fiscal Year 2013. For the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company awarded 89,768 shares of its common stock with an aggregate grant date
fair value of $160,082, which were valued based on the trading value of Lucas’ common stock on the dates of grant, according to the
employment agreements with certain officers and other managerial personnel. The stock compensation expense recognized for the awards of
these shares was $101,741 of which $58,341 was accrued in common stock payable. The Company also awarded 93,481 shares of its common
stock with an aggregate grant date fair value of $160,787, which were valued based on the trading value of Lucas’ common stock on the dates
of grant to certain officers and other managerial personnel as fiscal year 2012 bonus. The stock compensation expense recognized for the
awards was accrued in bonus payable.
Fiscal Year 2012. For the year ended March 31, 2012, the Company awarded 68,438 shares of its common stock with an aggregate grant date
fair value of $136,118, which were valued based on the trading value of Lucas’ common stock on the dates of grant. The shares were awarded
according to the employment agreements with certain officers and other managerial personnel. The stock compensation expense recognized for
the awards of these shares was $220,549 of which $84,431 was accrued in common stock payable.
Stock Options
The following summarizes Lucas’ stock option activity for each of the two years ended March 31, 2013:
2013
Number of
Weighted
Stock
Average
Options
Grant Price
456,000 $
2.88
747,668
1.50
(384,000)
3.04
819,668 $
1.55

Outstanding at Beginning of Period
Granted
Expired
Exercised
Outstanding at End of Period
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2012
Number of
Stock
Options
256,000
200,000
456,000

Weighted
Average
Grant Price
$
1.99
4.05
2.88
$

Lucas granted stock options to purchase shares of common stock during the year ended March 31, 2013 to an officer, directors and several
employees as employee based compensation. An officer was granted stock options to purchase 250,000 shares of common stock valued at
approximately $243,030, directors were granted stock options to purchase 216,668 shares of common stock valued at approximately $104,629,
several employees were granted stock options to purchase 206,000 shares of common stock valued at approximately $198,439 and a consultant
was granted stock options to purchase 75,000 shares of common stock valued at approximately $69,265.
Compensation expense related to 250,000 stock options granted to an officer during the year ended March 31, 2013 was $24,659. Of the
250,000 options 50,000 vested immediately, 150,000 vest 33% on each of the first three anniversary dates of the grant, and 50,000 vest on the
second anniversary of a different grant date, and all of the options have a five year exercise period. The exercise prices for the options equal the
closing price of the Company stock on the grant dates. All grants were valued at fair value on the date of grant based on the market value of
Lucas’ common stock using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used; dividend yield of
0.00%; expected volatility of 104.69%; risk-free interest rate of .38% and expected term of two years.
Compensation expense related to stock options granted to directors during the year ended March 31, 2013 was $32,426. The 216,668 options
vested at the rate of 1/12 of such options per month over the period from January 2013 to December 2013 and have a two year exercise
period. The exercise prices for the options equal the closing price of the Company stock on the grant dates. All grants were valued at fair value
on the date of grant based on the market value of Lucas’ common stock using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions; dividend yield of 0.00%; expected volatility of 90.08%; risk-free interest rate of .26% and expected term of 1.5
years.
Compensation expense related to stock options granted to several employees during the year ended March 31, 2013 was $24,102. The 206,000
options vest 25% of the grants on each of the first four anniversary dates and have a five year exercise period. The exercise prices for the
options equal the closing price of the Company stock on the grant dates. All grants were valued at fair value on the date of grant based on the
market value of Lucas’ common stock using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions;
dividend yield of 0.00%; expected volatility of 94.72%; risk-free interest rate of .49% and expected term of three years.
Compensation expense related to stock options granted to a consultant during the year ended March 31, 2013 was $2,309. The 75,000 options
vest 25% on each of the first four anniversary dates and have a five year exercise period. The exercise prices for the options equals the closing
price of the Company stock on the grant dates. All grants were valued at fair value on the date of grant based on the market value of Lucas’
common stock using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants; dividend yield
of 0.00%; expected volatility of 93.52%; risk-free interest rate of .40% and expected term of three years.
During the year ended March 31, 2013, Lucas had 384,000 options cancelled (including 200,000 options granted during fiscal 2012) due to
the departure of William Sawyer, the previous Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Andrew Lai, the previous Chief Financial Officer
of the Company. According to William Sawyer’s severance package the Company cancelled his options in exchange for $200,000, which
resulted in a modification of the stock options and immediate recognition of $339,742 of unamortized compensation expense plus an additional
$83,657 for the difference between the fair value of the options on the modification date and the purchase price of $200,000.
Compensation expense related to stock granted during the year ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 was $575,812 and $203,443,
respectively.
Options outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012 had an intrinsic value of $39,000 and $132,480, respectively. The
intrinsic value is based upon the difference between the market price of Lucas’s common stock on the date of exercise and the grant price of the
stock options.
At March 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options totaled $239,430. This unrecognized expense is
expected to be amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of 3.18 years.
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Options outstanding and exercisable as of March 31, 2013:
Exercise
Price
$2.07
$1.74
$1.63
$1.15
$1.61
$1.58

Remaining
Life (Yrs)
2.52
4.59
4.57
1.17
4.78
4.59

Options
Outstanding
72,000
150,000
206,000
216,668
50,000
125,000
819,668

Total

Options
Exercisable
72,000
50,000
66,672
188,672

NOTE 10 – SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Net cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Interest
Income taxes

$

2013
2012
36,843 $
16,008
74,011
-

Non-cash investing and financing activities for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 included the following:
2013
Issuance of note payable for the purchase of certain
oil and gas properties
Issuance of note payable for the purchase of certain
other property, plant and equipment
Issuance of preferred stock for the purchase of
certain oil and gas properties
Issuance of common stock for the purchase of
certain oil and gas properties
Note receivable for the sale of certain oil and
gas properties
Increase (Decrease) in asset retirement obligations
Receivable extinguished for oil and gas properties
Note Payable extinguished for oil and gas properties

2012

450,000

22,000,000

-

45,000

-

8,262,354

-

441,000

(181,970)
470,812
(23,098,496)

486,727
621,519
-

NOTE 11 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On April 4, 2013, the Company entered into a loan agreement with various lenders (the “Loan Agreement”) for an aggregate amount of
$2,750,000 (“Tranche A”) to be used for general working capital. The lenders included entities beneficially owned by our directors, Ken Daraie
(which entity loaned us $2,000,000) and W. Andrew Krusen, Jr. (which entities loaned us $250,000), as well as an unrelated third party which
loaned the Company $500,000.
Effective May 31, 2013 the Company borrowed additional funds totaling $500,000 under a substantially similar Loan Agreement (“Tranche B”)
with third party lenders.
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Both, the Tranche A and Tranche B loans were evidenced by promissory notes (herein the “Notes”). The Tranche A and Tranche B loans bear
interest of 14% per annum. The maturity for Tranche A is due and payable on or before October 4, 2013 and Tranche B is due and payable on
or before April 4, 2014. The Notes can be prepaid at any time without penalty. In the event of default, the Notes will accrue interest at the rate
of 17% per annum. The note holders were each granted a pro rata portion of warrants to purchase 325,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share, a term of five years and cashless exercise rights in the event the shares issuable
upon exercise of the warrants are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company must comply with certain standard covenants in connection with the Loan Agreement, including the requirement to continue to
have its common stock listed on the NYSE MKT (or any equivalent replacement exchange), and the requirement to continue to comply with the
filing requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Loan Agreement also includes that any proceeds received by the
Company through any future funding activities or through the sale of oil and gas properties or interests is required to first be applied to the
repayment of the Notes. The repayment of the Notes is secured by a first priority security interest in one hundred (100) barrels of oil per day of
net production from the Company’s owned and operated oil and gas properties, and all payments and proceeds associated therewith.
On April 8, 2013, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with Seidler Oil & Gas, L.P. (“Seidler”) on a lawsuit claiming a refund on
previous investments with Lucas Energy. The Company settled the outstanding balance and paid Seidler $1.3 million plus legal fees. Seidler
released the Company, its current and past officers, directors and agents from associated claims and Seidler agreed to dismiss the previously
filed lawsuit with prejudice. In addition, certain private investors also agreed to release the Company, Seidler, and their respective past and
present affiliates from any and all claims.
The Company filed a lawsuit against the holder of the Company’s 2,000 outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in the
District Court of Harris County, Texas, on May 9, 2013, seeking a declaratory judgment that the 2,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock should be cancelled, injunctive relief prohibiting the holder from selling or transferring the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and
attorney’s fees. The outcome of the litigation matter cannot be determined at this time with any reasonable certainty.
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Supplemental Oil and Gas Disclosures (Unaudited)
The following disclosures for the Company are made in accordance with authoritative guidance regarding disclosures about oil and natural gas
producing activities. Users of this information should be aware that the process of estimating quantities of "proved," "proved developed," and
"proved undeveloped" crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas reserves is complex, requiring significant subjective decisions in the
evaluation of all available geological, engineering and economic data for each reservoir. The data for a given reservoir may also change
substantially over time as a result of numerous factors including, but not limited to, additional development activity, evolving production history
and continual reassessment of the viability of production under varying economic conditions. Consequently, material revisions (upward or
downward) to existing reserve estimates may occur from time to time. Although reasonable effort is made to ensure that reserve estimates
reported represent the most accurate assessments possible, the significance of the subjective decisions required and variances in available data
for various reservoirs make these estimates generally less precise than other estimates presented in connection with financial statement
disclosures.
Proved reserves represent estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas that geoscience and engineering data can estimate,
with reasonable certainty, to be economically producible from a given day forward from known reservoirs under economic conditions,
operating methods and government regulation before the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates
that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used for the estimation.
Proved developed reserves are proved reserves expected to be recovered under operating methods being utilized at the time the estimates were
made, through wells and equipment in place or if the cost of any required equipment is relatively minor compared to the cost of a new well.
Proved undeveloped reserves are reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a
relatively major expenditure is required. Reserves on undrilled acreage are limited to those directly offsetting development spacing areas that are
reasonably certain of production when drilled, unless evidence using reliable technology exists that establishes reasonable certainty of economic
producibility at greater distances. Undrilled locations can be classified as having undeveloped reserves only if a development plan has been
adopted indicating that they are scheduled to be drilled within five years, unless the specific circumstances justify a longer time. Estimates for
proved undeveloped reserves are not attributed to any acreage for which an application of fluid injection or other improved recovery technique is
contemplated, unless such techniques have been proved effective by actual projects in the same reservoir or an analogous reservoir, or by other
evidence using reliable technology establishing reasonable certainty.
On March 29, 2013, the Company entered into a settlement with Nordic on its previous purchase and sale agreement, dated October 13, 2011,
of certain oil, natural gas, and mineral leases located in Gonzales, Karnes, and Wilson counties in Texas. The transaction settled and terminated
the outstanding $22 million senior secured promissory note due to Nordic for certain assets of the Company, and resulted in the return to
Nordic of ownership of the previously acquired assets. Some of these assets were included in the 2012 reserve report, therefore both the
Proved Developed and the Proved Undeveloped reserves were negatively affected for the current year ending March 31, 2013 as a result of the
settlement, the Company’s liabilities also decreased by $22 million in connection with the cancellation of the note.
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PROVED RESERVE SUMMARY
All of the Company's reserves are located in the United States. The following tables sets forth Lucas’ net proved reserves, including proved
developed and proved undeveloped reserves, at March 31st for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2013, and the changes in
the net proved reserves for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2013, as estimated by the international petroleum consulting
firm Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.:

2013

March 31,
2012

2011

Crude Oil (Bbls)
Net proved reserves at beginning of year
Revisions of previous estimates
Purchases in place
Extensions, discoveries and other additions
Sales in place
Production
Net proved reserves at end of year

7,023,520
(1,980,284)
14,050
1,908,362
(1,750,278)
(84,227)
5,131,143

2,768,200
(313,810)
1,193,746
3,456,560
(26,710)
(54,466)
7,023,520

1,970,230
(575,988)
284,155
1,464,040
(336,550)
(37,687)
2,768,200

Natural Gas (Mcf)
Net proved reserves at beginning of year
Revisions of previous estimates
Purchases in place
Extensions, discoveries and other additions
Sales in place
Production
Net proved reserves at end of year

10,722,480
(8,721,436)
1,336,108
(685,027)
(9,236)
2,644,889

843,250
194,160
9,699,630
(14,560)
10,722,480

31,170
37,187
126,200
657,430
(8,737)
843,250

Oil Equivalents (Boe)
Net proved reserves at beginning of year
Revisions of previous estimates
Purchases in place
Extensions, discoveries and other additions
Sales in place
Production
Net proved reserves at end of year

8,810,600
(3,433,857)
14,050
2,131,047
(1,864,449)
(85,766)
5,571,625

2,908,742
(281,450)
1,193,746
5,073,165
(26,710)
(56,893)
8,810,600

1,975,425
(569,790)
305,188
1,573,612
(336,550)
(39,143)
2,908,742
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RESERVES
During the year ended March 31, 2013, Lucas adjusted its reserves approximately 3.2 million BOE of proved reserves primarily due to: the
settlement and termination of the Nordic transaction that occurred in October 2011, adjustments on our undeveloped acreage in the Eagle Ford
and Austin Chalk formations, and adjustments to our oil to gas ratios.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, Lucas added 1.6 million BOE of proved reserves primarily in the Eagle Ford and Austin Chalk
formations. Approximately 93% of the reserve additions were crude oil. Sales in place of 0.3 million BOE were primarily related to farmouts
of the Eagle Ford formation. See Note 4.
The following table sets forth Lucas’ proved developed and proved undeveloped reserves at March 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011:

2013
Proved Developed Reserves
Crude Oil (Bbls)
Natural Gas (Mcf)
Oil Equivalents (Boe)

At March 31,
2012

2011

251,243
251,243

402,360
402,360

106,960
73,820
119,263

Proved Undeveloped Reserves
Crude Oil (Bbls)
Natural Gas (Mcf)
Oil Equivalents (Boe)

4,879,900
2,642,894
5,320,382

6,621,156
10,722,480
8,408,236

2,661,240
769,430
2,789,478

Proved Reserves
Crude Oil (Bbls)
Natural Gas (Mcf)
Oil Equivalents (Boe)

5,131,143
2,642,894
5,571,625

7,023,516
10,722,480
8,810,596

2,768,200
843,250
2,908,742

Probable Undeveloped Reserves
Crude Oil (Bbls)
Natural Gas (Mcf)
Oil Equivalents (Boe)

1,438,059
1,378,143
1,667,750

-

1,334,800
809,630
1,469,738

*The Company engaged Forrest Garb & Associates, an independent reserve engineering firm, to provide a reserve report on the
Company’s properties. The reserve report has been included as an exhibit to the financial statements.
For the year ended March 31, 2013, total proved undeveloped reserves (PUDs) decreased by 3.1 million BOE to 5.3 million BOE. The proved
undeveloped reserve reductions were primarily due to our settlement and termination of the Nordic transaction (see “Item 3. Legal
Proceedings”), additional Eagle Ford wells, and revised oil and gas ratios. We had no proved developed non-producing BOE and we did not
transfer any proved undeveloped reserves to proved developed reserves during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.
Lucas does not have a material amount of reserves that have remained undeveloped for five years or more. In addition, our plan is to convert
our PUD balance as of March 31, 2013 to proved developed reserves within five years or prior to the end of fiscal year 2018.
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Our reserves concentrate mainly in the Eagle Ford, Austin Chalk, Buda and Glen Rose formations. At March 31, 2013, Lucas’ proved reserves
for the Eagle Ford and Austin Chalk formations were 5.2 million BOE, or 95%, and 0.3 million BOE, or 5%, of the total proved developed and
undeveloped reserves of 5.6 million BOE.
The following table sets forth Lucas’ net reserves in BOE by reserve category and by formation at March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Proved Developed

Proved
Developed
Non-Producing

Proved Undeveloped

Total

Proved

Eagle Ford
At March 31, 2013
At March 31, 2012

25,867
195,432

-

3,504,803
3,877,769

3,530,670
4,073,201

Austin Chalk
At March 31, 2013
At March 31, 2012

215,108
170,209

-

1,500,134
2,290,064

1,715,242
2,460,273

Buda & Glen Rose
At March 31, 2013
At March 31, 2012

541
21,296

-

315,449
2,240,403

315,990
2,261,699

Other
At March 31, 2013
At March 31, 2012

9,723
15,423

-

-

9,723
15,423

251,239
402,360

-

5,320,386
8,408,236

5,571,625
8,810,596

Total
At March 31, 2013
At March 31, 2012

Capitalized Costs Relating to Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities. The following table sets forth the capitalized costs relating to Lucas’
crude oil and natural gas producing activities at March 31, 2013 and 2012:
At March 31,
Proved leasehold costs
Costs of wells and development
Capitalized asset retirement costs
Total cost of oil and gas properties
Accumulated depreciation and depletion
Net Capitalized Costs

$

$
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2013
10,002,828 $
33,961,775
745,197
44,709,800
(9,077,997)
35,631,803 $

2012
35,454,781
29,858,429
927,165
66,240,375
(5,625,961)
60,614,414

Costs Incurred in Oil and Natural Gas Property Acquisition, Exploration and Development Activities. The following table sets forth the costs
incurred in Lucas’ oil and natural gas property acquisition, exploration and development activities for the years ended March 31, 2013 and
2012:
2013
Acquisition of properties
Proved
Unproved
Exploration costs
Development costs
Total

$

$

116,700
4,782,327
4,899,027

2012
$

$

32,797,515
12,354,246
45,151,761

Results of Operations for Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities. The following table sets forth the results of operations for oil and natural
gas producing activities for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

Crude oil and natural gas revenues
Production costs
Depreciation and depletion
Results of operations for producing activities,
excluding corporate overhead and interest costs

$

2013
8,247,084 $
(4,192,223)
(3,452,036)

2012
5,258,461
(4,605,979)
(1,916,242)

$

602,825

(1,263,760)

$

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves. The following information
has been developed utilizing procedures prescribed by ASC Topic 932 and based on crude oil and natural gas reserves and production volumes
estimated by the independent petroleum consultants of Lucas. The estimates were based on a 12-month average for commodity prices for the
years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. The following information may be useful for certain comparison purposes, but should not be solely
relied upon in evaluating Lucas or its performance. Further, information contained in the following table should not be considered as
representative of realistic assessments of future cash flows, nor should the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows be
viewed as representative of the current value of Lucas.
The future cash flows presented below are based on cost rates and statutory income tax rates in existence as of the date of the projections and
average prices over the preceding twelve months. It is expected that material revisions to some estimates of crude oil and natural gas reserves
may occur in the future, development and production of the reserves may occur in periods other than those assumed, and actual prices realized
and costs incurred may vary significantly from those used.
Management does not rely upon the following information in making investment and operating decisions. Such decisions are based upon a
wide range of factors, including estimates of probable and possible as well as proved reserves, and varying price and cost assumptions
considered more representative of a range of possible economic conditions that may be anticipated.
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The following table sets forth the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from projected production of Lucas’ oil and natural
gas reserves as of March 31, 2013 and 2012:
At March 31,
Future cash inflows
Future production costs
Future development costs
Future income taxes
Future net cash flows
Discount to present value at 10% annual rate
Standardized measure of discounted future net
cash flows relating to proved oil and gas
reserves

$

$

2013
546,811,370 $
(80,809,010)
(177,353,400)
(75,034,354)
213,614,606
(115,462,563)
98,152,043

$

2012
688,709,390
(107,064,090)
(300,395,000)
(72,444,823)
208,805,477
(133,420,621)
75,384,856

Changes in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows. The following table sets forth the changes in the standardized
measure of discounted future net cash flows at March 31, for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2013:

Standardized measure, beginning of year
Crude oil and natural gas sales, net of production costs
Net changes in prices and production costs
Extensions, discoveries, additions and improved recovery
Changes in estimated future development costs
Development costs incurred
Revisions of previous quantity estimates
Accretion of discount
Net change in income taxes
Purchases of reserves in place
Sales of reserves in place
Change in timing of estimated future production
Standardized measure, end of year
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$

$

2013
75,384,856 $
(4,054,861)
81,109,584
50,696,971
72,652,500
15,848,464
(180,722,311)
10,434,472
(5,507,907)
519,924
(23,115,750)
4,906,101
98,152,043 $

2012
42,724,817
(1,059,860)
(9,255,307)
41,658,210
(12,435,000)
2,410,000
(5,465,785)
5,648,786
(15,196,819)
22,710,732
(998,050)
4,643,132
75,384,856

ITEM 9.
CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”)) are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission
rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management, with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of March 31, 2013, as required by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluation described above, our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, have concluded that, as of March 31, 2013, our disclosure controls and procedures
are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
under the supervision of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and includes those policies and procedures that:
·

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the issuer;

·

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the issuer are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the issuer; and

·

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
issuer's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and, even when
determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate as a result
of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance.
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Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2013 based on the
criteria framework established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the assessment, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of March 31, 2013.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our register public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the
Securities and Exchange commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2013 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.

65

PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS and CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The following table sets forth the names, ages, and offices held by our directors and executive officers:
Name

Position

Ryan J. Morris
Anthony C. Schnur
William J. Dale

Chairman of Board
Chief Executive Officer
Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Secretary
Director
Director
Director
Director

Ken Daraie
J. Fred Hofheinz
W. Andrew Krusen, Jr.
Fred S. Zeidman

Date First
Elected/Appointed
October 1, 2012
December 12, 2012
April 4, 2013
December 12, 2012
September 18, 2008
October 8, 2009
June 24, 2013

Age
28
47
43
54
75
65
66

Information Concerning the Board of Directors and its Committees.
All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified. There are
no agreements with respect to the election of directors. We have historically compensated our directors for service on the Board and committees
thereof through the issuance of shares of common stock and nominal cash compensation for meeting fees. Additionally, we reimburse directors
for expenses incurred by them in connection with the attendance at meetings of the Board and any committee thereof (as described below). The
Board appoints annually the executive officers of the Company and the executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board.
The business experience of each of the persons listed above during the past five years is as follows:
RYAN J. MORRIS, CHAIRMAN OF BOARD, CHAIR OF NOMINATING & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Ryan J. Morris is the Managing Member of Meson Capital Partners LLC (“Meson LLC”), a San Francisco-based investment partnership,
which he founded in February 2009. Mr. Morris is currently Executive Chairman of the Board of InfuSystem Holdings, Inc., an NYSE-MKT
listed company. From June 2011 through July 2012, Mr. Morris served as a member of the equity committee responsible for maximizing
value to the stockholders of Hear USA, Inc. (subsequently HUSA Liquidating Corporation), an NYSE Amex-listed company in Chapter 11
bankruptcy, which has since liquidated its assets and ceased operations. Prior to founding Meson LLC, in July 2008 he co-founded
VideoNote LLC, a small and profitable educational software company with customers including Cornell University and The World Bank, and
he continues to serve as its Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Morris has a Bachelor’s of Science and Masters of Engineering degree in Operations
Research & Information Engineering from Cornell University, and holds the Chartered Financial Analyst designation.
Director Qualifications:
Mr. Morris has experience in the oil and gas industry and the business world in general, in particular with respect to publicly listed companies.
He also has extensive academic and practical knowledge of doing business in Texas and the United States. In addition, we believe Mr. Morris
demonstrates personal and professional integrity, ability, judgment, and effectiveness in serving the long-term interests of the Company’s
shareholders. As such, we believe that Mr. Morris is qualified to serve as a director.
ANTHONY C. SCHNUR, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Schnur is a results oriented manager with a history of positioning companies for growth, preserving value and return of capital. By
removing systemic organizational obstacles, streamlining operations and implementing efficient financial controls, profit was achieved and
underperforming organizations turned around.
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Prior to joining Lucas in 2012, Mr. Schnur spent three years as the CFO of Chroma Oil & Gas; a private equity backed E&P with operations
in Texas and Louisiana.
For eight years he was an independent executive where he held various non-traditional
employee/consultant/CFO/advisor roles. He has developed strategic business plans, raised debt and equity capital, and provided asset
management, cash flow forecasts, transaction modeling and development planning for both start-ups and special situations. On three separate
occasions Mr. Schnur was asked to lead work-out/turn-around initiatives in the E&P space.
Over twenty years of extensive oil and gas and financial management positions have afforded him experience in several different financial
functions, as well as Human Resources and Information Technology roles. Previous positions include Director of Structured Transactions for
Aquila Energy Capital Corporation, Natural Gas marketer for Aquila Energy Marketing and tenures with Cargill, Inc., National City Bank and
PNC Corp.
WILLIAM J. DALE, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, TREASURER, AND SECRETARY
Mr. Dale brings over 17 years of oil and gas industry financial experience across corporate finance, treasury, strategic planning, and financial
reporting, planning and analysis functions both at large global corporations as well as small, entrepreneurial oil and gas companies. Most
recently he served as a financial consultant for several private equity and independent E&P companies, having previously served as Director of
Finance, Planning & Analysis for Global Industries Ltd., a $575 Million in revenue, Nasdaq-traded oil & gas service company. Prior posts
include CFO and Controller at KD Resources, a private E&P company and CFO, Treasurer and Secretary at Blue Dolphin Energy, a Nasdaq
Midstream and E&P company. He also has prior experience working at Rosetta Resources, Huber Energy, El Paso Corporation, Columbia
Energy and Tejas Gas (acquired by Shell Oil). Mr. Dale earned dual Bachelor degrees in accounting and finance and has an MBA from the
University of Houston. He is also a Texas Certified Public Accountant.
KEN DARAIE, DIRECTOR, CHAIR OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
Since April 2011, Mr. Daraie has served as Vice President of Operations of Wold Oil Properties, Inc. (WOPI) where he assists with business
development, engineering and operations management. Prior to joining WOPI, he served from January 2007 to March 2011 as David
Freudenthal’s, the former Governor of Wyoming’s, appointee as the Executive Director of the Wyoming School Facilities Commission. Mr.
Daraie oversaw creation of systems and processes necessary for deployment of over $1 billion in capital construction funds in the state.
Mr. Daraie founded Continental Industries, LC (“Continental”), a vertically integrated oil and gas company based in Wyoming, in 1995, and
served as its President until 2005. In 2001 the company was divided into four separate entities specializing in exploration and production,
oilfield services, midstream gathering, and a royalty and real estate acquisition firm. In 2006, the oil and gas assets and the gathering systems
were divested.
Prior to forming Continental, Mr. Daraie served as General Manager of Barlow and Haun, a Rocky Mountain area oil and gas exploration
company, and as a project manager with Fluor Daniel, an international construction company. His experience also includes reservoir
simulation, reservoir engineering, and production engineering positions with both Conoco, Inc. and Sun Exploration and Production
Company.
Mr. Daraie’s assignments have included implementation and optimization of enhanced oil recovery projects in Louisiana and California, as
well as oil and gas field rehabilitation and optimization in the U.S. Gulf Coast area, the Rocky Mountain region, and North Dakota.
Mr. Daraie has served on the Board of Directors of Double Eagle Petroleum Company Inc. (DBLE) and Energy West Federal Credit
Union. He was elected to and served as Chairman of the Natrona County, Wyoming School Board of Trustees and the Casper, Wyoming
City Council. Mr. Daraie is a registered professional engineer, and has been a member of the Society of Petroleum Engineers since 1980. Mr.
Daraie received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Physics from Baylor University in 1979 and a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum
Engineering from the University of Texas at Austin in 1982.
67

Director Qualifications:
The Board of Directors believes that Mr. Daraie’s extensive experience in the oil and gas industry, as well as his knowledge of business
development, engineering and operations management, makes Mr. Daraie a valued addition to the Board of Directors.
J. FRED HOFHEINZ, DIRECTOR
Mr. Hofheinz, the former Mayor of the city of Houston (1974-1978), began his business career with his late father, Roy Hofheinz, Sr., who
built the Houston Astrodome. Mr. Hofheinz played a key role in the family real estate development projects surrounding the Astrodome,
including an amusement park – Astroworld and four hotels. He was the senior officer of Ringling Brothers Barnum and Bailey Circus, which
was owned by the Hofheinz family. In 1971, Mr. Hofheinz co-founded a closed circuit television company, Top Rank, which is now the
leading professional boxing promotion firm in the nation. He has served as President of the Texas Municipal League and served on the
boards of numerous other state and national organizations for municipal government elected officials. In addition to his law practice, Mr.
Hofheinz also owned several direct interests in oil and natural gas companies. He has also dealt extensively with business interests, primarily
oil and natural gas related, in the People’s Republic of China and in the Ukraine.
For the past five years Mr. Hofheinz has been an investor and a practicing attorney with the firm of Williams, Birnberg & Anderson LLP in
Houston, Texas. While he has numerous investments in real estate, his principal investment interest is in oil and natural gas. He has been
actively engaged in successful exploration and production ventures, both domestic and international. He holds a PhD in economics, from the
University of Texas and takes an active interest in Houston’s civic and charitable affairs. He was admitted to the Texas bar in 1964, having
received his preparatory education at the University of Texas, (B.A., M.A., Ph.D., 1960-1964); and his Legal education at the University of
Houston (J.D., 1964). From July 1, 2007 to February 28, 2011, Mr. Hofheinz served as a Manager of El Tex Petroleum, LLC, which Lucas
entered into an acquisition transaction with during fiscal 2010.
Director Qualifications:
Mr. Hofheinz has extensive experience in the oil and natural gas industry and the business world in general, in particular with respect to
publicly listed companies. He also has extensive academic and practical knowledge of doing business in Texas and the United States. In
addition, we believe Mr. Hofheinz demonstrates personal and professional integrity, ability, judgment, and effectiveness in serving the longterm interests of the Company’s shareholders. As such, we believe that Mr. Hofheinz is qualified to serve as a director.
W. ANDREW KRUSEN, JR. – DIRECTOR, CHAIR OF THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Krusen has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Dominion Financial Group, Inc. since 1987. Dominion Financial is a merchant
banking organization that provides investment capital to the natural resources, communications and manufacturing and distribution sectors. Mr.
Krusen is currently a Director and chairman of Florida Capital Group, Inc. – a Florida bank holding company, as well as Florida Capital Bank,
N.A. its wholly-owned subsidiary. He also serves as a Director of publicly-traded Canada Fluorspar Inc., a specialty mineral concern; and
Raymond James Trust Company, a subsidiary of Raymond James Financial, Inc. – and numerous privately held companies, including Beall’s
Inc., Telovations, Inc., and Romark Laboratories, LLC. Mr. Krusen is a former member of the Young Presidents’ Organization, and he is
currently a member of the World President’s Organization, and Society of International Business Fellows. He is past Chairman of Tampa's
Museum of Science and Industry. Mr. Krusen graduated from Princeton University in 1970. From July 1, 2007 to February 28, 2011, Mr.
Krusen served as a Manager of El Tex Petroleum, LLC, which Lucas entered into an acquisition transaction with during fiscal year 2010.
Director Qualifications:
Mr. Krusen has extensive experience in the oil and natural gas industry and the business world in general, in particular with respect to founding
and funding publicly listed companies. He also has extensive academic and practical knowledge of doing business in Texas and the United
States. In addition, we believe Mr. Krusen demonstrates personal and professional integrity, ability, judgment, and effectiveness in serving the
long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders. As a result of the above, we believe that Mr. Krusen is qualified to serve as a director.
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FRED S. ZEIDMAN - DIRECTOR
Mr. Zeidman has served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of Petroflow Energy Corporation since September 2011 and as a Director of
Petro River Oil Corporation since April 2013. Mr. Zeidman has also served as a director of Hyperdynamics Corporation since 2009 and as a
director of Prosperity Bancshares, Inc. since 1986. He currently also serves as trustee for the AremisSoft Liquidating Trust (a position he has
held since 2004). In March 2013, Mr. Zeidman was appointed to the Board of Straight Path Communications Inc. In March 2008, Mr.
Zeidman was appointed the Interim President of Nova Biosource Fuels, Inc. ("Nova"), a publicly-traded biodiesel technology company, and
served in that position until the company's acquisition in November 2009. Mr. Zeidman also served as a director of Nova from June 2007 to
November 2009. From August 2009 through November 2009, Mr. Zeidman served as Chief Restructuring Officer for Transmeridian
Exploration, Inc. and served in that position until its sale in November 2009. Mr. Zeidman has served on the board of Prosperity Bank for 26
years. He also served as CEO, President and Chairman of the Board of Seitel Inc., an oil field services company, from June 2002 until its sale
in February 2007. Mr. Zeidman served as a Managing Director of the law firm Greenberg Traurig, LLP from July 2003 to December 2008.
Mr. Zeidman has served as CEO, Interim CEO and Chairman of the Board of a variety of companies, including several in the oil and gas
sector.
Mr. Zeidman is the Chairman Emeritus of the United States Holocaust Memorial Council. He was appointed to that position by former
President George W. Bush in March 2002 and served from 2002-2010. He is also Chairman Emeritus of the University of Texas Health
Science System Houston and is on the Board of Trustees of the Texas Heart Institute (where he currently serves as Interim Chief Financial
Officer) and the Institute for Rehabilitation and Research (TIRR). He currently serves on the Board of Directors and Executive Committee of
the University of Saint Thomas and chairs its Development Committee and Houston Community College. Mr. Zeidman received his Bachelor
of Science and Bachelor of Arts from Washington University and a Masters of Business Administration from New York University.
Director Qualifications:
The Board of Directors believes that Mr. Zeidman is highly qualified to serve as a member of the Board of Directors due to his significant
experience serving as a director of public and private companies and institutions and his substantial understanding of the oil and gas industry in
general.
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Family Relationships
There are no family relationships among our directors or executive officers.
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
Our directors, executive officers and control persons have not been involved in any of the following events during the past ten years:
1.

any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at
the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;

2.

any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other
minor offenses);

3.

being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent
jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of
business, securities or banking activities; or

4.

being found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended,
or vacated.

Board Leadership Structure
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are currently held separately. Mr. Morris serves as Chairman and
Mr. Schnur serves as Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors does not have a policy as to whether the Chairman should be an
independent director, an affiliated director, or a member of management. Our Board believes that the Company’s current leadership structure is
appropriate because it effectively allocates authority, responsibility, and oversight between management and the independent members of our
Board (including Mr. Morris as Chairman). It does this by giving primary responsibility for the operational leadership and strategic direction of
the Company to our Chief Executive Officer, while enabling the independent directors to facilitate our Board’s independent oversight of
management, promote communication between management and our Board, and support our Board’s consideration of key governance matters.
The Board believes that its programs for overseeing risk, as described below, would be effective under a variety of leadership frameworks and
therefore do not materially affect its choice of structure.
Risk Oversight
The Board exercises direct oversight of strategic risks to the Company. The Audit Committee reviews and assesses the Company’s processes to
manage business and financial risk and financial reporting risk. It also reviews the Company’s policies for risk assessment and assesses steps
management has taken to control significant risks. The Compensation Committee oversees risks relating to compensation programs and policies.
In each case management periodically reports to our Board or relevant committee, which provides the relevant oversight on risk assessment and
mitigation.
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires our directors and officers, and the persons
who beneficially own more than ten percent of our common stock, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Copies
of all filed reports are required to be furnished to us pursuant to Rule 16a-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.
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We believe that, during fiscal 2013 and to date during fiscal 2014, our directors, executive officers, and 10% stockholders complied with all
Section 16(a) filing requirements, with the exceptions noted below (and certain exceptions previously noted in our March 31, 2012 Form 10K Annual Report):
(a)

Anthony C. Schnur, our Chief Executive Officer, inadvertently did not timely file (i) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with
the grant by the Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on February 11, 2013, which
report was not filed until February 14, 2013; (ii) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the issuance by the Company of
2,532 net shares of common stock (after certain shares were forfeited in lieu of the payment of a tax liability) on March 31,
2013, which report was not filed until April 12, 2013; (iii) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the issuance by the
Company of 13,470 net shares of common stock (after certain shares were forfeited in lieu of the payment of a tax liability) on
May 13, 2013, which report was not filed until May 16, 2013, and which shares have not been physically issued to date or
reflected in the issued and outstanding shares disclosed throughout this Report; and (iv) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection
with the issuance of 1,459 shares of common stock to Mr. Schnur in January 2013, which Form 4 Mr. Schnur plans to file
shortly after the filing of this Report;

(b)

Ryan J. Morris, our director, inadvertently did not timely file a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by the
Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on December 20, 2012, which report was not
filed until December 28, 2012;

(c)

W. Andrew Krusen, Jr., our director, inadvertently did not timely file (i) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the
acquisition of certain shares of common stock on August 6, 2012, which report was not filed until August 27, 2012; and (ii) a
Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by the Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock on December 20, 2012, which report was not filed until January 3, 2013;

(d)

Ken Daraie, our director, inadvertently did not timely file (i) a Form 3 reporting his initial ownership of the Company’s
securities when he became a director of the Company on December 14, 2012, which report was not filed until December 27,
2012; and (ii) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by the Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock on December 20, 2012, which report was not filed until December 28, 2012;

(e)

Joshua D. Young, our former director, inadvertently did not timely file a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by
the Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on December 20, 2012, which report was
not filed until December 28, 2012;

(f)

J. Fred Hofheinz, our director, inadvertently did not timely file (i) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the sale by him of
certain warrants on August 24, 2012, which report was not filed until September 4, 2012; (ii) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection
with the acquisition of certain shares of common stock on August 6, 2012, which report was not filed until October 3, 2012; and
(iii) a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by the Company of options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock on December 20, 2012, which report was not filed until December 28, 2012; and

(g)

Peter Grunebaum, our former director, did not file a Form 4 with the SEC in connection with the grant by the Company of
options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock on December 20, 2012, which report has not been filed to
date.

In making these statements, we have relied upon examination of the copies of Forms 3, 4, and 5, and amendments to these forms, provided to
us and/or the written representations of our directors, executive officers, and 10% stockholders.
CODE OF ETHICS
The Company adopted a code of ethics (Code) that applies to all of its directors, officers, employees, consultants, contractors and agents of the
Company. The Code of Ethics has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors. The Company’s Code of Ethics was filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 31, 2009 filed with the SEC on June 29, 2009 as Exhibit 14.1. Original copies of the Code
of Ethics are available, free of charge, by submitting a written request to the Company at 3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas
77027.
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WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION POLICY
The Company adopted a Whistleblower Protection Policy (Policy) that applies to all of its directors, officers, employees, consultants,
contractors and agents of the Company. The Whistleblower Policy has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors. The Company’s
Whistleblower Policy was filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K dated March 31, 2009 filed with the SEC on June 29, 2009 as
Exhibit 14.2. Original copies of the Whistleblower Policy are available, free of charge, by submitting a written request to the Company at 3555
Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas 77027.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
MEETINGS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
During the fiscal year that ended on March 31, 2013, the Board held eight meetings and took various other actions via the unanimous written
consent of the Board of Directors and the various committees described below. All directors attended at least 75% of the Board of Directors
meetings and committee meetings relating to the committees on which each director served during fiscal year 2013. All of the then current
directors, including Mr. Ken Daraie who was elected to the Board at the 2012 Annual Shareholder meeting, attended our fiscal year 2012
Annual Shareholder meeting held December 12, 2012. The Company encourages, but does not require all directors to be present at annual
meetings of shareholders.
The Board has a standing Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Governance Committee.
The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Daraie (chair), Mr. Hofheinz and Mr. Zeidman, each of whom is independent as defined in
Section 803(A) of the NYSE MKT LLC Company Guide. The Audit Committee’s function is to provide assistance to the Board in fulfilling
the Board’s oversight functions relating to the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the independent auditor’s qualifications and independence and the performance of the Company’s independent
auditors, and perform such other activities consistent with its charter and our By-laws as the Committee or the Board deems appropriate. The
Audit Committee produces an annual report for inclusion in our proxy statement. The Audit Committee is directly responsible for the
appointment, retention, compensation, oversight and evaluation of the work of the independent registered public accounting firm (including
resolution of disagreements between our management and the independent registered public accounting firm regarding financial reporting) for
the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or related work. The Audit Committee shall review and pre-approve all audit services, and
non-audit services that exceed a de minimis standard, to be provided to us by our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit
Committee carries out all functions required by the NYSE MKT, the SEC and the federal securities laws. The Board has determined that Mr.
Daraie, Mr. Hofheinz and Mr. Zeidman are “independent,” and Mr. Daraie is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in the SEC’s
Regulation S-K, Item 407(d). During fiscal year 2013, the Audit Committee held four meetings. The Audit Committee’s charter is available on
our website at www.lucasenergy.com.
The Compensation Committee is comprised of Mr. Krusen (chair), Mr. Morris, Mr. Daraie and Mr. Zeidman each of whom is independent as
defined in Section 803(A) of the NYSE MKT LLC Company Guide. The purpose of the Compensation Committee is to oversee the
responsibilities relating to compensation of our executives and produce a report on executive compensation for inclusion in our proxy
statement. The Compensation Committee may delegate its authority to subcommittees of independent directors, as it deems appropriate. During
fiscal year 2013, the Compensation Committee held one meeting. The Compensation Committee’s charter is available on our website at
www.lucasenergy.com.
The Nominating and Governance Committee is comprised of Mr. Morris (chair), Mr. Hofheinz and Mr. Daraie, each of whom is independent
as defined in Section 803(A) of the NYSE MKT LLC Company Guide. This Committee is responsible for (1) assisting the Board by
identifying individuals qualified to become Board members; (2) recommending individuals to the Board for nomination as members of the
Board and its committees; (3) leading the Board in its annual review of the Board’s performance; (4) monitoring the attendance, preparation and
participation of individual directors and to conduct a performance evaluation of each director prior to the time he or she is considered for renomination to the Board; (5) reviewing and recommending to the Board responses to shareowner proposals; (6) monitoring and evaluating
corporate governance issues and trends; (7) providing oversight of the corporate governance affairs of the Board and the Company, including
consideration of the risk oversight responsibilities of the full Board and its committees; (8) assisting the Board in organizing itself to discharge
its duties and responsibilities properly and effectively; and (9) assisting the Board in ensuring proper attention and effective response to
stockholder concerns regarding corporate governance.. We have not paid any third party a fee to assist in the process of identifying and
evaluating candidates for director. The Nominating and Governance Committee’s charter is available on our website at www.lucasenergy.com.
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NOMINATIONS FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board considers nominees for director based upon a number of qualifications, including
their personal and professional integrity, ability, judgment, and effectiveness in serving the long-term interests of the Company’s
shareholders. There are no specific, minimum or absolute criteria for Board membership. The Committee makes every effort to ensure that the
Board and its Committees include at least the required number of independent directors, as that term is defined by applicable standards
promulgated by the NYSE MKT and/or the SEC.
The Nominating and Governance Committee may use its network of contacts to compile a list of potential candidates. The Nominating and
Governance Committee has not in the past relied upon professional search firms to identify director nominees, but may engage such firms if so
desired. The Nominating and Governance Committee may meet to discuss and consider candidates’ qualifications and then choose a candidate
by majority vote.
The Nominating and Governance Committee will consider qualified director candidates recommended in good faith by shareholders, provided
those nominees meet the requirements of NYSE MKT and applicable federal securities law. The Nominating and Governance Committee’s
evaluation of candidates recommended by shareholders does not differ materially from its evaluation of candidates recommended from other
sources. Any shareholder wishing to recommend a nominee should submit the candidate’s name, credentials, contact information and his or her
written consent to be considered as a candidate. These recommendations should be submitted in writing to the Company, Attn: Corporate
Secretary, Lucas Energy, Inc., 3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas 77027. The proposing shareholder should also include his or
her contact information and a statement of his or her share ownership. The Committee may request further information about shareholder
recommended nominees in order to comply with any applicable laws, rules or regulations or to the extent such information is required to be
provided by such shareholder pursuant to any applicable laws, rules or regulations.
Communications with the Board of Directors
Stockholders may contact the Board of Directors about bona fide issues or questions about the Company by writing the Corporate Secretary at
the following address: Attn: Corporate Secretary, Lucas Energy, Inc., 3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas 77027.
Any matter intended for the Board of Directors, or for any individual member or members of the Board of Directors, should be directed to the
address noted above, with a request to forward the communication to the intended recipient or recipients. In general, any stockholder
communication delivered to the Corporate Secretary for forwarding to the Board of Directors or specified member or members will be
forwarded in accordance with the stockholder’s instructions.
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ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth compensation information with respect to our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, who are
the only executive officers who made in excess of $100,000 during the years presented below, who were serving as executive officers at the
end of our fiscal year, and individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided herein but for the fact they were not serving as an
executive officer of the Company at the end of our fiscal year.
Name and
Principal
Position
Anthony C. Schnur
Chief Executive
Officer and former
Chief Financial
Officer (1)(2)
William A. Sawyer
(1)(3)
Former President
and
Chief Executive
Officer
K. Andrew Lai
(1)(4)
Former Chief
Financial Officer

Fiscal
Year

Salary

Stock
Awards

Bonus

Option
Awards

All Other
Comp

Total

2013

$

120,833

$

30,000

$

34,133

$

243,000

$

-

$

427,966

2013

$

125,958

$

-

$

37,500

$

-

$

518,500

$

681,958

2012

2013
2012

175,000

$

103,558
150,000

50,000

$

95,000

75,000

$

25,000
40,000

603,980

$

-

12,500

$

-

916,480

$

128,558
285,000

* Does not include perquisites and other personal benefits, or property, unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is more than
$10,000. No executive officer earned any non-equity incentive plan compensation or nonqualified deferred compensation during the periods
reported above. The value of the Stock Awards and Option Awards in the table above was calculated based on the fair value of such
securities calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718.
(1) Effective November 1, 2012, the Company accepted the resignation of K. Andrew Lai, as the Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Secretary of the Company, and appointed Anthony C. Schnur as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary. On
December 14, 2012, and effective December 12, 2012, William A. Sawyer resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and President and as a
director of the Company. Effective on the same date (December 12, 2012), the Board of Directors of the Company appointed Anthony C.
Schnur, as the Chief Executive Officer to fill the vacancy left by Mr. Sawyer’s resignation as Chief Executive Officer and President. Effective
April 4, 2013, the Company appointed William J. Dale as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary.
(2) During the year ended March 31, 2013, Mr. Schnur was paid a cash salary of $120,833. Mr. Schnur was issued a net of 3,991 shares of
common stock under the Company’s 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) after forfeiting shares for the payment of taxes. The
Company recorded $34,133 for shares issued to Mr. Schnur. Mr. Schnur also received a bonus of $30,000 in cash and 20,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for fiscal 2013 (13,470 net shares after forfeiting shares to pay his tax liability, which shares have not been
physically issued to date or included in the number of issued and outstanding shares disclosed throughout this report). During the year ended
March 31, 2013, Mr. Schnur was granted options to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company’s common at an exercise price of $1.74 per
share of which 50,000 options vested immediately and the remaining options vest at the rate of ½ of such options on November 1, 2013 and
2014; options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.61 per share, which vest on January 8,
2015; and options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.58 per share, which vest on November
1, 2015.
(3) During the year ended March 31, 2013, Mr. Sawyer (who resigned on December 14, 2012, effective December 12, 2012) was paid a cash
salary of $125,958. Mr. Sawyer was issued a net of 37,161 shares of common stock under the Company’s 2012 Plan after forfeiting shares for
the payment of taxes. The Company recorded $37,500 for shares issued to Mr. Sawyer.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, Mr. Sawyer was paid a cash salary of $175,000. Mr. Sawyer was issued 16,782 shares of common
stock under the Company’s 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”). The Company recorded $56,250 for shares issued under the
plans and accrued $18,750 for shares payable to Mr. Sawyer. The Company accrued bonuses for Mr. Sawyer for services rendered in 2012 of
$10,000 in cash and $40,000 in common shares. Shares payable and accrued bonus to Mr. Sawyer was paid in April 2012.
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Mr. Sawyer also received a grant for options to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock with a cumulative fair value of $603,980 in
consideration for serving as a director for the year ended March 31, 2011. The options vest 25% on each of the first four anniversary dates of
the grant, have a term of five years and an exercise price of $4.05 per share. Currently, the options are out of the money.
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, all Other Compensation consisted of the payment of $6,000 and $12,500,
respectively, attributable to Mr. Sawyer for attendance at Board of Directors meetings and also included $500,000 of severance pay (as
described in greater detail below under “Employment Agreements” – “William A. Sawyer”), for the year ended March 31, 2013.
(4) During the year ended March 31, 2013, Mr. Lai was paid a cash salary of $103,558. Mr. Lai was issued a net of 32,804 shares of common
stock under the 2012 Plan after forfeiting shares for the payment of taxes. The Company recorded $25,000 for shares issued to Mr. Lai.
During the year ended March 31, 2012, Mr. Lai was paid a cash salary of $150,000. Mr. Lai was issued 12,299 shares of common stock under
the 2010 Plan. The Company recorded $40,000 for shares issued under the plans to Mr. Lai. The Company accrued bonuses for Mr. Lai for
services rendered in 2012 of $50,000 in cash and $45,000 in common shares. Accrued bonus to Mr. Lai was paid in April 2012.
Employment Agreements
Anthony C. Schnur
Effective November 1, 2012, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Mr. Schnur to serve as the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company, which agreement was amended and restated effective December 12, 2012, in connection with his appointment as Chief
Executive Officer. The agreement has a term of two years, expiring on October 31, 2014, provided that the agreement is automatically
extended for additional one year terms, unless either party provides notice of their intent not to renew within the 30 day period prior to any
automatic renewal date. The Company agreed to pay Mr. Schnur a base annual salary of $310,000 during the term of the agreement, of which
$290,000 is payable in cash and $20,000 is payable in shares of the Company’s common stock. The stock consideration due under the
agreement is payable in quarterly installments at the end of each quarter, based on the stock price on the last day of each quarter. Mr. Schnur
is also eligible for an annual bonus of up to 30% of his base salary in cash or stock.
In the event the Employment Agreement is terminated by the Company for a reason other than cause (as described in the Employment
Agreement) or by Mr. Schnur for good reason (as described in the Employment Agreement), Mr. Schnur is due in the form of a lump sum
payment, the product of the base salary and bonus he was paid under the agreement for the prior 12 month period, provided that if such
termination occurs six months before or 24 months following the occurrence of a Change of Control (as described in the Employment
Agreement), Mr. Schnur is due 200% of the amount described above upon such termination. If Mr. Schnur's employment is terminated as a
result of death or Disability (as defined in the agreement), the Company will pay his base salary which would have been payable to Mr.
Schnur through the date his employment is terminated and all amounts actually earned, accrued or owing as of the date of termination. If Mr.
Schnur’s employment is terminated for Cause or Mr. Schnur voluntarily terminates his employment, the Company will pay his base salary and
all amounts actually earned, accrued or owing as of the date of termination and he will be entitled for a period of three months after termination
to exercise all Options granted to him under his employment agreement or otherwise to the extent vested and exercisable on the date of
termination. Mr. Schnur's employment agreement contains no covenant-not-to-compete or similar restrictions after termination. Additionally,
any and all unvested Options are forfeited upon the termination of the Employment Agreement.
During the year ended March 31, 2013, Mr. Schnur was granted options to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company’s common at an
exercise price of $1.74 per share of which 50,000 options vested immediately and the remaining options vest at the rate of ½ of such options
on November 1, 2013 and 2014; options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.61 per share,
which vest on January 8, 2015; and options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.58 per
share, which vest on November 1, 2015.
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William J. Dale
Effective April 4, 2013, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Mr. Dale. The agreement has a term of two years,
expiring on March 31, 2015, provided that the agreement is automatically extended for additional one year terms, unless either party provides
notice of their intent not to renew within the 30 day period prior to any automatic renewal date. The Company agreed to pay Mr. Dale a base
annual salary of $220,000 during the term of the agreement, of which $200,000 is payable in cash and $20,000 is payable in shares of the
Company’s common stock. The stock consideration due under the agreement is payable on April 1st of each year of the term of the
agreement, including $20,000 in stock which was paid to Mr. Dale immediately upon the parties’ entry into the agreement and is based on the
closing sales price of the Company’s common stock on the applicable required issuance date. Mr. Dale is also eligible for an annual bonus of
up to 30% of his base salary in cash or stock.
In connection with the parties’ entry into the Employment Agreement, Mr. Dale was granted five year options to purchase 125,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.33 per share of which 75,000 options vest on the first anniversary of the Employment
Agreement and 50,000 options vest on the second anniversary, subject in all cases to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2012 Stock
Incentive Plan. In the event the Employment Agreement is terminated by the Company for a reason other than cause (as described in the
Employment Agreement) or by Mr. Dale for good reason (as described in the Employment Agreement), Mr. Dale is due, in the form of a
lump sum payment, 100% of the base salary and bonus he was paid under the agreement for the prior 12 month period (the “12 Month Base
Salary”), plus reimbursement for COBRA insurance premiums as provided for in the agreement. In the event Mr. Dale’s employment is
terminated by the Company or Mr. Dale within six months before or 24 months after a Change of Control (as defined in the Employment
Agreement) and the Company’s common stock is trading at more than $2.50, he is due an additional 100% of the 12 Month Base Salary,
provided that if the Company’s common stock is trading at less than $1.50 per share, he is only due the 12 Month Base Salary and in the event
the Company’s common stock is trading between $1.50 and $2.50 per share, he is due up to an additional 100% (or up to 200% total
including the payment described in the immediately preceding sentence) of the 12 Month Base Salary, based on the proportional trading price
of the Company’s common stock between such $1.50 and $2.50 trading prices. All payments are conditioned upon Mr. Dale entering into a
release agreement in reasonable form and substance to the Company.
If Mr. Dale's employment is terminated as a result of death or Disability (as defined in the agreement), the Company will pay his base salary
which would have been payable to Mr. Dale through the date his employment is terminated and all amounts actually earned, accrued or owing
as of the date of termination. If Mr. Dale’s employment is terminated for Cause or Mr. Dale voluntarily terminates his employment, the
Company will pay his base salary and all amounts actually earned, accrued or owing as of the date of termination and he will be entitled for a
period of three months after termination to exercise all Options granted to him under his employment agreement or otherwise, to the extent
vested and exercisable on the date of termination. Mr. Dale's employment agreement contains no covenant-not-to-compete or similar
restrictions after termination other than standard confidentiality requirements. Additionally, any and all unvested Options are forfeited upon the
termination of the Employment Agreement.
Effective February 11, 2013, Mr. Dale was granted options to purchase 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, in consideration for
services rendered, which options have a five year term, and were to vest upon the earlier of (i) one year after the grant date; and (ii) upon the
change of control of the Company, provided that instead the Board of Directors changed the terms of such options to vest immediately upon
the appointment of Mr. Dale as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company on April 4, 2013. The exercise price of the options was $1.58 per
share (the closing sales price of the Company’s common stock on the grant date).
William A. Sawyer
Effective as of April 1, 2011, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Sawyer (filed as exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2011), who resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective on
December 12, 2012. The agreement had a term extending through April 1, 2014, unless extended or earlier terminated pursuant to the terms of
such agreement, which was terminated in connection with his resignation effective December 12, 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr.
Sawyer's base salary was $250,000 per year, of which $175,000 was to be payable in cash and $75,000 in shares of the Company’s common
stock on a pro-rata, quarterly basis. He also had the right to receive discretionary bonuses in an amount up to 50% of his base salary.
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In connection with Mr. Sawyer’s resignation, the Company agreed to pay Mr. Sawyer, as severance pay, all base salary in cash that he would
have been due under the terms of his employment agreement with the Company, at such times as such compensation would have been due to
Mr. Sawyer had he still been employed by the Company (i.e., $250,000 per year, with $175,000 payable in semi-monthly installments and
$75,000 payable in quarterly installments on each July 1st, October 1st, January 1st and April 1st), until March 25, 2014 (the end of the term
of his employment agreement in effect on his resignation date); and monthly reimbursement in cash for the cost of Mr. Sawyer obtaining
COBRA insurance coverage similar to the coverage of medical, dental, life and disability insurance he had while employed by the Company,
also until March 25, 2014. Additionally, the Company agreed to transfer ownership to Mr. Sawyer of an SUV he was previously provided
the use of by the Company.
The Company also agreed to pay Mr. Sawyer additional consideration of $200,000, with $50,000 payable to Mr. Sawyer on or before each of
January 12, 2013; February 12, 2013; March 12, 2013 and April 12, 2013 (which payments have been made to Mr. Sawyer), in connection
with the termination by Mr. Sawyer of all options and contingent securities which Mr. Sawyer held in the Company or had rights to. Mr.
Sawyer and the Company also agreed to mutually release each other from any and all further claims and liabilities (other than customary
indemnification by the Company to Mr. Sawyer in connection with his services as an officer and director of the Company), other than the
payment obligations described above.
K. Andrew Lai
Mr. Lai was appointed Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of the Company on February 18, 2011 and resigned from those
positions effective November 1, 2012. The Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Lai (filed as exhibit 10.23 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2011) effective on February 18, 2011. The agreement was to
terminate on February 18, 2014, but was instead terminated earlier in connection with Mr. Lai’s resignation. Pursuant to the agreement, Mr.
Lai's base salary was $190,000 per year, of which $150,000 was payable in cash and $40,000 in shares of the Company’s common stock on a
pro-rata, quarterly basis. He also had the right to receive discretionary bonuses in an amount up to 50% of his base salary.
Other resources utilized in the Company’s operations are typically contractors or sub-contractors of vendors and service providers that are not
owned directly or indirectly by the Company or any officer, director or shareholder owning greater than five percent (5%) of our outstanding
shares, nor are they members of the referenced individual’s immediate family. Such sub-contracting engagement and per job payments are
commonplace in the Company's business. The Company expects to continue to utilize and pay such service providers and third party
contractors as necessary to operate its day-to-day field operations.
Lucas Incentive Compensation Plans
The Company shareholders approved the Lucas Energy, Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (“2012 Incentive Plan” or “2012 Plan” and together
with the 2010 Plan, the “Incentive Plans” or “Plans”) at the annual shareholder meeting held on December 16, 2011. The 2012 Incentive Plan
provides the Company with the ability to offer (i) incentive stock options (to eligible employees only); (ii) nonqualified stock options; (iii)
restricted stock; (iv) stock awards; (v) shares in performance of services; or (vi) any combination of the foregoing, to employees, consultants
and contractors as provided in the 2012 Incentive Plan. Shares issuable under the 2012 Incentive Plan were registered on a Form S-8
registration statement that was filed with the SEC on January 27, 2012. The NYSE MKT approved this listing application for the shares
issuable under the 2012 Incentive Plan on December 28, 2011.
The Company shareholders approved the Lucas Energy, Inc. 2010 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2010 Incentive Plan” or “2010 Plan”) at the
annual shareholder meeting held on March 30, 2010. The 2010 Incentive Plan provides the Company with the ability to offer (1) incentive
stock options, (2) non-qualified stock options, and (3) restricted shares (i.e., shares subject to such restrictions, if any, as determined by the
Compensation Committee or the Board) to employees, consultants and contractors as performance incentives. Shares issuable under the 2010
Incentive Plan were registered on Form S-8 registration statement that was filed with the SEC on April 23, 2010. The NYSE MKT approved
this listing application for the shares issuable under the 2010 Incentive Plan on May 6, 2010.
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Under the 2010 Incentive Plan, 900,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are authorized for initial issuance or grant and under the
2012 Incentive Plan, 1,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are authorized for initial issuance or grant. As of June 17,
2013, there was an aggregate of 194,518 available for issuance or grant under the 2010 Incentive Plan and an aggregate of 801,563 securities
were available for issuance or grant under the 2012 Incentive Plan for future issuances and grants, respectively. The number of securities
available under the 2010 and 2012 Plans is reduced one for one for each security delivered pursuant to an award under the Plans. Any issued
or granted security that becomes available due to expiration, forfeiture, surrender, cancellation, termination or settlement in cash of an award
under the Incentive Plans may be requested and used as part of a new award under the Plans.
The Plans are administered by the Compensation Committee and/or the Board in its discretion (the “Committee”). The Committee interprets
the Plans and has broad discretion to select the eligible persons to whom awards will be granted, as well as the type, size and terms and
conditions of each award, including the exercise price of stock options, the number of shares subject to awards, the expiration date of awards,
and the vesting schedule or other restrictions applicable to awards.
Outstanding Equity Awards at March 31, 2013
The following table summarizes certain information regarding unexercised stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2013 for each of the
Named Officers.

Name

Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised
options (#)
Exercisable

Anthony C. Schnur
Chief Executive Officer

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:
Number of
securities
underlying
unexercised options
(#)
Unexercisable

50,000
-

-

Equity
Incentive Plan
Awards:
Number of
Securities
underlying
unexercised
unearned
options (#)
100,000
50,000
50,000

Option exercise
price ($)
$
$
$

Option
expiration date

1.74
1.61
1.58

10/31/17
1/8/18
10/31/17

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
The following table sets forth compensation information with respect to our directors during our fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.

Name (1)

Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash
($)*

Option
Awards ($)
(2)

Ryan J. Morris
W. Andrew Krusen, Jr.
J. Fred Hofheinz
Ken Daraie
Joshua D. Young (3)
Peter K. Grunebaum (4)
Fred S. Zeidman (5)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

11,500
15,500
16,250
6,750
8,500
11,000
-

24,145
24,145
24,145
24,145
4,024
4,024
-

All Other
Compensation
($)
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

-

Total ($)
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

35,645
39,645
40,395
30,895
12,524
15,024
-

* The table above does not include the amount of any expense reimbursements paid to the above directors. No directors received any Stock
Awards, Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation, or Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings during the period presented. Does not
include perquisites and other personal benefits, or property, unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is more than $10,000.
(1) Mr. Sawyer did not receive any compensation separate from the consideration he received as one of our officers for the year ended March
31, 2013 in consideration for his service to our Board.
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(2) Represents the fair value of the grant of certain options to purchase shares of our common stock calculated in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718.
(3) Resigned as a director effective March 3, 2013.
(4) Resigned as a director effective March 1, 2013.
(5) Appointed as a director effective June 24, 2013.
Beginning with the October 7, 2010 meeting of the Board of Directors, the compensation due to each member of the Board of Directors was
increased from $2,000 to $3,000 per meeting. Additionally beginning with the October 2010 meeting, the chairpersons of the various
committees are paid $750 per each committee meeting and the non-chairpersons are paid $500 for each committee meeting. Non-employee
directors have historically been granted shares of common stock for services provided to the Company as a director.
On December 20, 2012, each then member of the Board of Directors of the Company was granted options to purchase 50,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.15 per share, which have a term of two years and vest at the rate of 1/12th of such options
over each of the following 12 months, in all cases subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan. Mr. Young
and Mr. Grunebaum ceased vesting options in connection with their resignations as directors of the Company on March 3, 2013 and March 1,
2013, respectively, provided that all of the options which had vested to them as of such resignation dates remain valid and exercisable until their
original stated expiration date.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
The following table sets forth the record beneficial ownership of common stock of the Company as of June 17, 2013 for the following: (i)
each person or entity who is known to the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of the Company's common
stock; (ii) each of the Company's directors; (iii) the Company's Chief Executive Officer and each of the named executive officers of the
Company listed in the Executive Compensation table above; and (iv) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group.
The number and percentage of shares beneficially owned is determined under Rule 13d-3 as promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and the information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial
ownership for any other purpose. Under such rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the individual has sole or shared
voting power or dispositive power and also any shares that the individual has the right to acquire within sixty (60) days of June 17, 2013
through the exercise of any stock option or other right.
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We believe that, except as otherwise noted and subject to applicable community property laws, each person named in the following table has
sole investment and voting power with respect to the shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by such person. Unless otherwise
indicated, the address for each of the officers or directors listed in the table below is 3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas 77027.

Amount and
Name and Address
Nature of
Title of Class
of Beneficial Owner
Beneficial Ownership
Executive Officers, Significant Employees and Directors (9)
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock
Common Stock

Anthony C. Schnur
William J. Dale
J. Fred Hofheinz
W. Andrew Krusen,
Jr.
Ken Daraie
Ryan J. Morris
Fred S. Zeidman
William A. Sawyer (8)

67,461 (1)
85,863 (2)
908,429 (3)(4)
445,169 (3)(5)

*%
*%
3.4%
1.7%

229,169 (6)
5,450,137 (7)
265,875

*%
20.2 %
1.0%

7,186,228

26.2%

All Executive Officers And
Directors As A Group (7 Persons)
5% Shareholders

(a)

Percent of Class (a)

None.

Calculated based on 26,734,232 shares outstanding as of June 17, 2013.

* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the total outstanding common stock.
(1) Includes only 50,000 of the options to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock which were granted to Mr. Schnur on
November 1, 2012, of which 50,000 options vested immediately and the remaining 100,000 options vest at the rate of ½ of such options
on each of the first two anniversaries of the grant, have a term of five years and an exercise price of $1.74 per share, as only 50,000 of
such options have vested to date. Does not include options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $1.61 per share or options to purchase 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.58 per share,
which have not vested to Mr. Schnur to date. Includes 13,470 net shares of common stock after forfeiting shares to pay his tax liability,
which the Company agreed to issue to Mr. Schnur in May 2013, which shares have not been physically issued to date or included in the
number of issued and outstanding shares disclosed throughout this report.
(2) Includes options to purchase 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $1.58 per share which expire on
February 11, 2018. Does not include five year options to purchase 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $1.33 per share, of which 75,000 options vest on April 4, 2014 and 50,000 Options vest on April 4, 2015, subject in all cases to the
terms and conditions of the Company’s 2012 Stock Incentive Plan.
(3) Includes options to purchase 24,000 shares of common stock which have an exercise price of $2.07 per share which expire on October
7, 2020.
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(4) Includes options to purchase 29,169 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.15 per share, which are
exercisable until December 20, 2014, but does not include 20,831 unvested options (the 50,000 options vest at the rate of 1/12th of such
options per month from January 20, 2013 to December 20, 2013).
(5) Includes beneficial ownership of 330,000 shares of common stock owned by Gulf Standard Energy Company LLC. Also includes
options to purchase 29,169 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.15 per share, which are exercisable until
December 20, 2014, but does not include 20,831 unvested options (the 50,000 options vest at the rate of 1/12th of such options per
month from January 20, 2013 to December 20, 2013). Also includes 12,500 warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock owned by each of Wit Ventures, Ltd. and Krusen-Thompson Interests, ltd. (25,000 in total), which entities are beneficially owned
by Mr. Krusen, which warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share and expire on April 4, 2018.
(6) Includes options to purchase 29,169 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.15 per share, which are
exercisable until December 20, 2014, but does not include 20,831 unvested options (the 50,000 options vest at the rate of 1/12th of such
options per month from January 20, 2013 to December 20, 2013). Also includes 200,000 warrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock owned by Continental Industries Field Services, LLC, which entity is beneficially owned by Mr. Daraie,
which warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share and expire on April 4, 2018.
(7) Includes 4,222,813 shares of common stock owned by Meson Capital Constructive Partners L.P. ("Meson Constructive"); warrants to
purchase 187,500 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share, which expire on September 11,
2013, owned by Meson Constructive; and 1,010,655 shares of common stock owned by Meson Capital Partners LP ("Meson LP").
Securities owned directly by Meson Constructive, are owned indirectly by Meson Capital Partners LLC ("Meson LLC") by virtue of it
being the general partner of Meson Constructive and by Ryan J. Morris by virtue of his position as managing member of Meson
LLC. Securities owned directly by Meson LP, are owned indirectly by Meson LLC by virtue of it being the general partner of Meson
LP and by Ryan J. Morris by virtue of his position as managing member of Meson LLC. Also includes options to purchase 29,169
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $1.15 per share, which are exercisable until December 20, 2014, but
does not include 20,831 unvested options (the 50,000 options vest at the rate of 1/12th of such options per month from January 20,
2013 to December 20, 2013).
(8) Resigned as an officer and director effective December 12, 2012. The total beneficial ownership for Mr. Sawyer is based solely on the
number shares the Company’s record shareholders list shows as owned by Mr. Sawyer and has not been otherwise verified or
confirmed by the Company.
(9) Not included in the table above is K. Andrew Lai, who is included in the Company’s Summary Compensation Table. Pursuant to the
Company’s record shareholders list, Mr. Lai does not hold any beneficial ownership of the Company; provided that the Company has
no way of verifying Mr. Lai’s ownership.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
Other than indicated above, there have been no other transactions between us and any officer, director, or any shareholder owning
greater than five percent (5%) of our outstanding shares during the last two fiscal years, nor any member of the above referenced individual’s
immediate family, except as set forth below or otherwise disclosed above under “Item 11. Executive Compensation”.
Related Party Transactions
On April 16, 2012, the Company agreed to sell an aggregate of 2,950,000 units at $2.00 per unit, with each unit consisting of one
share of Company common stock and 0.35 of a warrant to purchase one share of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of $2.30
per share. On April 18, 2012, the Offering closed, and the Company received an aggregate of $5,900,000 in gross funding and approximately
$5,500,000 in net proceeds after paying commissions and other expenses associated with the Offering. The investors in our December 2010
units offering purchased an aggregate of 450,000 units for an aggregate of $900,000. Young Capital, an affiliate of Joshua D. Young, our
former director, purchased 250,000 units for an aggregate of $500,000 in the Company’s April 2012 offering.
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In August 2012, Meson Capital Partners LP (“Meson LP”), an affiliate of Ryan J. Morris, our Chairman, purchased warrants to
purchase 83,334 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share for an aggregate of $25,000, or $0.30 per warrant, from the
Company’s director, J. Fred Hofheinz, and warrants (with the same terms) to purchase an aggregate of 15,167 shares for an aggregate of
$4,550, or $0.30 per warrant, from Peter K. Grunebaum, a then member of the Company’s Board, in private transactions, which warrants
were subsequently exercised by Meson LP for an aggregate exercise price of $98,501.
Young Capital, an affiliate of Joshua D. Young, our former director, purchased 50,000 units for an aggregate of $82,500, or $1.65
per unit, and Meson Capital Constructive Partners LP (“Meson Capital”), an affiliate of Mr. Morris, purchased 750,000 units for an aggregate
of $1,237,500, or $1.65 per unit, in the Company’s September 2012 offering of units, with each unit consisting of (a) one share of common
stock; and (b) 0.25 of a warrant to purchase one share of common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share.
Effective April 4, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders (the “April 2013 Loan Agreement”)
pursuant to which such lenders loaned the Company an aggregate of $2,750,000 to be used for general working capital. The lenders included
entities beneficially owned by our directors, Ken Daraie (which entity loaned us $2,000,000) and W. Andrew Krusen, Jr. (which entities
loaned us $250,000), as well as an unrelated third party which loaned the Company $500,000.
Effective May 31, 2013, the Company entered into a Loan Agreement with various lenders (the “May 2013 Loan Agreement” and
together with the April 2013 Loan Agreement, the “Loan Agreements”), pursuant to which such lenders loaned the Company an aggregate of
$500,000 to be used for general working capital and to pay amounts the Company owed to Nordic Oil USA I, LLLP ("Nordic”). The lenders
were third parties, unaffiliated with the Company, provided that one lender who previously loaned the Company funds in connection with the
April 2013 Loan Agreement provided the Company an additional $300,000 loan in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement. The
Loan Agreement included substantially similar terms as the April 2013 Loan Agreement and was approved by the prior lenders in the April
2013 Loan Agreement, who also waived their right to be repaid from the proceeds from the loans.
The loans provided pursuant to the Loan Agreements were documented by Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) which accrue interest at
the rate of 14% per annum, with such interest payable monthly in arrears (beginning June 1, 2013 in connection with the April 2013 Loan
Agreement and July 1, 2013 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement) and are due and payable on October 4, 2013 in connection
with the May 2013 Loan Agreement and April 4, 2014 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement. The Notes can be prepaid at any
time without penalty. In the event any amounts are not paid when due under the Notes and/or in the event any event of default occurs and is
continuing under the Notes, the Notes accrue interest at the rate of 17% per annum. The Note holders were each paid their pro rata portion of a
commitment fee ($55,000 in connection with the April 2013 Loan Agreement and $15,000 in connection with the May 2013 Loan Agreement)
and were each granted their pro rata portion of warrants to purchase 325,000 shares of the Company’s common stock which were evidenced
by Common Stock Purchase Warrants (the “Warrants”).
The Warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share, a term of five years and cashless exercise rights in the event the shares issuable upon
exercise of the Warrants are not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Company agreed to comply with certain standard affirmative and negative covenants in connection with the Loan Agreements,
including the requirement to continue to have its common stock listed on the NYSE MKT (or any equivalent replacement exchange), and the
requirement to continue to comply with the filing requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Loan Agreements
also include customary events of default for facilities of similar nature and size as the Loan Agreements. Additionally, pursuant to the Loan
Agreements, any proceeds received by the Company through any future funding activities or through the sale of oil and gas properties or
interests is required to first be applied to the repayment of the Notes.
The repayment of the Notes is secured by a first priority security interest in one hundred (100) barrels of oil per day of net production
from the Company’s owned and operated oil and gas properties, and all payments and proceeds associated therewith.
It is our policy that any future material transactions between us and members of management or their affiliates shall be on terms no less
favorable than those available from unaffiliated third parties.
82

Director Independence
During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Board determined that a majority of the Board is independent under the definition of
independence and in compliance with the listing standards of the NYSE MKT listing requirements. Based upon these standards, the Board has
determined that all of the directors are independent (see "Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporation Governance").
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANTS FEES AND SERVICES
Our Audit Committee of the Board of Directors approves in advance the scope and cost of the engagement of an auditor before the
auditor renders audit and non-audit services.
Audit Fees
The aggregate fees billed by our independent auditors, GBH CPAs (which were dismissed on October 27, 2011) and our current
independent auditors, Hein & Associates LLP (which were engaged on October 31, 2011), for professional services rendered for the audit of
our annual financial statements included in our Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, and for the
review of quarterly financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ending June 30, September 30, and
December 31, 2012 and 2011, were:

Hein & Associates, LLP
GBH CPAs, PC

$
$

2013
111,808 $
6,815 $

Audit fees incurred by the Company were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
Audit Related Fees: None.
Tax Fees: None.
All Other Fees: None.
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2012
120,000
16,500

PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report
(1)

All financial statements

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

36
37
38
39
40
41

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules have been omitted, since the required information is not applicable or is not present in amounts sufficient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in this Form 10-K.
(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K
The information required by this Section (a) (3) of Item 15 is set forth on the exhibit index that follows the Signatures page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
BY:

/s/ ANTHONY C. SCHNUR
Anthony C. Schnur
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

BY:

/s/ WILLIAM J. DALE
William J. Dale
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Dated: June 28, 2013
In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

Chairman

June 28, 2013

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

June 28, 2013

Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer and Accounting Officer)

June 28, 2013

/s/ W. ANDREW KRUSEN
W. Andrew Krusen

Director

June 28, 2013

/s/ KEN DARAIE
Ken Draie

Director

June 28, 2013

Director

June 28, 2013

/s/ RYAN J. MORRIS
Ryan J. Morris
/s/ ANTHONY C. SCHNUR
Anthony C. Schnur
/s/ WILLIAM J. DALE
WILLIAM J. DALE

/s/ J. FRED HOFHEINZ
J. Fred Hofheinz
/s/ FRED S. ZEIDMAN
Fred S. Zeidman

Director
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June 28, 2013

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit

Description

3.1

Articles
of
Incorporation
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Company Annual
Report of Form
10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended
November
30,
2005 filed with the
SEC on February
14, 2006 as Exhibit
3.1)

3.2

Certificate
of
Amendment
to
Articles
of
Incorporation
of
Lucas Energy, Inc.
(Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit
B
to
the
Information
Statement
on
Schedule 14C filed
with the SEC on
February 16, 2007)

3.3

Certificate
of
Amendment
to
Articles
of
Incorporation
of
Lucas Energy, Inc.
(Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit
B to the Proxy
Statement
on
Schedule 14A filed
with the SEC on
March 31, 2010)

3.4

Certificate
of
Amendment
to
Articles
of
Incorporation
of
Lucas Energy, Inc.
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Form 8-K dated
January 10, 2011,
filed with the SEC
on January 10,
2011)

3.5

Certificate
of
Designations
of
Series
A
Convertible
Preferred
Stock
(Filed as an Exhibit
to the Company’s
Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q,
filed
with
the
Commission
on
November
14,
2011,
and

2011,
and
incorporated herein
by reference)
3.6

Certificate
of
Designations
of
Series
B
Convertible
Preferred
Stock
(Filed as an Exhibit
to the Company’s
Report on Form 8K, filed with the
Commission
on
January 4, 2012,
and incorporated
herein
by
reference)

3.7

Amended
and
Restated Bylaws
(Adopted
December
20,
2012)
(Incorporated by
reference
as
Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Form
8-K
dated
December
20,
2012, filed with the
SEC on December
21, 2012)

4.1

Form of Series B
and C Warrant
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Form 8-K dated
December
26,
2010, filed with the
SEC on December
27, 2010)

4.2

Form of Officer
Stock
Option
Agreement
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Form 10-K dated
March 31, 2011,
filed with the SEC
on June 29, 2011)

4.3

Form of Director
Stock
Option
Agreement
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Form 10-K dated
March 31, 2011,
filed with the SEC
on June 29, 2011)

4.4

Form of Common
Stock
Purchase
Warrant by and
between
the
Company and each
investor dated as of
April 16, 2012
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Company’s Form

Company’s Form
8-K dated April
16, 2012, filed
with the SEC on
April 16, 2012)
4.5

Form of Common
Stock
Purchase
Warrant by and
between
the
Company and each
investor dated as of
September
11,
2012 (Incorporated
by reference as
Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Form
8-K
dated
December
20,
2012, filed with the
SEC on December
21, 2012)

4.6

Form of Common
Stock
Purchase
Warrant (April 4,
2013
Loan
Agreement)
(Incorporated by
reference
as
Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Form
8-K dated April 4,
2013, filed with the
SEC on April 8,
2013)

4.7*

Form of Common
Stock
Purchase
Warrant (May 31,
2013
Loan
Agreement)

10.1

Lucas Energy, Inc.
2010 Long Term
Incentive
Plan
(Incorporated by
reference to the
Form S-8 filed
with the SEC on
April 23, 2010)
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10.2

Lucas Energy, Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Registrant’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on November 4, 2011 (Amendment No. 1))

10.3

Securities Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated December 26, 2010, filed with the
SEC on December 27, 2010)

10.4

Form of Amendment, Settlement and Release Agreement (Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K dated July 18,
2011, filed with the SEC on July 19, 2011)

10.5

Purchase and Sale Agreement – Lucas Energy, Inc. and Nordic Oil USA 2 LLP (October 13, 2011)(Filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on October 19, 2011 and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.6

Purchase and Sale Agreement – Lucas Energy, Inc. and Nordic Oil USA 1, LLLP (October 13, 2011) (Filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 23, 2011, and incorporated
herein by reference)

10.7

Promissory Note – Lucas Energy, Inc. and Nordic Oil USA 1, LLLP (Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on
Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 23, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.8

Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, Financing Statement and Assignment of Production (Filed as an Exhibit to the
Company’s Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on November 23, 2011, and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.9

Purchase Agreement (Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on
November 23, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.10

Purchase and Sale Agreement – Lucas Energy, Inc. and Hall Phoenix Energy, LLC (December 29, 2011) (Filed as an
Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on January 4, 2012, and incorporated
herein by reference)

10.11

Assignment, Conveyance and Bill of Sale (Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K, filed with the
Commission on January 4, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference)

10.12

Form of Subscription Agreement by and between the Company and each investor in the Company’s April 2012
offering, dated as of April 16, 2012 (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 8-K dated April 16, 2012,
filed with the SEC on April 16, 2012)

10.13

Form of Subscription Agreement by and between the Company and each investor dated as of September 11, 2012
(Incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated September 10, 2012, filed with the SEC
on September 11, 2012)

10.14

April 4, 2013 Loan Agreement (Incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated April 4,
2013, filed with the SEC on April 8, 2013)

10.15

Form of Promissory Note (April 4, 2013 Loan Agreement) (Incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated April 4, 2013, filed with the SEC on April 8, 2013)

10.16*

May 31, 2013 Loan Agreement

10.17*

Form of Promissory Note (May 31, 2013 Loan Agreement)

10.18

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Anthony C. Schnur (December 20, 2012) (Incorporated by
reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K dated December 20, 2012, filed with the SEC on December 21,
2012)
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10.19

April 4, 2013 Employment Agreement with William J. Dale (Incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated April 4, 2013, filed with the SEC on April 8, 2013)

14.1

Code of Ethics (Incorporated by reference to the Company Annual Report on Form 10-K/A, Amendment No. 1, for
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 filed with the SEC on July 29, 2009)

23.1*

Consent of Hein & Associates LLP

23.2*

Consent of Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.

21.1*

Subsidiaries

31.1*

Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2*

Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.

32.1**

Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.

32.2**

Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.

99.1*

Report of Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.

99.2*

Charter Of The Nominating And Corporate Governance Committee

***101.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

***101.SCH

XBRL Schema Document.

***101.CAL

XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.

***101.LAB

XBRL Label Linkbase Document.

***101.PRE

XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.

* Exhibits filed herewith.
** Exhibits furnished herewith.
*** Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets –March 31, 2013 and 2012, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations - Year Ended March 31, 2013 and
2012, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity – March 31, 2013 and 2012; (iv) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Year Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012; and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Users of this data are advised pursuant to Rule
406T of Regulation S-T that this interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of
Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subject to liability under these sections.
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Exhibit 4.7
THIS WARRANT AND THE SECURITIES ISSUABLE UPON EXERCISE HEREOF HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW, AND MAY NOT BE
SOLD, TRANSFERRED, ASSIGNED, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF OR EXERCISED UNLESS (i)
A REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS SHALL HAVE
BECOME EFFECTIVE WITH REGARD THERETO, OR (ii) AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS IS AVAILABLE IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH OFFER, SALE OR
TRANSFER.
AN INVESTMENT IN THESE SECURITIES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. HOLDERS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN
ANALYSIS OF THE INVESTMENT AND ASSESSMENT OF THE RISKS INVOLVED.
Warrant to Purchase
_______ shares

Warrant Number L-__
Common Stock Purchase Warrant
of
Lucas Energy, Inc.

THIS CERTIFIES that ______________________________, or any subsequent holder hereof (“Holder”) has the right to purchase from Lucas
Energy, Inc., a Nevada company (the “Company”), _____________ (_______) fully paid and nonassessable shares, of the Company's
common stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Common Stock”), subject to adjustment as provided herein, at a price equal to the Exercise Price as
defined in Section 3 below, at any time during the Term of this Warrant (as defined below).
Holder agrees with the Company that this Common Stock Purchase Warrant of the Company (this “Warrant” or this “Agreement”) is issued
and all rights hereunder shall be held subject to all of the conditions, limitations and provisions set forth herein.
1.

Date of Issuance and Term.

This Warrant shall be deemed to be granted on May 31, 2013 (“Date of Issuance”), provided that the grant of this Warrant and the issuance of
any Warrant Shares (as defined below) shall be subject in all cases to the the listing of the Warrant Shares on the NYSE MKT. The term of this
Warrant begins on the Date of Issuance and ends at 5:00 p.m., Central Standard Time, on the date that is five (5) years after the Date of Issuance
(the “Term”). This Warrant was issued in conjunction with the sale of Notes to the Holder pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement dated
May 31, 2013 (the “Loan Agreement”) by and between the Company and certain lenders including the Holder. Capitalized terms not defined
herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms as provided in the Loan Agreement.

Common Stock Purchase Warrant (#L-__)
Lucas Energy, Inc.
Page 1 of 13

2.

Exercise.

(a) Manner of Exercise. During the Term, this Warrant may be Exercised as to all or any lesser number of full shares of Common Stock
covered hereby (the “Warrant Shares” or the “Shares”) upon surrender of this Warrant, with the Notice of Exercise Form attached hereto as
Exhibit A (the “Notice of Exercise”) duly completed and executed, together with the full Exercise Price (as defined below, which may be
satisfied by either a Cash Exercise or a Cashless Exercise, as each is defined below, provided a Cashless Exercise may not be used until after six
(6) months from the date hereof and a Cashless exercise may not be used if the Warrant Shares have been registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission) for each share of Common Stock as to which this Warrant is Exercised, at the office of the Company, Attn: Secretary;
Lucas Energy, Inc., 3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550, Houston, Texas 77027 or at such other location as the Company may then be located or
such other office or agency as the Company may designate in writing, by overnight mail, by facsimile (such surrender and payment of the
Exercise Price hereinafter called the “Exercise” of this Warrant). In the case of a Cashless Exercise, the Exercise Price is deemed to have been
delivered upon the Holder’s delivery of a Notice of Exercise to the Company.
(b) Date of Exercise. The “Date of Exercise” of the Warrant shall be defined as the date that a copy of the Notice of Exercise Form
attached hereto as Exhibit A, completed and executed, is sent by facsimile to the Company or its transfer agent (“Transfer Agent”) (including
but not limited to a scanned “PDF” file which is delivered as an attachment to an e-mail to the Company), provided that the original Warrant (if
delivery of the original Warrant is required pursuant to Section 2(h) hereof) and Notice of Exercise Form are received by the Company and the
Exercise Price is satisfied, each as soon as practicable thereafter. Alternatively, the Date of Exercise shall be defined as the date the original
Notice of Exercise Form is received by the Company, if Holder has not sent advance notice by facsimile. Upon delivery of the Notice of
Exercise Form to the Company by facsimile or otherwise, the Holder shall be deemed for all corporate purposes to have become the holder of
record of the Warrant Shares with respect to which this Warrant has been exercised, irrespective of the date such Warrant Shares are credited to
the Holder's DTC account or the date of delivery of the certificates evidencing such Warrant Shares as the case may be. The Company shall
deliver any objection to any Notice of Exercise within five (5) Business Days of receipt of such notice. In the event of any dispute or
discrepancy, the records of the Holder shall be controlling and determinative in the absence of manifest error. "Business Day" shall mean any
day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks in the City of Houston, Texas are authorized or required by law or
executive order to remain closed.
(c) Delivery of Common Stock Upon Exercise. Within ten (10) Trading Days from the delivery to the Company of the Notice of
Exercise, surrender of this Warrant (if required) and payment of the aggregate Exercise Price (which, in the case of a Cashless Exercise, shall be
deemed to have been paid upon the submission by the Holder of a Notice of Exercise)(the “Warrant Shares Delivery Deadline”), the
Company shall issue and deliver (or cause its transfer agent to issue and deliver) in accordance with the terms hereof to or upon the order of the
Holder that number of shares of Common Stock (“Exercise Shares”) for the portion of this Warrant converted as shall be determined in
accordance herewith. Upon the Exercise of this Warrant or any part thereof, the Company shall, at its own cost and expense, take all necessary
action, which shall not include obtaining and delivering an opinion of counsel to assure that the Company's transfer agent shall issue stock
certificates in the name of Holder (or its nominee) or such other persons as designated by Holder and in such denominations to be specified at
Exercise representing the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon such Exercise, which action shall be the sole responsibility of
Holder. The Company warrants that no instructions other than these instructions have been or will be given to the transfer agent of the
Company's Common Stock and that, unless waived by the Holder, in the event the Exercise Shares are eligible to be issued without legend
pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act” or the “Securities Act”) in the reasonable determination of
the Company’s counsel, upon receipt from the Holder of an opinion of counsel as to the fact that such Exercise Shares are eligible to be issued
without legend, the Exercise Shares will be free-trading, and freely transferable, and will not contain a legend restricting the resale or
transferability of the Exercise Shares if the Unrestricted Conditions (as defined below) are met, and the Holder has supplied the Company with an
opinion of counsel as to such fact, acceptable to the Company, which acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld.
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(d) Legends.
(i) Restrictive Legend. The Holder understands that (a) the Warrant and, (b) until such time as Exercise Shares have been
registered under the 1933 Act, if ever, or, may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 under the 1933 Act without any restriction as to the number of
securities as of a particular date that can then be immediately sold, the Exercise Shares, shall bear a restrictive legend in substantially the following
form (and a stop-transfer order may be placed against transfer of the certificates for such securities):
“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THE
SECURITIES MAY NOT BE SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR ASSIGNED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE
REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR THE SECURITIES UNDER SAID ACT, OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL,
IN FORM, SUBSTANCE AND SCOPE REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO COUNSEL TO THE COMPANY,
THAT REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER SAID ACT.”
(ii) Removal of Restrictive Legends. Certificates evidencing the Exercise Shares shall not contain any legend restricting the
transfer thereof (including the legend set forth above in subsection 2(d)(i)): (i) while a registration statement covering the resale of such security
is effective under the Securities Act, or (ii) following any valid and applicable sale of such Exercise Shares pursuant to Rule 144, which
determination shall be made in the sole determination of the Company’s counsel, provided that the Company may request an opinion from Holder
as to the applicability of such rule, or (iii) if such legend is not required under applicable requirements of the Securities Act (including judicial
interpretations and pronouncements issued by the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”)), which determination
shall be made in the sole determination of the Company’s counsel (collectively, the “Unrestricted Conditions”). If the Unrestricted Conditions
are met at the time of issuance or resale of Exercise Shares, then such Exercise Shares shall be issued free of all legends.
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(iii) Sale of Unlegended Shares. Holder agrees that the removal of the restrictive legend from certificates representing
Securities as set forth in Section 2(d)(i) above is predicated upon the Company’s reliance that the Holder will sell any Exercise Shares pursuant to
either the registration requirements of the Securities Act, including any applicable prospectus delivery requirements, or an exemption therefrom,
and that if Securities are sold pursuant to a Registration Statement, they will be sold in compliance with the plan of distribution set forth therein.
(e) Cancellation of Warrant. This Warrant shall be cancelled upon the full Exercise of this Warrant, and, as soon as practical after the
Date of Exercise, Holder shall be entitled to receive Common Stock for the number of shares purchased upon such Exercise of this Warrant, and
if this Warrant is not Exercised in full and Holder has delivered an original copy of the Warrant, Holder shall be entitled to receive a new Warrant
(containing terms identical to this Warrant) representing any unexercised portion of this Warrant in addition to such Common Stock.
(f) Holder of Record. Each person in whose name any Warrant for shares of Common Stock is issued shall, for all purposes, be
deemed to be the Holder of record of such shares on the Date of Exercise of this Warrant, irrespective of the date of delivery of the Common
Stock purchased upon the Exercise of this Warrant. Nothing in this Warrant shall be construed as conferring upon Holder any rights as a
stockholder of the Company.
(g) Delivery of Electronic Shares. In lieu of delivering physical certificates representing the unlegended shares of Common Stock
issuable upon Exercise (the “Unlegended Shares”), provided the Company’s transfer agent is participating in the Depository Trust Company
(“DTC”) Fast Automated Securities Transfer (“FAST”) program, upon written request of the Holder, so long as the certificates therefor do not
bear a legend, and are not required to bear a legend, and the Holder is not obligated to return such certificate for the placement of a legend thereon,
the Company shall cause its transfer agent to electronically transmit the Unlegended Shares to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder's
broker with DTC identified in the written request through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission (“DWAC”) system. Otherwise, delivery
of the Common Stock shall be by physical delivery to the address specified by the Holder in the Notice of Exercise. The time periods for
delivery and liquidated damages described herein shall apply to the electronic transmittals described herein, or to physical delivery, whichever is
applicable.
(h) Surrender of Warrant Upon Exercise; Book-Entry. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, upon Exercise of this
Warrant in accordance with the terms hereof, the Holder shall not be required to physically surrender the original Warrant Certificate to the
Company unless all of this Warrant is Exercised, in which case such Holder shall deliver the original Warrant being Exercised to the Company
promptly following the Date of Exercise at issue. Partial exercises of this Warrant resulting in purchases of a portion of the total number of
Warrant Shares available hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding number of Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an
amount equal to the applicable number of Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the Company shall maintain records showing the amount
of this Warrant that is so Exercised and the dates of such Exercises or shall use such other method, reasonably satisfactory to the Holder and the
Company, so as not to require physical surrender of this original Warrant upon each such Exercise. In the event of any dispute or discrepancy,
such records of the Holder shall be controlling and determinative in the absence of manifest error. The Holder and any assignee, by acceptance of
this Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph, following the purchase of a portion of the Warrant
Shares hereunder, the number of Warrant Shares available for purchase hereunder at any given time may be less than the amount stated on the
face hereof.
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3.

Payment of Warrant Exercise Price.

The Exercise Price (“Exercise Price”) shall be the greater of (a) $1.50 per share; and (b) $0.01 above the closing sales price of
the Company’s Common Stock on the date the Loan Agreement is entered into by the parties (the “Initial Exercise Price”), subject to adjustment
pursuant to the terms hereof, including but not limited to Section 5 below.
Payment of the Exercise Price may be made by either of the following, or a combination thereof, at the election of Holder:
“Cash Exercise”); or

(i)

Cash Exercise: The Holder may exercise this Warrant in cash, via bank or cashier’s check or via wire transfer (a

(ii) Cashless Exercise: The Holder, at its option, in the event the Warrant Shares have not been registered with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and in the event the Market Price (defined below) of the Company’s Common Stock is greater than the
Exercise Price, may exercise this Warrant in one or more cashless exercise transactions any time after the expiration of six (6) months from the
Date of Issuance then in effect covering the resale of the Warrant Shares issuable upon such exercise, subject to the following sentence. In the
event a registration statement is in effect which relates to some or all of the Warrant Shares, the Holder shall be required to affect a Cash Exercise
of this Warrant until such time as the Holder has extinguished the full number of registered Warrant Shares, at which time the Holder shall be
eligible for a Cashless Exercise for the remaining unregistered Warrant Shares, if any. In order to effect a Cashless Exercise, the Holder
shall surrender this Warrant at the principal office of the Company together with notice of cashless election, in which event the Company shall
issue Holder a number of shares of Common Stock computed using the following formula (a “Cashless Exercise”), assuming that the Exercise
Price is less than the Market Price (as defined below):
X = Y (A-B)/A
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where: X = the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to Holder.
Y = the number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant is being Exercised.
A = the Market Price of one (1) share of Common Stock (for purposes of this Section 3(ii), where “Market Price,” as of any date,
means the average of the Closing Prices of the Company’s Common Stock during the five (5) consecutive Trading Day period
immediately preceding the date of Exercise, or other applicable date).
B = the Exercise Price.
As used herein, the term “Closing Price” for any security as of any date means the last sales price of the security as reported by,
or based upon data reported by, Bloomberg L.P. or an equivalent, reliable reporting service mutually acceptable to and hereafter
designated by holders of a majority in interest of the Warrants and the Company (“Bloomberg”). If the Closing Price cannot be
calculated for such security on such date in the manner provided above or if the Company’s Common Stock is not publicly-traded, the
Closing Price shall be the fair market value as mutually determined by the Company and the holders of a majority in interest of the
Warrants being. “Trading Day” shall mean any day on which the Common Stock is traded for any period on a principal securities
exchange or other securities market on which the Common Stock is then being traded.
For purposes of Rule 144 and sub-section (d)(3)(ii) thereof, it is intended, understood and acknowledged that the Common Stock issuable upon
Exercise of this Warrant in a Cashless Exercise transaction shall be deemed to have been acquired at the time this Warrant was issued. Moreover,
it is intended, understood and acknowledged that the holding period for the Common Stock issuable upon Exercise of this Warrant in a Cashless
Exercise transaction shall be deemed to have commenced on the date this Warrant was issued.
4.
Transfer and Registration. Subject to the provisions of Section 8 of this Warrant, this Warrant may be transferred on the books
of the Company, in whole or in part, in person or by attorney, upon surrender of this Warrant properly completed and endorsed. This Warrant
shall be cancelled upon such surrender and, as soon as practicable thereafter, the person to whom such transfer is made shall be entitled to receive
a new Warrant or Warrants as to the portion of this Warrant transferred, and Holder shall be entitled to receive a new Warrant as to the portion
hereof retained.
5.

Adjustments; Additional Adjustments; Purchase Rights.

(a) Recapitalization or Reclassification. If the Company shall at any time prior to the end of the Term, effect a recapitalization,
reclassification or other similar transaction of such character that the shares of Common Stock shall be changed into or become exchangeable for
a larger or smaller number of shares, then upon the effective date thereof, the number of shares of Common Stock which Holder shall be entitled
to purchase upon Exercise of this Warrant shall be increased or decreased, as the case may be, in direct proportion to the increase or decrease in
the number of shares of Common Stock by reason of such recapitalization, reclassification or similar transaction, and the Exercise Price shall be,
in the case of an increase in the number of shares, proportionally decreased and, in the case of a decrease in the number of shares, proportionally
increased. The Company shall give Holder the same notice it provides to holders of Common Stock of any transaction described in this Section
5(a).
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(b) Exercise Price Adjusted. As used in this Warrant, the term “Exercise Price” shall mean the purchase price per share specified in
Section 3 of this Warrant, until the occurrence of an event stated in this Section 5 or otherwise set forth in this Warrant, and thereafter shall mean
said price as adjusted from time to time in accordance with the provisions of said subsection. No such adjustment under this Section 5 shall be
made unless such adjustment would change the Exercise Price at the time by $.01 or more; provided, however, that all adjustments not so made
shall be deferred and made when the aggregate thereof would change the Exercise Price at the time by $.01 or more. No adjustment made
pursuant to any provision of this Section 5 shall have the net effect of increasing the Exercise Price in relation to the split adjusted and distribution
adjusted price of the Common Stock.
(c) Adjustments: Additional Shares, Securities or Assets. In the event that at any time, as a result of an adjustment made pursuant to
this Section 5 or otherwise, Holder shall, upon Exercise of this Warrant, become entitled to receive shares and/or other securities or assets (other
than Common Stock) then, wherever appropriate, all references herein to shares of Common Stock shall be deemed to refer to and include such
shares and/or other securities or assets; and thereafter the number of such shares and/or other securities or assets shall be subject to adjustment
from time to time in a manner and upon terms as nearly equivalent as practicable to the provisions of this Section 5.
(d) Subdivision or Combination of Common Stock. If the Company at any time prior to the end of the Term subdivides (by any stock
split, stock dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, reclassification or otherwise) the shares of Common Stock acquirable hereunder into a
greater number of shares, then, after the date of record for effecting such subdivision, the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to such
subdivision will be proportionately reduced and the number of shares represented by this Warrant shall proportionally increase. If the Company
at any time combines (by reverse stock split, recapitalization, reorganization, reclassification or otherwise) the shares of Common Stock
acquirable hereunder into a smaller number of shares, then, after the date of record for effecting such combination, the Exercise Price in effect
immediately prior to such combination will be proportionately increased and the number of shares represented by this Warrant shall
proportionally decrease.
(e) Voluntary Adjustment By Company. The Company may at any time during the term of this Warrant reduce the then current Exercise
Price to any amount and for any period of time deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors of the Company (a “Voluntary Adjustment”).
(f) Adjustment to Number of Shares. In the event of any adjustment to the Exercise Price prior to the expiration of the Term of this
Warrant, pursuant to the terms of this Warrant, including but not limited to any Voluntary Adjustment, the number of Warrant Shares issuable
upon Exercise of this Warrant shall be increased such that the aggregate Exercise Price payable in a full Cash Exercise hereunder, after taking into
account the decrease in the Exercise Price, shall be equal to the aggregate Exercise Price payable in a full Cash Exercise prior to such adjustment,
and the number of Warrant Shares issuable in a Cashless Exercise shall be increased accordingly.
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(g) Notice of Adjustments; Notice Failure Adjustment. Whenever the Exercise Price is required to be adjusted pursuant to the terms of
this Warrant, the Company shall within Five (5) Business Days mail to the Holder a notice (an “Exercise Price Adjustment Notice”) setting
forth the new Exercise Price and specifying the new number of shares into which the Warrant is convertible after such adjustment and setting
forth a statement of the facts requiring such adjustment. The Company shall, upon the written request at any time of the Holder, furnish to such
Holder a like Warrant setting forth (i) such adjustment or readjustment, (ii) the Exercise Price at the time in effect and (iii) the number of shares of
Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other securities or property which at the time would be received upon Exercise of the Warrant,
following delivery of the original Warrant to the Company for exchange. For purposes of clarification, whether or not the Company provides an
Exercise Price Adjustment Notice pursuant to this Section 5(g), upon the occurrence of any event that leads to an adjustment of the Exercise
Price, the Holders are entitled to receive an Exercise Price and a number of Exercise Shares based upon the new Exercise Price, as adjusted, for
exercises occurring on or after the date of such adjustment, regardless of whether a Holder accurately refers to the adjusted Exercise Price in the
Notice of Exercise.
6.
Fractional Interests. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issuable upon the Exercise of this Warrant, but
on Exercise of this Warrant, Holder may purchase only a whole number of shares of Common Stock. If, on Exercise of this Warrant, Holder
would be entitled to a fractional share of Common Stock or a right to acquire a fractional share of Common Stock, such fractional share shall be
disregarded and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon Exercise shall be the next closest number of whole shares.
7.
Reservation of Shares. From and after the date hereof, the Company shall at all times reserve for issuance such number of authorized
and unissued shares of Common Stock (or other securities substituted therefor as herein above provided) equal to 100% (the “Minimum
Warrant Share Reservation Amount”) of such number as shall be sufficient for the Exercise of this Warrant and payment of the Exercise
Price in full. If at any time the number of shares of Common Stock authorized and reserved for issuance is below 100% of the number of shares
sufficient for the Exercise of this Warrant (a “Share Authorization Failure”)(based on the Exercise Price in effect from time to time), the
Company will promptly take all corporate action necessary to authorize and reserve a sufficient number of shares, including, without limitation,
calling a special meeting of stockholders to authorize additional shares to meet the Company's obligations under this Section 7, in the case of an
insufficient number of authorized shares, and using its best efforts to obtain stockholder approval of an increase in such authorized number of
shares such that the number of shares authorized and reserved for the Exercise of this Warrant shall exceed the Minimum Warrant Share
Reservation Amount. The Company covenants and agrees that upon the Exercise of this Warrant, all shares of Common Stock issuable upon
such Exercise shall be duly and validly issued, fully paid, nonassessable and not subject to liens, claims, preemptive rights, rights of first refusal
or similar rights of any person or entity.
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8.

Restrictions on Transfer.

(a) Registration or Exemption Required. This Warrant has been issued in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the
Act by virtue of Regulation D of the 1933 Act. The Warrant and the Common Stock issuable upon the Exercise of this Warrant may not be
transferred, sold or assigned except pursuant to an effective registration statement or an exemption to the registration requirements of the Act and
applicable state laws.
(b) Assignment. If Holder can provide the Company with reasonably satisfactory evidence that the conditions above regarding
registration or exemption have been satisfied, Holder may sell, transfer, assign, pledge or otherwise dispose of this Warrant, in whole or in part.
Holder shall deliver a written notice to Company, substantially in the form of the Assignment reasonably requested by the Company, indicating
the person or persons to whom the Warrant shall be assigned and the respective number of warrants to be assigned to each assignee. The
Company shall effect the assignment within ten (10) days of receipt of such notice, and shall deliver to the assignee(s) designated by Holder a
Warrant or Warrants of like tenor and terms for the appropriate number of shares.
9.
Non-circumvention. The Company hereby covenants and agrees that the Company will not, by amendment of its Certificate of
Incorporation, Bylaws or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, scheme of arrangement, dissolution, issue or sale
of securities, or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, and will at
all times in good faith carry out all the provisions of this Warrant and take all action as may be required to protect the rights of the Holder.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company (i) shall not increase the par value of any shares of Common Stock receivable
upon the exercise of this Warrant above the Exercise Price then in effect, and (ii) shall take all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate in
order that the Company may validly and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock upon the exercise of this Warrant.
11.
Remedies, Other Obligations, Breaches and Injunctive Relief. The remedies provided in this Warrant, if any, shall be
cumulative and in addition to all other remedies available under this Warrant, at law or in equity (including a decree of specific performance
and/or other injunctive relief), and nothing herein shall limit the right of the Holder to pursue actual damages for any failure by the Company to
comply with the terms of this Warrant. The Company acknowledges that a breach by it of its obligations hereunder could cause irreparable harm
to the Holder and that the remedy at law for any such breach may be inadequate. The Company therefore agrees that, in the event of any such
breach or threatened breach, the holder of this Warrant could seek, in addition to all other available remedies, an injunction restraining any breach.
12.
Dispute Resolution. In the case of a dispute as to the determination of the Exercise Price or the arithmetic calculation of the
number of Warrant Shares issuable upon any exercise of this Warrant, the Company shall promptly issue to the Holder the number of Warrant
Shares that are not disputed and resolve such dispute in accordance with this subsection. In the case of a dispute as to the arithmetic calculation
of the Exercise Price, the Company shall submit the disputed determinations or arithmetic calculations via facsimile within five (5) Business Days
of receipt, or deemed receipt, of the Notice of Exercise or Redemption Notice or other event giving rise to such dispute, as the case may be, to the
Holder. If the Holder and the Company are unable to agree upon such determination or calculation within five (5) Business Days of such
disputed determination or arithmetic calculation being submitted to the Holder, then the Company shall, within five (5) Business Days submit via
facsimile, the disputed arithmetic calculation of the Exercise Price to the Company’s independent, outside accountant or any other matter referred
to above that is not expressly designated to the independent investment bank or the independent outside accountant pursuant to an expert attorney
from a nationally recognized outside law firm (having at least 50 attorneys and having with no prior relationship with the Company) selected by
the Company and approved by the Holder. The Company, at the Company’s expense, shall cause the investment bank or the accountant, law
firm, or other expert, as the case may be, to perform the determinations or calculations and notify the Company and the Holder of the results no
later than five (5) Business Days from the time it receives the disputed determinations or calculations. Such investment bank’s or accountant’s
determination or calculation, as the case may be, shall be binding upon all parties absent demonstrable error (collectively, the “Dispute
Resolution Procedures”).
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13.
Benefits of this Warrant. Nothing in this Warrant shall be construed to confer upon any person other than the Company and
Holder any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Warrant and this Warrant shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the
Company and Holder.
14.
Governing Law. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be
governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Texas, without regard to the principles of conflicts of
law thereof. Each party agrees that all legal proceedings concerning the interpretations, enforcement and defense of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement (whether brought against a party hereto or its respective affiliates, directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents) shall
be commenced exclusively in the state and federal courts sitting in the City of Houston, Texas. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting in the City of Houston, Texas for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in
connection herewith or with any transaction contemplated hereby or discussed herein (including with respect to the enforcement of any of the
Loan Documents), and hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally
subject to the jurisdiction of any such court, that such suit, action or proceeding is improper or is an inconvenient venue for such
proceeding. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit, action or
proceeding by mailing a copy thereof via registered or certified mail or overnight delivery (with evidence of delivery) to such party at the address
in effect for notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and notice
thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. The
parties hereby waive all rights to a trial by jury. If either party shall commence an action or proceeding to enforce any provisions of this
Agreement, then the prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other party for its reasonable attorneys’ fees and
other costs and expenses incurred with the investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action or proceeding.
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15. Loss of Warrant. Upon receipt by the Company of evidence of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant, and (in the
case of loss, theft or destruction) of indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to the Company, and upon surrender and cancellation of this
Warrant, if mutilated, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant of like tenor and date within ten (10) Business Days.
16. Notice or Demands. Notices or demands pursuant to this Warrant to be given or made by Holder to or on the Company shall be
sufficiently given or made if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and addressed, until another address is
designated in writing by the Company, to the address set forth in Section 2(a) above. Notices or demands pursuant to this Warrant to be given or
made by the Company to or on Holder shall be sufficiently given or made if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage
prepaid, and addressed, to the address of Holder set forth in the Company’s records, until another address is designated in writing by Holder.
17. Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the Company
and the Holder.
18. Capacity. Each signatory below confirms and acknowledges that they have received valid authorization and that each respective
party has authorized such signatory to sign this Warrant on such party’s behalf.
19. Effect of Facsimile and Photocopied Signatures. This Warrant may be executed in several counterparts, each of which is an
original. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Warrant or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other
counterparts. A copy of this Warrant signed by one party and faxed to another party shall be deemed to have been executed and delivered by the
signing party as though an original. A photocopy of this Warrant shall be effective as an original for all purposes.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank. Signature page follows.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Warrant as of the 31st day of May 2013.

Lucas Energy, Inc.
By: ________________________
Its: Chief Executive Officer
Printed Name: Anthony C. Schnur
Date: May 31, 2013
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EXHIBIT A
NOTICE OF EXERCISE FORM FOR WARRANT
TO: LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
The undersigned hereby irrevocably Exercises the right to purchase ____________ of the shares of Common Stock (the “Common Stock”) of
LUCAS ENERGY, INC., a Nevada company (the “Company”), evidenced by the attached Common Stock Purchase Warrant (#L-__, the
“Warrant”), and herewith makes payment of the applicable Exercise Price with respect to such shares in full, all in accordance with the
conditions and provisions of said Warrant.
1. The undersigned agrees not to offer, sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Common Stock obtained on Exercise of the Warrant,
except in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Warrant.
2. The undersigned requests that stock certificates for such shares be issued free of any restrictive legend, if appropriate, and a warrant
representing any unexercised portion hereof be issued, pursuant to the Warrant in the name of the undersigned and delivered to the undersigned at
the address set forth below:
Dated:________
________________________________________________________________________
Signature
_______________________________________________________________________
Print Name
_______________________________________________________________________
IF Entity, Entity Name
_______________________________________________________________________
Signatory’s Position With Entity
________________________________________________________________________
Address
_______________________________________________________________________
NOTICE
The signature to the foregoing Notice of Exercise Form must correspond to the name as written upon the face of the attached Warrant in every
particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.
________________________________________________________________________
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Exhibit 10.16

LOAN AGREEMENT
dated as of May 31, 2013
by and among
the Lenders,
and
Lucas Energy, Inc.
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LOAN AGREEMENT
This LOAN AGREEMENT, dated May 31, 2013, is made by and among Lucas Energy, Inc., a Nevada corporation ("Borrower") and
the Lender(s) who are signatories to this Agreement and are listed on Schedule 1 hereto ("Lenders", provided that in the event there is only one
Lender, references in this Agreement to Lenders shall refer to such single Lender), in respect of loans in the aggregate principal amount of FIVE
HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($500,000).
RECITALS
A.

Borrower, a Nevada corporation, is an independent oil and gas company;

B.

Borrower requires funding to pay certain amounts owed to Nordic Oil USA I, LLLP ("Nordic”); and

C.
The Lenders have agreed to furnish to the Borrower Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000), which will be used to pay
certain amounts owed to Nordic or for general working capital.
THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, LENDERS AND
BORROWER agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND USE OF TERMS
Section 1.1 Terms Defined Above. As used in this Agreement, the terms "Lenders" and "Borrower" shall have the meanings
respectively indicated in the opening recital hereof.
Section 1.2 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the
context otherwise requires.
“1934 Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12.
“Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
"Agreement" means this Loan Agreement, as from time to time amended or supplemented.
"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which national banks in Houston, Texas, are authorized or
required to be closed.
"Closing Date" means the date upon which the Loans are made.
"Collateral" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
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"Debtor Relief Laws" means any applicable liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, moratorium, rearrangement, insolvency,
reorganization, or similar laws, domestic or foreign, including but not limited to those in Title 11 of the United States Code, affecting the rights or
remedies of creditors generally, as in effect from time to time.
“Default Rate” means the interest rate which accrues upon an Event of Default as provided in the Notes.
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act.
"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.
"Execution Date" means the date upon which all of the Loan Documents are executed.
“Funding” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.8.
"Governmental Authority" means the United States, the state, the county, the city, or any other political subdivision in which the
Collateral is located, and any court or political subdivision, agency, or instrumentality having or exercising jurisdiction over Borrower or the
Collateral.
"Governmental Requirements" means all laws, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations, orders, writs, injunctions or decrees of any
Governmental Authority applicable to Borrower or the Collateral.
"Indemnified Matters" means any and all claims, demands, liabilities (including strict liability), losses, damages (including
consequential damages), causes of action, judgments, penalties, fines, costs and expenses (including without limitation, reasonable fees and
expenses of attorneys and other professional consultants and experts, and all costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) of the investigation
and defense of any claim, whether or not such claim is ultimately defeated, and the settlement of any claim or judgment including all value paid or
given in settlement) of every kind, known or unknown, foreseeable or unforeseeable, which may be imposed upon, asserted against or incurred
or paid by any of the Lenders or any other Indemnified Party at any time and from time to time, whenever imposed, asserted or incurred, because
of, resulting from, in connection with, or arising out of any transaction, act, omission, event or circumstance in any way connected with (i) the
Loans, (ii) the Collateral, or (iii) this Agreement or any other Loan Document, including, without limitation, (1) disbursement of the proceeds of
the Loans, (2) the condition of the Collateral, (3) any act performed or omitted to be performed hereunder or under any other Loan Document, (4)
any failure by Borrower to perform its obligations under any contracts related to the Collateral, and (5) any Event of Default or event which with
the lapse of time, the providing of notice or both would constitute an Event of Default.
"Indebtedness" means all loans, advances, debts, liabilities and obligations, howsoever arising, owed by Borrower to any of the
Lenders of every kind and description (whether or not evidenced by any note or instrument and whether or not for the payment of money), now
existing or hereafter arising under or pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents, including all interest, fees, charges, expenses, attorneys’ fees
and costs and accountants’ fees and costs chargeable to and payable by Borrower pursuant to the Loan Documents, in each case, whether direct
or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, and whether or not arising after the commencement of a proceeding under Title 11 of
the United States Code (11 U. S. C. Section 101 et seq.), as amended from time to time (including post-petition interest) and whether or not
allowed or allowable as a claim in any such proceeding.
2

"Indemnified Party" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4.
"Loans" means the loan by Lenders to Borrower.
"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, and the Warrants, and such other documents evidencing, securing or pertaining
to the Loans as shall, from time to time, be executed and delivered to the Lenders by Borrower, or any other party pursuant to this Agreement.
"Notes" means the Promissory Notes, dated the Closing Date, made by Borrower payable to the order of each of the Lenders in the
respective principal amount of and evidencing such Lender's Loan, as set forth opposite such Lender's name on Schedule 1 hereto, and all
renewals, amendments and replacements thereof.
“Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
“Prior Lenders” means those lenders who have executed the Prior Loan Documents where applicable and have made the Prior Loans.
“Prior Loan Documents” means the Loan Documents as defined in that Loan Agreement between the Company and certain of the
Lenders dated April 4, 2013.
“Prior Loans” means those Loans described and defined in that Loan Agreement between the Company and certain of the Lenders
dated April 4, 2013.
“Prior Notes” means the promissory notes entered into by the Company to evidence and document the Prior Loans.
“Pro Rata Share” means the percentage obtained by dividing (i) the then outstanding principal amount of a Note by (ii) the then
principal amount of all outstanding Notes.
“Repayment Requirement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.8.
"Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders whose Pro Rata Shares aggregate 50.1% or more.
“Required Listing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
“Required Secured Party Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders and Prior Lenders whose percentage ownership of the Notes and
Prior Notes (obtained by dividing (i) the then outstanding principal amount of a Note by (ii) the then principal amount of all outstanding Notes
and Prior Notes outstanding), aggregate 50.1% or more.
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“SEC Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.12.
“Secured Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
“Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
“Security Interest” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.
“UCC” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.
"Warrants" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
“Warrant Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
ARTICLE 2
THE LOAN
Section 2.1 Commitment to Lend. Subject to and upon the terms, covenants and conditions of this Agreement, each Lender severally
will make its Loan to Borrower in accordance with this Agreement, and such Loans will total $500,000 in the aggregate. Each Lender's
commitment to make such Loan may be terminated by such Lender by notice to Borrower if all conditions to the Loan Agreement have not been
satisfied. Each Loan is not revolving; an amount repaid may not be re-borrowed. Each Loan is and shall be evidenced by the applicable
Note. Each Note may be prepaid in whole or in part without penalty.
Section 2.2 Interest on the Loan. Interest on the Loans, at the rates specified in the Notes, shall be computed on the unpaid principal
balance which exists from time to time and due and payable as set forth in the Note.
Section 2.3 Warrants. The Borrower shall grant each of the Lenders their Pro Rata Share of Common Stock Warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 50,000 shares of the Borrower’s common stock in the form of Exhibit B, attached hereto (the “Warrants”). The Warrants shall
have: an exercise price equal to the greater of (a) $1.50 per share; and (b) $0.01 above the closing sales price of the Borrower’s common stock
on the date this Agreement is agreed to by the parties; a term of five years; and such other terms as are set forth in the Warrants. The grant of
the Warrants and issuance of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise thereof (the “Warrant Shares”) shall be conditioned for all
purposes upon the listing of such Warrant Shares on the NYSE MKT by the Borrower, which listing the Borrower agrees to undertake
promptly upon or prior to the Closing Date and to be completed within two (2) weeks of the Closing Date (the “Required Listing Date”).
Section 2.4 Commitment Fee. The Borrower shall pay the Lenders their Pro Rata Share of a $15,000 commitment fee for agreeing to
enter into this Agreement and provide the Loans which fee shall be automatically deducted from the Loan proceeds when released to Borrower.
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ARTICLE 3
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BORROWER
To induce the Lenders to make the Loan, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Lenders (which representations and warranties
will survive the execution and delivery of the Note and shall continue until the Indebtedness has been paid in full) that:
Section 3.1 Authorization; Enforcement. (i) The Borrower has all requisite corporate power and authority to enter into and perform
this Agreement, the Notes and Warrants and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and to issue the Securities, in
accordance with the terms hereof and thereof, (ii) the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Notes, and the Warrants by the Borrower
and the consummation by it of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by the Borrower’s Board of
Directors and no further consent or authorization of the Borrower, its Board of Directors, or its shareholders is required, (iii) this Agreement
has been duly executed and delivered by the Borrower by its authorized representative, and such authorized representative is the true and official
representative with authority to sign this Agreement and the other documents executed in connection herewith and bind the Borrower
accordingly, and (iv) this Agreement constitutes, and upon execution and delivery by the Borrower of the Notes and Warrants, each of such
instruments will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms.
Section 3.2 Suits, Actions, Etc. There are no actions, suits, investigations or proceedings pending, or, to the knowledge of
Borrower, threatened in any court or before or by any Governmental Authority against or affecting Borrower or the Collateral, or involving the
validity, enforceability, or priority of the Loan Documents, at law or in equity, except as otherwise set forth in the SEC Documents. The
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and the performance of the terms and conditions hereof and of the other Loan
Documents, will not cause Borrower to be in violation of or in default with respect to any Governmental Requirement, or result in a breach of,
or constitute a default under any note, lease, contract, deed of trust, agreement or other undertaking or restriction to which Borrower is a party or
by which Borrower may be bound or affected. Borrower is not in default under the terms of any order of any court or any requirement of any
Governmental Authority or under the terms of any indebtedness or obligation.
Section 3.3 Status of Borrower; Valid and Binding Obligation. Borrower is (a) a Nevada corporation, duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization and (b) possesses all power and authority necessary to own the
Collateral, to enter into and perform Borrower's obligations under the Loan Documents to operate its business and to make the borrowings
contemplated hereby. All of the Loan Documents, and all other documents referred to herein to which Borrower is a party, upon execution and
delivery will constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Borrower enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their terms, except as
the enforcement thereof may be limited by Debtor Relief Laws.
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Section 3.4 Title to the Property. Borrower holds full legal and equitable title to the Collateral in fee simple absolute. The Lenders
rely upon such representations made by Borrower as the Collateral being pledged as security is personal in nature and removable from the
Borrower's location.
Section 3.5 Disclosure. There is no fact that Borrower has not disclosed to the Lenders in writing or in the SEC Documents that
could materially adversely affect the business or financial condition of Borrower or the Collateral.
Section 3.6 Taxes. Borrower has filed all necessary tax returns and reports and has paid all taxes and governmental charges thereby
shown to be owing except any such taxes or charges that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings which have been
disclosed to the Lenders in writing prior to the date of this Agreement and for which adequate reserves have been set aside on Borrower's books
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Section 3.7

Violations. Borrower is in material compliance with all Governmental Requirements.

Section 3.8 Compliance with Restrictions and Agreements. The use of the Collateral contemplated by Borrower complies and will
comply with all applicable restrictive covenants and Governmental Requirements.
Section 3.9 Not a Foreign Person. Borrower is not a "foreign person" within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended ("IRC"), Sections 1445 and 7701 (i.e. Borrower is not a non-resident alien, foreign corporation, foreign partnership, foreign trust or
foreign estate as those terms are defined in the IRC and any regulations promulgated thereunder).
Section 3.10 Inducement to Lenders. The representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are made by Borrower as
an inducement to the Lenders to make the Loans. Borrower understands that the Lenders are relying on such representations and warranties and
that such representations and warranties shall survive any proceedings under Debtor Relief Laws involving Borrower or the Collateral.
Section 3.11 Warrant Shares. The Warrant Shares are duly authorized and reserved for issuance and, upon exercise of the Warrants
in accordance with its respective terms, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and free from all taxes, liens, claims and
encumbrances with respect to the issue thereof and shall not be subject to preemptive rights or other similar rights of shareholders of the
Borrower and will not impose personal liability upon the holder thereof.
Section 3.12 Securities and Exchange Commission Documents. The Borrower has timely filed all reports, schedules, forms (other
than Section 16 ownership forms and Schedule 13D/G’s), statements and other documents required to be filed by it with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”) (all of the
foregoing filed prior to the date hereof and all exhibits included therein and financial statements and schedules thereto and documents (other than
exhibits to such documents) incorporated by reference therein, being hereinafter referred to herein as the “SEC Documents”). As of their
respective dates, the SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations of the
SEC promulgated thereunder applicable to the SEC Documents. The Borrower is subject to the reporting requirements of the 1934 Act.
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Section 3.13 No Brokers. The Borrower has taken no action which would give rise to any claim by any person for brokerage
commissions, transaction fees or similar payments relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
ARTICLE 4
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS OF BORROWER
Borrower hereby covenants and agrees as follows:
Section 4.1 Notice to the Lenders. Borrower shall promptly notify the Lenders in writing of any of the following occurrences or
events as the same become known to Borrower, specifying in each case the action Borrower has taken or caused to be taken, or proposes to take
or cause to be taken, with respect thereto: (a) the occurrence of any default or any event which with the giving of notice or the lapse of time, or
both, could become an Event of Default; (b) any default by Borrower under any Governmental Requirement or in the payment of any
indebtedness (or in the performance of any obligation related thereto); (c) any adverse change in the condition, financial or otherwise, of
Borrower; and (d) the occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or governmental investigation or proceeding not previously disclosed by
Borrower to the Lenders which has been instituted or (to the knowledge of Borrower) is threatened against Borrower or the Collateral.
Section 4.2 Further Assurances. Borrower shall execute and deliver to the Lenders, from time to time as requested by the Lenders,
such other documents, agreements, certificates, affidavits, and other instruments as shall be reasonably necessary to provide the rights and
remedies to the Lenders granted or provided for by the Loan Documents.
Section 4.3 Defense of Actions. The Lenders may (but shall not be obligated to) commence, appear in, or defend any action or
proceeding purporting to affect the Loans, the Collateral or the respective rights and obligations of the Lenders or Borrower pursuant to this
Agreement. The Lenders may (but shall not be obligated to) pay all necessary expenses, including attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in
connection with such proceedings or actions, which expenses are part of the Indebtedness, bear interest at the applicable rate set forth in the
Notes, and are payable to the Lenders on demand.
Section 4.4 Indemnification. Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless (a) the Lenders, (b) any affiliate of the Lenders, (c) any
participants in the Loans, (d) the directors, officers, partners, employees and agents of the Lenders, and (e) the heirs, personal representatives,
successors and assigns of each of the foregoing persons or entities (each an "Indemnified Party") from and against, and reimburse them on
demand for, any and all Indemnified Matters. WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE FOREGOING INDEMNITIES SHALL APPLY TO EACH
INDEMNIFIED PARTY WITH RESPECT TO MATTERS WHICH IN WHOLE OR IN PART ARE CAUSED BY OR ARISE OUT OF
THE NEGLIGENCE OF SUCH (AND/OR ANY OTHER) INDEMNIFIED PARTY. However, such indemnities shall not apply to a
particular Indemnified Party to the extent that the subject of the indemnification is caused by or arises out of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of that Indemnified Party as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction. Any amount to be paid under this Section by
Borrower to an Indemnified Party shall be a demand obligation owing by Borrower (which Borrower hereby promises to pay) to Lenders, as
part of the Indebtedness, even if in excess of the amount committed by the Lenders under Section 2.1, and bear interest from the date of demand
at the rate set forth in the Notes. Nothing in this Section, elsewhere in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document shall limit or impair any
rights or remedies of the Lenders or any other Indemnified Party (including without limitation any rights of contribution or indemnification),
against Borrower or any other person under any other provision of this Agreement, any other Loan Document, any other agreement or any
applicable Governmental Requirement. The liability of Borrower or any other person under this indemnity shall not be limited or impaired in
any way by (i) the payment in full of the Indebtedness, any bankruptcy or other debtor relief proceeding, or any other event whatsoever, (ii) any
provision in the Loan Documents or applicable law limiting Borrower's or such other person's liability or the Lenders’ recourse or rights to a
deficiency judgment, or (iii) any change, extension, release, inaccuracy, breach or failure to perform by any party under the Loan Documents, in
each case Borrower's (and, if applicable, such other person's) liability hereunder being direct and primary and not as a guarantor.
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Section 4.5 NYSE MKT Listing; Listing of Warrant Shares. The Borrower will, so long as the Lenders own any of the Securities,
maintain the listing and trading of its common stock on the NYSE MKT or any equivalent replacement exchange, the Nasdaq National Market
(“Nasdaq”), the Nasdaq SmallCap Market (“Nasdaq SmallCap”), or the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). The Borrower shall secure
the listing of the Warrant Shares on the NYSE MKT prior to the Required Listing Date and, so long as the Lenders own any of the Securities,
shall maintain such listing.
Section 4.6 Compliance with 1934 Act. So long as the Lenders beneficially own the Securities, the Borrower shall comply with the
reporting requirements of the 1934 Act; and the Borrower shall continue to be subject to the reporting requirements of the 1934 Act.
Section 4.7 Corporate Existence. So long as the Lenders beneficially own any Securities, the Borrower shall maintain its corporate
existence and shall not sell all or substantially all of the Borrower’s assets, except in the event of a merger or consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of the Borrower’s assets, where the surviving or successor entity in such transaction (i) assumes the Borrower’s obligations
hereunder and under the agreements and instruments entered into in connection herewith and (ii) is a publicly traded corporation whose
Common Stock is listed for trading on the Nasdaq, Nasdaq SmallCap, NYSE or NYSE MKT.
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Section 4.8 Prohibition on Borrowing. For so long as the Notes are outstanding, the Borrower shall not (a) borrow any funds; or
(b) sell any securities in any fund raising transaction (each a “Funding”), unless the Required Lenders approve such Funding in writing, or any
funds raised in any such Funding are first used to repay the Notes (the “Repayment Requirement”).
Section 4.9 Proceeds From Property and Interest Sales. For so long as the Notes are outstanding, the Borrower shall not sell any oil
and gas or other properties nor any interest in any properties, unless the Required Lenders approve such sale in writing, or any funds raised in
any such sales are first used to repay the Notes.
Section 4.10 Use of Proceeds. The Borrower shall use the funds raised through the sale of the Notes to pay certain amounts owed to
Nordic or for general working capital.
ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF LENDERS
To induce the Borrower to grant the Warrants, each of the Lenders, individually and not jointly or severally, hereby represents and
warrants to the Borrower (which representations and warranties will survive the execution and delivery of the Note) that:
Section 5.1 Restricted Nature of Securities. Each of the Lenders recognize that the Warrants and the Warrant Shares, collectively, the
“Securities”, have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act”), nor under the securities laws of any state and,
therefore, cannot be resold unless the resale of the Securities is registered under the Act or unless an exemption from registration is
available. The Lender may not sell the Securities without registering them under the Act and any applicable state securities laws unless
exemptions from such registration requirements are available with respect to any such sale. The Borrower is under no obligation to register
such Securities under the Act or under any state “Blue Sky” laws prior to or subsequent to their issuance.
Section 5.2

Accredited Investor Status. Each Lender is an “accredited investor” as such term is defined under Rule 501 of the Act.

Section 5.3 Knowledge and Experience. Each Lender has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters such that
Lender is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Securities and of making an informed investment decision, and does
not require a representative in evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Securities.
Section 5.4 Speculative Investment. Each Lender recognizes that an investment in the Borrower is a speculative venture and that the
total amount of consideration tendered in connection with the Securities is placed at the risk of the business and may be completely lost. The
ownership of the Securities as an investment involves special risks.
Section 5.5 Securities Have Not Been Registered. No federal or state agency has made any finding or determination as to the
fairness of the Securities for investment or any recommendation or endorsement of the Securities. The Securities have not been registered under
the Act or the securities laws of any State and are being offered and sold in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Act
and such state laws.
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Section 5.6 No View to Distribute. The Lender is acquiring the Securities for his, her or its own account for long-term investment
and not with a view toward resale, fractionalization or division, or distribution thereof, and he, she or it does not presently have any reason to
anticipate any change in his, her or its circumstances, financial or otherwise, or particular occasion or event which would necessitate or require
his, her or its sale or distribution of the Securities. No one other than the Lender has any beneficial interest in said securities. The Lender is
receiving the Securities for his, her or its account for the purpose of investment and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any
distribution thereof.
Section 5.7
Documents.

SEC Documents. The Lender is deemed to have knowledge of all information and disclosures set forth in the SEC

Section 5.8 Waiver of Repayment Requirement. By entering into this Agreement, the Lenders who are Prior Lenders, if any, waive
and release the Company from the Repayment Requirement associated with the Prior Loans in connection with the funds received in connection
with the Loans set forth herein. The Lenders who are Prior Lenders, if any, confirm and acknowledge that the waiver of the Repayment
Requirement by all of the Prior Lenders shall be a condition precedent to the closing of the transactions contemplated herein.
ARTICLE 6
DEFAULT AND REMEDIES
Section 6.1 Events of Default. Written notice from the Required Lenders of the occurrence of any one of the following shall be an
Event of Default, provided that Borrower shall have a period of ten (10) Business Days to cure any default caused by the occurrence of those
events described in Sections 6.1(a),(b),(c),(h),(i),(j),(k),(l),(m) and (n), in the event such default can be reasonably cured in such ten (10)
Business Day period:
(a)

Failure to Pay Indebtedness. Any of the Indebtedness is not paid when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise;

(b)
Nonperformance of Covenants herein set forth. Any material covenant, agreement or condition herein is not fully and
timely performed, observed or kept;
(c)
Nonperformance of Covenants set forth in any other Loan Document. Any material covenant, agreement or condition
in any other Loan Document is not fully and timely performed, observed or kept, and except with respect to covenants to pay any of the
Indebtedness, such failure is not cured within the applicable grace period (if any) provided for in such other Loan Document;
(d)
Representations. Any statement, representation or warranty in any of the Loan Documents, or in any financial
statement or any other writing heretofore or hereafter delivered to any of the Lenders in connection with the Loans is false, fraudulent, misleading
or erroneous in any material respect on the date or on the date as of which such statement, representation or warranty is made;
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(e)
Injunction. Any court of competent jurisdiction enjoins or prohibits Borrower or the Lenders from performing this
Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents, and such injunction or order is not vacated within thirty (30) days after the granting thereof;
(f)
Litigation Against Borrower. Any judgment is obtained against Borrower in excess of $500,000, which could or
does substantially impact the ability of Borrower to perform any of its obligations under the Loan Documents, and such judgment is not
dismissed within ninety (90) days;
(g)
Bankruptcy. The Borrower or any person obligated to pay any part of the Indebtedness (or any general partner or
joint venturer of such owner or other person):
(1)
(i) Executes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or takes any action in furtherance thereof; or (ii)
admits in writing its inability to pay, or fails to pay, its debts generally as they become due; or (iii) as a debtor, files a petition, case, proceeding or
other action pursuant to, or voluntarily seeks the benefit or benefits of any Debtor Relief Law, or takes any action in furtherance thereof; or (iv)
seeks the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of the Collateral or any part thereof or of any significant portion of its other
property; or
(2)
Suffers the filing of a petition, case, proceeding or other action against it as a debtor under any Debtor Relief
Law or seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of the Collateral or any part thereof or of any significant portion of its
other property, and (i) admits, acquiesces in or fails to contest diligently the material allegations thereof, or (ii) the petition, case, proceeding or
other action results in entry of any order for relief or order granting relief sought against it, or (iii) in a proceeding under Title 11 of the United
States Code, the case is converted from one chapter to another, or (iv) fails to have the petition, case, proceeding or other action permanently
dismissed or discharged on or before the earlier of trial thereon or ninety (90) days next following the date of its filing; or
(3)
Conceals, removes, or permits to be concealed or removed, any part of its property, with intent to hinder,
delay or defraud its creditors or any of them, or makes or suffers a transfer of any of its property which may be fraudulent under any bankruptcy,
fraudulent conveyance or similar law; or makes any transfer of its property to or for the benefit of a creditor at a time when other creditors
similarly situated have not been paid; or suffers or permits, while insolvent, any creditor to obtain a lien (other than as described in subparagraph
(4) below) upon any of its property through legal proceedings which are not vacated and such lien discharged prior to enforcement of such lien
and in any event within ninety (90) days from the date thereof; or
(4)
levied upon any of its property; or
(5)

Fails to have discharged within a period of ten (10) days any attachment, sequestration, or similar writ
Fails to pay immediately any final money judgment against it;
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(h)
Default Under Other Loan Document. A default or event of default occurs under any of the Borrower’s other loan
agreements, loan documents or outstanding promissory notes;
(i)

Failure to comply with ERISA. The Borrower is deemed not in compliance with any of the requirements of ERISA;

(j)
Liquidation. The liquidation, termination, dissolution, merger, consolidation or failure to maintain good standing in the
State of Nevada of the Borrower or any person obligated to pay any part of the Indebtedness;
(k)
Enforceability Priority. Any Loan Document shall for any reason without Lenders’ specific written consent cease to
be in full force and effect, or shall be declared null and void or unenforceable in whole or in part, or the validity or enforceability thereof, in whole
or in part, shall be challenged or denied by any party thereto other than the Lenders; or the liens, mortgages or security interests of the Lenders in
any of the Collateral become unenforceable in whole or in part, or cease to be of the priority herein required, or the validity or enforceability
thereof, in whole or in part, shall be challenged or denied by Borrower or any person obligated to pay any part of the Indebtedness;
(l)
(m)

Abandonment. Borrower abandons any or all of the Collateral;
[Intentionally removed]; or

(n)
Other Loan Documents. A default or event of default occurs under any Loan Document, other than this Agreement,
and the same is not remedied within the applicable period of grace (if any) provided in such Loan Document.
Section 6.2 Certain Remedies. Should an Event of Default occur, the Required Lenders may, at their election, do any one or more of
the following on behalf of the Lenders, without notice (unless notice is required by applicable statute), all of which are authorized by Borrower:
(a)
Declare the Indebtedness, or any part thereof, immediately due and payable, whereupon it shall be due and payable
without notice of any kind, including but not limited to notice of intention to accelerate, all of which are waived by Borrower.
(b)

Terminate its commitment to lend.

(c)

Reduce any claim to judgment.

(d)
Exercise any and all rights and remedies afforded by any of the Loan Documents, or by law or equity or otherwise,
as the Required Lenders shall deem appropriate, subject to the requirement to obtain approval of the Required Secured Party Lenders to enforce
the Security Interest.
Section 6.3 Performance by Lenders on Borrower's Behalf. Borrower agrees that, if Borrower fails to perform any act or to take any
action which under any Loan Document Borrower is required to perform or take, or to pay any money which under any Loan Document
Borrower is required to pay, and there exists an Event of Default or potential Event of Default hereunder, any of the Lenders, in Borrower's
name or its own name, may, but shall not be obligated to, perform or cause to be performed such act or take such action or pay such money, and
any expenses so incurred by the Lenders and any money so paid by the Lenders, shall be a demand obligation owing by Borrower to the
Lenders (which obligation Borrower hereby promises to pay), and the Lenders, upon making such payment, shall be subrogated to all of the
rights of the person, entity or body politic receiving such payment. No such payment or performance by the Lenders shall waive or cure any
default or waive any right, remedy or recourse of the Lenders. Any such payment may be made by the Lenders in reliance on any statement,
invoice or claim without inquiry into the validity or accuracy thereof. Each amount due and owing by Borrower to the Lenders pursuant to this
Section shall bear interest each day, from the date of such expenditure or payment until paid, at the same rate as is provided in the Notes for
interest on past due principal owed on the Notes; and all such amounts, together with such interest thereon, shall be a part of the
Indebtedness. The amount and nature of any such expense and the time when paid shall be fully established by the certificate of the Lenders or
their officers or agent.

12

Section 6.4 Remedies Cumulative. All remedies provided for herein and in any other Loan Document are cumulative of each other
and of any and all other remedies existing at law or in equity, and any of the Lenders shall, in addition to the remedies provided herein or in any
other Loan Document, be entitled to avail itself of all such other remedies as may now or hereafter exist at law or in equity for the collection of
the Indebtedness and the enforcement of the covenants herein and the foreclosure of the liens and security interests evidenced by the Security
Interest or any other Loan Document, and then resort to any remedy provided for hereunder or under any such other Loan Document or
provided for by law or in equity shall not prevent the concurrent or subsequent employment of any other appropriate remedy or remedies.
ARTICLE 7
SECURITY INTEREST
Section 7.1 Security. The (a) full and punctual payment (in lawful money of the United States and in immediately available funds),
as and when due, of all Indebtedness; and (b) full and punctual performance of all other obligations of Borrower under the Loan Documents
and Prior Loan Documents (collectively the “Obligations”) shall be secured by a continuing and first-priority security interest in and a lien
upon, an unqualified right to possession and disposition of and a right of set-off against, in each case to the fullest extent permitted by law, of all
of the Borrower’s right, title and interest in one hundred (100) barrels of oil per day of net production from the Borrower’s owned and operated
oil and gas properties, and all payments and proceeds associated therewith (the “Collateral” and the “Security Interest”).
Section 7.2 Enforcement of Security Interest. Upon occurrence of any Event of Default and at any time thereafter, the Required
Secured Party Lenders (for the purposes of this Section, the “Secured Party”, provided that all Lenders shall have security rights hereunder)
shall have the right to exercise all of the remedies conferred hereunder, and the Secured Party shall have all the rights and remedies of a secured
party under the Uniform Commercial Code, as currently in effect in the State of Texas (the “UCC”) and/or any other applicable law (including
the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction in which any Collateral is then located). Without limitation, the Secured Party shall have the
following rights and powers:
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therefrom;

(a)

The Secured Party shall have the right to take possession of the Collateral or the right to receive the proceeds

(b)
The Secured Party shall have the right to assign, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of and deliver all or any part of the
Collateral, at public or private sale or otherwise, either with or without special conditions or stipulations, for cash or on credit or for future
delivery, in such parcel or parcels and at such time or times and at such place or places, and upon such terms and conditions as the Secured Party
may deem commercially reasonable, all without (except as shall be required by applicable statute and cannot be waived) advertisement or demand
upon or notice to the Borrower or right of redemption of the Borrower, which are hereby expressly waived. Upon each such sale, lease,
assignment or other transfer of Collateral, the Secured Party may, unless prohibited by applicable law which cannot be waived, purchase all or
any part of the Collateral being sold, free from and discharged of all trusts, claims, right of redemption and equities of the Borrower, which are
hereby waived and released; and/or
(c)

The Secured Party shall have the right to take any and all actions provided for under applicable law.

The proceeds of any such sale, lease or other disposition of the Collateral hereunder shall be applied first, to the expenses of retaking,
holding, storing, processing and preparing for sale, selling, and the like (including, without limitation, any taxes, fees and other costs incurred in
connection therewith) of the Collateral, to the reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred by the Secured Party in enforcing its rights
hereunder and in connection with collecting, storing and disposing of the Collateral, and then to satisfaction of the Obligations, and to the
payment of any other amounts required by applicable law, after which the Secured Party shall pay to the Borrower any surplus proceeds. If,
upon the sale, license or other disposition of the Collateral, the proceeds thereof are insufficient to pay all amounts to which the Secured Party is
legally entitled, the Borrower will be liable for the deficiency, together with interest thereon, at the Default Rate, and the reasonable fees of any
attorneys employed by the Secured Party to collect such deficiency. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower waives all claims,
damages and demands against the Secured Party arising out of the repossession, removal, retention or sale of the Collateral, unless due to the
gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Secured Party.
Section 7.3 Out-of-Pocket Costs. The Borrower will, upon demand, pay to the Secured Party the amount of any and all reasonable
expenses, including expenses incurred in connection with any filing which may be required hereunder, including without limitation, any
financing statements, continuation statements, partial releases and/or termination statements related thereto, the reasonable fees and expenses of
its counsel and of any experts and agents, which the Secured Party may incur in connection with (i) the enforcement of the Notes or Prior
Notes, (ii) the custody or preservation of, or the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon, any of the Collateral, or (iii) the exercise or
enforcement of any of the rights of the Secured Party under the Notes or Prior Notes. Until so paid, any fees payable hereunder shall be added
to the principal amount of the Notes (or Prior Notes, as applicable) and shall bear interest at the Default Rate.
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Section 7.4 Attorney-In-Fact. Borrower hereby appoints Lenders as its attorney-in-fact (with full power of substitution) to execute,
deliver and file, effective upon the occurrence of an Event of Default on Borrower’s behalf and at Borrower’s expense, (1) any financing
statements, continuation statements or other documents required to perfect or continue the Security Interest and (2) any other documents and
instruments that Required Secured Party Lenders determine are necessary or appropriate in order to enable it to exercise its rights and remedies
that are provided hereunder and by applicable law upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. This power, being coupled with an interest, shall
be irrevocable until the Obligations are paid and performed in full.
Section 7.5 Ownership of Collateral. The Borrower is the sole owner of the Collateral, free and clear of any liens, security interests,
encumbrances, rights or claims, and is fully authorized to grant the Security Interest in and to pledge the Collateral. There is not on file in any
governmental or regulatory authority, agency or recording office an effective financing statement, security agreement, license or transfer or any
notice of any of the foregoing (other than those that have been filed in favor of the Secured Party pursuant to this Agreement) covering or
affecting any of the Collateral. So long as this Agreement shall be in effect, the Borrower shall not execute and shall not knowingly permit to
be on file in any such office or agency any such financing statement or other document or instrument (except to the extent filed or recorded in
favor of the Secured Party pursuant to the terms of this Agreement).
Section 7.6 Financing Statement and Other Filings. At the request of the Secured Party, the Borrower will sign and deliver to the
Secured Party at any time or from time to time one or more financing statements pursuant to the UCC (or any other applicable statute) in form
reasonably satisfactory to the Secured Party and will pay the cost of filing the same in all public offices wherever filing is, or is deemed by the
Secured Party to be, necessary or desirable to effect the rights and obligations provided for herein. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the Borrower shall pay all fees, taxes and other amounts necessary to maintain the Collateral and the Security Interest hereunder, and
the Borrower shall obtain and furnish to the Secured Party from time to time, upon demand, such releases and/or subordinations of claims and
liens which may be required to maintain the priority of the Security Interest hereunder. The Borrower shall promptly execute and deliver to the
Secured Party such further deeds, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, financing statements or other instruments, documents,
certificates and assurances and take such further action as the Secured Party may from time to time request and may in its sole discretion deem
necessary to perfect, protect or enforce its Security Interest in the Collateral.
Section 7.7 Termination of Security Interest. The Security Interest shall terminate only if and when the Obligations have been paid
and performed in full.
Section 7.8 Absolute Obligations. All rights of the Lenders and all Obligations of the Borrower hereunder, shall be absolute and
unconditional, irrespective of: (a) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Loan Documents or Prior Loan Documents, or any agreement
entered into in connection with the foregoing, or any portion hereof or thereof; (b) any change in the time, manner or place of payment or
performance of, or in any other term of, all or any of the Obligations, or any other amendment or waiver of or any consent to any departure
from the Loan Documents, or any other agreement entered into in connection with the foregoing; (c) any exchange, release or nonperfection of
any of the Collateral, or any release or amendment or waiver of or consent to departure from any other collateral for, or any guaranty, or any
other security, for all or any of the Obligations; (d) any action by the Lenders or a Collateral Agent on behalf of the Lenders to obtain, adjust,
settle and cancel in its sole discretion any insurance claims or matters made or arising in connection with the Collateral; or (e) any other
circumstance which might otherwise constitute any legal or equitable defense available to the Borrower, or a discharge of all or any part of the
Security Interest granted hereby. Until the Obligations shall have been paid and performed in full, the rights of the Lenders shall continue even
if the Obligations are barred for any reason, including, without limitation, the running of the statute of limitations or bankruptcy.
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Section 7.9 Waiver. The Borrower expressly waives presentment, protest, notice of protest, demand, notice of nonpayment and
demand for performance. In the event that at any time any transfer of any Collateral or any payment received by the Lenders hereunder shall be
deemed by final order of a court of competent jurisdiction to have been a voidable preference or fraudulent conveyance under the bankruptcy or
insolvency laws of the United States, or shall be deemed to be otherwise due to any party other than the Lenders, then, in any such event, the
Borrower’s Obligations hereunder shall survive cancellation of any or all of the Loan Documents or Prior Loan Documents, and shall not be
discharged or satisfied by any prior payment thereof and/or cancellation of this Agreement, but shall remain a valid and binding obligation
enforceable in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof. The Borrower waives all right to require the Lenders or a Collateral Agent on
behalf of the Lenders to proceed against any other person or to apply any Collateral which the Lenders or Collateral Agent on behalf of the
Lenders may hold at any time, or to pursue any other remedy. The Borrower waives any defense arising by reason of the application of the
statute of limitations to any obligation secured hereby.
ARTICLE 8
GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
Section 8.1 Notices. Any and all notices, requests or other communications hereunder shall be given in writing and delivered by: (a)
regular, overnight or registered or certified mail (return receipt requested), with first class postage prepaid; (b) hand delivery; (c) facsimile
transmission; or (d) overnight courier service, to the parties at the respective addresses set forth on the last page(s) of this Agreement, or such
other address as Borrower or the Lenders may from time to time designate by written notice to the other as herein required. Except as otherwise
provided in this Agreement, all such communications shall be deemed to have been duly given: (A) in the case of a notice sent by regular or
registered or certified mail, three business days after it is duly deposited in the mails; (B) in the case of a notice delivered by hand, when
personally delivered; (C) in the case of a notice sent by facsimile, upon transmission subject to telephone confirmation of receipt; and (D) in the
case of a notice sent by overnight mail or overnight courier service, the next business day after such notice is mailed or delivered to such
courier, in each case given or addressed as aforesaid.

16

Section 8.2 Modifications. No amendment or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, any Note or the Warrants, and no consent
with respect to any departure by Borrower therefrom, shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the Lenders and
Borrower and then any such waiver or consent shall be effective, but only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given.
Section 8.3 Severability. In case any of the provisions of this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Agreement shall be construed
as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.
Section 8.4 Election of Remedies. The Lenders shall have all of the rights and remedies granted in this Agreement and in all of the
other Loan Documents and available at law or in equity, and these same rights and remedies shall be cumulative and may be pursued separately,
successively, or concurrently against Borrower or any property covered under the Loan Documents at the sole discretion of the Lenders. The
exercise or failure to exercise any of the same shall not constitute a waiver or release thereof or of any other right or remedy, and the same shall
be nonexclusive.
Section 8.5 Form and Substance. All documents, certificates, and other items required under this Agreement to be executed and/or
delivered to the Lenders shall be in form and substance satisfactory to Lenders.
Section 8.6 Controlling Agreement. All agreements between Borrower and the Lenders, whether now existing or hereafter arising
and whether written or oral, are hereby limited so that in no contingency, whether by reason of demand or acceleration of the maturity of the
Notes or otherwise, shall the interest paid or agreed to be paid to Lenders exceed the maximum amount permissible under applicable law. If
from any circumstances whatsoever, interest would otherwise be payable to Lenders at a rate in excess of that permitted under applicable law,
then the interest payable to Lenders shall be reduced to the maximum amount permitted under applicable law, and if from any circumstance
Lenders shall ever receive anything of value deemed interest by applicable law which would exceed interest at the highest lawful rate, an amount
equal to any excessive interest shall be applied to the reduction of the principal amount owing to Lenders under this Agreement or under any of
the other Loan Documents and not to the payment of interest, or if such excessive interest exceeds the unpaid balance of principal owing to
Lenders under this Agreement and under any of the other Loan Documents, such excess shall be refunded to the Borrower. All interest paid or
agreed to be paid to Lenders shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be amortized, prorated, allocated and/or spread throughout the full
period until payment in full of the principal of the indebtedness (including the period of any renewal or extension hereof) so that the interest on
account of such indebtedness for such full period shall not exceed the maximum amount permitted by applicable law. This section shall control
all agreements between Borrower and the Lenders.
Section 8.7 No Third Party Beneficiary. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Lenders and Borrower and is not for the
benefit of any third party.
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Section 8.8 Borrower in Control. In no event shall the Lenders’ rights and interests under the Loan Documents be construed to give
the Lenders the right to control, or be deemed to indicate that the Lenders are in control of, the business, management or properties of Borrower
or the daily management functions and operating decisions made by Borrower.
Section 8.9 Number and Gender. Whenever used herein, the singular number shall include the plural and the singular, and the use of
any gender shall be applicable to all genders. The duties, covenants, obligations and warranties of Borrower in this Agreement shall be joint and
several obligations of Borrower and of each Borrower if more than one.
Section 8.10 Captions. The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this Agreement are for convenience only and do not in any
way affect, limit, amplify, or modify the terms and provisions hereof.
Section 8.11 Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS ARE CONTRACTS
MADE IN, AND UNDER THE LAWS OF, THE STATE OF TEXAS, AND THEIR VALIDITY, ENFORCEMENT AND
INTERPRETATION, SHALL FOR ALL PURPOSES BE GOVERNED ENTIRELY BY TEXAS LAW AND APPLICABLE
UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW.
Section 8.12 Relationship of the Parties. This Agreement provides for the making of loans by Lenders in their capacity as lenders to
Borrower, in its capacity as a borrower, and for the payment of interest and repayment of principal by Borrower to Lenders. The relationship
between Lenders and Borrower is limited to that of creditor, on the one hand, and debtor, on the other hand. The provisions herein relating to
the Security Interest are intended solely for the benefit of Lenders to protect their interests as lenders in assuring payments of interest and
repayment of principal, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as permitting or obligating any of the Lenders to act as a
financial or business advisor or consultant to Borrower, as permitting or obligating any of the Lenders to control Borrower or to conduct
Borrower's operations, as creating any fiduciary obligation on the part of any of the Lenders to Borrower, or as creating any joint venture,
agency, or other relationship between the parties other than as explicitly and specifically stated in this Agreement. Borrower acknowledges that
it has had the opportunity to obtain the advice of experienced counsel of its own choosing in connection with the negotiation and execution of
this Agreement and to obtain the advice of experienced counsel in connection with entering into these binding provisions, including, without
limitation, the provision for waiver of trial by jury. Borrower further acknowledges that it is experienced with respect to financial and credit
matters and has made its own independent decisions to apply for credit and to execute and deliver this Agreement.
Section 8.13 Waiver of Jury Trial. Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that, in connection with any dispute arising under this
Agreement or under any of the other Loan Documents, it shall not elect a trial by jury of any issue which may be tried by a jury and hereby
waives any right to trial by jury fully to the extent that any such right shall now or hereafter exist. This waiver of right to trial by jury is
separately given, knowingly and voluntarily, by Borrower, and this waiver is intended to encompass individually each instance and each issue
as to which the right to a jury trial would otherwise accrue. The Lenders are hereby authorized and requested to submit this Agreement to any
court having jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties hereto, so as to serve as conclusive evidence of the foregoing waiver of the right
to jury trial. Further, Borrower hereby certifies that no representative or agent of the Lenders, including their counsel, has represented,
expressly or otherwise, to Borrower that the Lenders will not seek to enforce this waiver of right of jury trial provision.
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Section 8.14 Consent to Jurisdiction. Borrower hereby agrees that any action or proceeding under this Agreement or under any of
the other Loan Documents may be commenced against it in any court of competent jurisdiction within Harris County, Texas by service of
process upon Borrower by first class registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to Borrower at its address last known to the
Lenders. Borrower agrees that any such suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or to any of the other Loan
Documents may be instituted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas; and Borrower hereby waives any objection
to the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding. Nothing herein shall affect the right of the Lenders to accomplish service of process in any
other manner permitted by law or to commence legal proceedings or otherwise proceed against Borrower in any other jurisdiction or court.
Section 8.15 Ambiguity/Authorship. The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the
event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, there shall be no presumption or burden of proof which arises favoring or
disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
Section 8.16 Attorneys’ Fees. In the event a cause of action is filed to enforce this Agreement, the prevailing party shall have the
right to collect from the non-prevailing party, its reasonable costs, necessary, disbursements and attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing this
Agreement.
Section 8.17 Entire Agreement. THE WRITTEN LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR CONTEMPORANEOUS OR
SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN THE PARTIES.
Section 8.18 Effect of Facsimile and Photocopied Signatures. This Agreement (and the other Loan Documents) may be executed in
several counterparts, each of which is an original. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement, the Loan Documents or any
counterpart thereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. A copy of this Agreement and the Loan Documents signed by one
party and faxed or scanned and emailed to another party (as a PDF or similar image file) shall be deemed to have been executed and delivered
by the signing party as though an original. A photocopy or PDF of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be effective as an
original for all purposes.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank. Signature page follows.]
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EXECUTED and DELIVERED as of the date first recited.

Address of Borrower:

BORROWER

3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550
Houston, Texas 77027

Lucas Energy, Inc.
By: /s/ Anthony C. Schnur
Printed Name: Anthony C. Schnur
Its: Chief Executive Officer

[Lender(s) signatures are included on the following page(s)]
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EXECUTED and DELIVERED as of the date first recited.

Garry A. Frank
By: /s/Garry A. Frank
P.O. Box 907
Mills, Wyoming 82644
Victoria J. Campbell Living Trust dated January 09, 2007
By: /s/ Victoria J. Campbell
1515 S Josephine Street
Denver, Colorado 80210
Mark W. Magliery & Nancy M. Magliery
By: /s/ Mark W. Magliery
By: /s/ Nancy M. Magliery
359 Marion Street
Denver, Colorado 80218
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SCHEDULE 1
[Lenders and Loan Amounts]

Name and Address

Loan Amount

Garry A. Frank
P.O. Box 907
Mills, Wyoming 82644

$300,000

Victoria J. Campbell Living Trust dated January 09, 2007
1515 S Josephine Street
Denver, Colorado 80210

$100,000

Mark W. Magliery & Nancy M. Magliery
359 Marion Street
Denver, Colorado 80218

$100,000

EXHIBITS TO LOAN AGREEMENT

A

Promissory Note

B

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant

EXHIBIT A
PROMISSORY NOTE

EXHIBIT B
FORM OF COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANT

Exhibit 10.17

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED. IT MAY NOT BE
SOLD, OFFERED FOR SALE, PLEDGED OR HYPOTHECATED IN THE ABSENCE OF AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION
STATEMENT UNDER SAID ACT OR AN OPINION OF COUNSEL SATISFACTORY TO THE BORROWER THAT SUCH
REGISTRATION IS NOT REQUIRED.

LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
PROMISSORY NOTE
Amount of Loan: $________

Date: May 31, 2013
HOUSTON, TEXAS

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Lucas Energy, Inc., a Nevada corporation (the “Borrower”), promises to pay to the order of
____________ (the "Lender"), or Lender's registered assigns, at ____________________________, in lawful money of the United States of
America the principal sum of __________________ and No/100 Dollars ($________),which shall be legal tender, bearing interest and payable
as provided herein together with interest on the principal balance, at an interest rate equal to 14% per annum, with interest payable monthly in
arrears on the first date of each month commencing July 1, 2013 (each an “Interest Payment”), and the principal plus any remaining accrued
interest payable on the Maturity Date. The “Maturity Date” shall be April 4, 2014.
This Note is executed and delivered by the Borrower pursuant to that certain Loan Agreement with the Borrower dated on or around the
date hereof (as amended, modified or restated from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”). This Note evidences a Loan made by Lender to
Borrower under the Loan Agreement and this Note is subject to the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement. All capitalized terms used
herein, unless otherwise defined herein, shall have the same definitions herein as are assigned to such terms in the Loan Agreement. Reference is
hereby made to the Loan Agreement for a statement of the events upon which the maturity of this Note may be accelerated automatically. If any
payment of principal or interest on this Note shall become due on a Saturday, Sunday or any other day on which national banks are not open for
business, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day.
1.

Interest. Interest shall be a flat rate of 14% of the principal per annum.

2.
Prepayment. The Borrower may prepay this Note in whole or in part at any time; provided that any such prepayment will be
applied first to the payment of expenses due under this Note, if any, second to interest on this Note and third, to the payment of principal of this
Note.
3.
Past Due Payments. Any overdue principal hereunder and, to the extent permitted by law, overdue interest hereon, shall bear
interest, payable on demand, for each day from and including the date payment thereof was due to, but excluding, the date of actual payment, at a
rate per annum equal to seventeen percent (17%) per annum (the “Default Rate”).
4.

Security Interest. This Note is secured by that certain Security Interest set forth in the Loan Agreement.

5.

Use of Proceeds. The proceeds from this Note shall be used for general working capital or to pay amounts owed to Nordic.

6.
Successors and Assigns. Subject to the restrictions on transfer described in Sections 7 and 8 below, the rights and obligations
of the Borrower and Lender shall be binding upon and benefit the successors, assigns, heirs, administrators and transferees of the parties.
7.
Transfer of this Note. With respect to any offer, sale or other disposition of this Note, the Lender will give written notice to the
Borrower prior thereto, describing briefly the manner thereof, together with a written opinion of Lender’s counsel, or other evidence if
reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower, to the effect that such offer, sale or other distribution may be effected without registration or
qualification (under any federal or state law then in effect). Upon receiving such written notice and reasonably satisfactory opinion, if so
requested, or other evidence, the Borrower, as promptly as practicable, shall notify Lender that Lender may sell or otherwise dispose of this Note
or such securities, all in accordance with the terms of the notice delivered to the Borrower. If a determination has been made pursuant to this
Section 7 that the opinion of counsel for Lender, or other evidence, is not reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower, the Borrower shall so notify
Lender promptly after such determination has been made. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any offer, sale or other disposition of
this Note to any person or entity affiliated with Lender (an “Affiliated Party”), Lender will give written notice to the Borrower prior thereto,
describing briefly the manner thereof, and the Lender may transfer the Note to such Affiliated Party as long as the Affiliated Party agrees in
writing to be bound by the terms hereof and the Loan Agreement (as applicable) as if such Affiliated Party was the original Lender
hereunder. Each Note thus transferred shall bear a legend as to the applicable restrictions on transferability in order to ensure compliance with
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), unless in the opinion of counsel for the Borrower such legend is not required in
order to ensure compliance with the Securities Act. Subject to the foregoing, transfers of this Note shall be registered upon registration books
maintained for such purpose by or on behalf of the Borrower. Prior to presentation of this Note for registration of transfer, the Borrower shall
treat the registered holder hereof as the owner and holder of this Note for the purpose of receiving all payments of principal and interest hereon
and for all other purposes whatsoever, whether or not this Note shall be overdue and the Borrower shall not be affected by notice to the contrary.
8.
Assignment by the Borrower. Neither this Note nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned, by
operation of law or otherwise, in whole or in part, by the Borrower without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders.
9.
Notices. All notices, requests, demands, consents, instructions or other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be
made in accordance with Section 8.1 of the Loan Agreement.
10. Usury. In the event any interest is paid on this Note which is deemed to be in excess of the then legal maximum rate, then that
portion of the interest payment representing an amount in excess of the then legal maximum rate shall be deemed a payment of principal and
applied against the principal of this Note.
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11. Attorneys’ Fees. In the event a cause of action is filed to enforce this Note, the prevailing party shall have the right to collect from
the non-prevailing party, its reasonable costs, necessary disbursements and attorneys’ fees incurred in enforcing this Note.
12. Waivers. The Borrower hereby waives notice of default, presentment or demand for payment, protest or notice of nonpayment or
dishonor and all other notices or demands relative to this instrument.
13. Governing Law. This Note and all actions arising out of or in connection with this Note shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, without regard to the conflicts of law provisions of the State of Texas, or of any other state and
venue for all causes of action shall be in Harris County, Texas.

[Signature on following page]
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The Borrower has caused this Note to be issued on the date first written above.

LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
a Nevada corporation

By:__________________________________
Its: Chief Executive Officer
Printed Name: Anthony C. Schnur
Lucas Energy, Inc.
3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550
Houston, Texas 77027
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries
LEI Alcalde Properties LLC, a Texas limited liability company, which is wholly-owned.

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-164099, 333-173825,
333-179980 and 333-188663), and Form S-8 (File No. 333-166257 and 333-179220) relating to the Lucas Energy, Inc. 2010 Long Term
Incentive Plan and 2012 Stock Incentive Plan, respectively, of our report dated June 28, 2013, relating to the financial statements of Lucas
Energy, Inc. that appear in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lucas Energy, Inc. for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.
/s/ Hein & Associates LLP
Hein & Associates LLP
HOUSTON, TEXAS
June 28, 2013

Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PETROLEUM ENGINEERS

We hereby consent to the use of the name Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc. and to the inclusion of our reports dated April, 1, 2012, and
April 1, 2013, which appear in the annual report on Form 10-K of Lucas Energy, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2013.
We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-164099, 333-173825, 333179980 and 333-188663), and Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-166257 and 333-179220) of Lucas Energy, Inc.
/ s / Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.
Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.
Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-629
Dallas, Texas
June 27, 2013

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony C. Schnur, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2013, of Lucas Energy, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: June 28, 2013
/s/ Anthony C. Schnur
Anthony C. Schnur
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, William J. Dale, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2013 of Lucas Energy, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: June 28, 2013
/s/ William J. Dale
William J. Dale
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Lucas Energy, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Anthony C. Schnur, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge
and belief: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ Anthony C. Schnur
Anthony C. Schnur
Chief Executive Officer
June 28, 2013
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Lucas Energy, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2013, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, William J. Dale, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge
and belief: (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
/s/ William J. Dale
William J. Dale
Chief Financial Officer
June 28, 2013
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 99.1

ESTIMATED RESERVES AND FUTURE NET REVENUE
AS OF
APRIL 1, 2013
ATTRIBUTABLE TO INTERESTS OWNED BY
LUCAS ENERGY INC.
IN CERTAIN PROPERTIES LOCATED IN
TEXAS

(SEC CASE)

FORREST A. GARB & ASSOCIATES, INC.
INTERNATIONAL PETROLEUM
CONSULTANTS

FORREST A. GARB & ASSOCIATES, INC.
INTERNATIONAL PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS
5310 HARVEST HILL ROAD, SUITE 275, LB 152
DALLAS, TEXAS 75230 - 5805
(972)788-1110 Telefax (972)991-3160 (EMAIL) forgarb@forgarb.com
June 7, 2013

Mr. Anthony C. Schnur
Lucas Energy, Inc.
3555 Timmons Lane, Suite 1550
Houston, TX 77027
Dear Mr. Schnur:
RE: LUCAS - SEC CASE
At your request, Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc. (FGA) has estimated the reserves and future net revenue, as of April 1, 2013,
attributable to interests owned by Lucas Energy, Inc. (Lucas) in certain oil and gas properties located in Texas. It is our understanding that the
proved and probable reserves in this report constitute 100 percent of the reserves owned by Lucas.
This report has been prepared using the definitions and guidelines of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and, with
the
exception
of
excluding
consideration
of
future
income
taxes,
conforms to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Codification Topic 932, Extractive Industries- Oil and Gas. These
guidelines specify the use of a 12-month first-day of the month average benchmark price, a ten percent per year discount factor, and constant
oil and gas prices and costs.
The following table summarizes the estimated net proved and probable reserves and their associated future net revenue, as of April 1,
2013:

Reserve
Category

Estimated Net
Reserves' Oil and
Condensate
Gas
(MBbl)2
(MMcf)

Estimated Future Net Revenue
Discounted at
Undiscounted
10% Per Year 3
(M$)2
(M$)2

Proved
Producing
Undeveloped

251.24
4,879.90

0.00
2,642.89

17,981.34
270,667.63

12,566.32
120,062.65

Total Proved 4

5,131.14

2,642.89

288,648.97

132,628.97

Probably Undeveloped

1,438.06

1,378.14

86,560.28

35,923.99

Total Probable4

1,438.06

1,378.14

86,560.28

35,923.99

1 The definitions for all reserves incorporated in this study have been set forth in this report.
2 MBbl = thousands of barrels, MMcf = millions of cubic feet, MS = thousands of dollars.
3 The discounted future net revenue is not represented to be the fair market value of these reserves.
4 The reserves and revenues in the summary table were estimated using the PHDWin economics program. Due to the rounding procedures
used in this program, there may be slight differences in the calculated and summed values.

FORREST A. GARB & ASSOCIATES, INC.
ENGINEERING
Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which, by analysis of engineering and geoscience data, can be
estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward. The basis for estimating the proved producing
reserves is the extrapolation of historical production data having an established decline trend. Volumetric analysis and/or analogy to adjacent
wells were used for forecasting properties where insufficient production data were present for production decline extrapolation. The proved
undeveloped properties were evaluated by analogy to comparable wells in the adjacent areas where these reservoirs are currently being
developed.
Probable reserves are those additional reserves which analysis of geosciences and engineering data indicate are less likely to be
recovered than proved reserves but more certain to be recovered than possible reserves. The basis for estimating the probable undeveloped
reserves was by analysis of analogous comparable wells in the near adjacent areas where these reservoirs are currently being developed.
Production
histories
were
obtained
from
published
production
data
and
state
reporting
records purchased from DrillingInfo, DI Desktop, and supplemented with data provided by Lucas. The available geologic and
engineering
data
were
furnished
by
Lucas
for
FGA's
review.
Gas
volumes
are expressed in millions of cubic feet (MMcf) at standard temperature and pressure. Gas sales imbalances have not been taken into
account in the reserve estimates. The oil reserves shown in this study include crude oil and/or condensate. Oil volumes are expressed in
thousands of barrels (MBbl), with one barrel equivalent to 42 United States gallons.
FGA has accepted Lucas' intent to drill the undeveloped locations at the pace provided in their proposed drilling schedule. The future
development program is aggressive, but per Lucas management, the company will fund the development of their oil and gas properties through
a combination of debt and equity. Lucas has conducted an initial screen of potential financial partners to develop its properties and has been
met with great interest. Further as a public company Lucas has access to the public equity markets to raise additional capital to fund its
drilling operations.
The analysis and findings presented in this report represent FGA's informed judgments based on accepted standards of professional
engineering practice, but are subject to the generally recognized and unforeseen risks associated with the interpretation of geological,
geophysical, and engineering data. Future changes in federal, state, or local regulations may adversely impact the ability to recover the future
oil and gas volumes expected. Changes in economic and market conditions from the assumptions and parameters used in this study may cause
the total quantity of future oil or gas recovered, actual production rates, prices received, operating expenses and capital costs to vary from the
results presented in this report.

FORREST A. GARB & ASSOCIATES, INC.
ECONOMICS
The benchmark oil and gas prices used in this study are the preceding 12-month averages of the first day of the month spot prices
posted for the West Texas Intermediate (WTI) oil and Henry Hub natural gas. Oil prices are based on a benchmark price of $97.24 per barrel
and have been adjusted by lease for gravity, transportation fees, and regional price differentials. Gas prices per thousand cubic feet (MCF)
are based on a benchmark price of $4.03 per million British thermal units (MMBtu) and have been adjusted by lease for Btu content,
transportation fees, and regional price differentials. The adjustment is based on the differential between historic oil and gas sales and the
corresponding benchmark price. The oil and gas prices were held constant for the economic life of the properties.
Lucas provided data on ownership interests, monthly lease operating expenses (LOE), and capital expenditures. FGA accepted the
extent and character of ownership (working interest and net revenue interest) as represented. Capital expenditures are included as required for
workovers, the future development of wells, and for production equipment. Our staff conducted no independent well tests, property
inspections, or audits of completion and operating expenses as part of this study. All costs have been held constant in this
evaluation. Existing or potential liabilities stemming from environmental conditions caused by current or past operating practices have not
been considered in this report. No costs are included in the projections of future net revenue or in our economic analyses to restore, repair, or
improve the environmental conditions of the properties studied to meet existing or future local, state, or federal regulations.
The estimated future net revenues shown are those which should be realized from the sale of estimated oil and gas reserves after
deduction of severance taxes, ad valorem taxes, and direct operating costs. No deductions have been made for federal income taxes or other
indirect costs, such as interest expense and loan repayments. Surface and well equipment salvage values have not been considered in the
revenue projections. The estimated reserves included in the cash flow projections have not been adjusted for risk. The reserves included in
this study are estimates only and should not be construed as exact quantities. They may or may not be actually recovered; and, if
recovered,
the
actual
revenues
and
associated
costs
could
be
more
or
less
than
the estimated amounts. Future conditions may affect recovery of estimated reserves and revenue, and all categories of reserves may be
subject to revision as more performance data become available.
Grand total summary projections by reserve category and category summaries (including one-line summaries for the individual
properties) are presented in Attachment A. The individual properties have been ranked in descending order of discounted future net revenue
value. This ranking is presented as Attachment B. Attachment C is a master list of all properties.
Individual projections and graphs of historical and forecast production are provided in Attachment D for proved developed
producing, proved undeveloped, and probable undeveloped properties. Attachment E presents the definitions of oil and gas reserves in
accordance with the SEC. General comments regarding this report and the estimation of future reserves and revenue are presented in
Attachment F. Attachment G contains our consulting firm profile.

FORREST A. GARB & ASSOCIATES, INC.
PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS
FGA is an independent firm of geologists and petroleum engineers. Neither the finn nor its employees own any interest in
the properties studied, nor have we been employed on a contingency basis. FGA has used all necessary methods and procedures in the
preparation of this report for the evaluation of these properties. Any distribution of this report, or any part thereof, must include this letter and
the General Comments in their entirety.
We appreciate the opportunity to submit this evaluation. Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call.
This report was prepared under the supervision of W.D. Harris III, Registered
Professional Engineer No. 75222, State of Texas.

Yours truly,

Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.
Texas Registered Engineering Finn F-629

W. D. Harris III
Chief Executive Officer
Forrest A. Garb & Associates, Inc.

SWW/dsg

Exhibit 99.2
LUCAS ENERGY, INC.
CHARTER OF THE NOMINATING AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Adopted June 21, 2013
I.

PURPOSE
The purpose of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Committee”) of Lucas Energy, Inc. (the “Company”) are to:

II.

(1)

assist the Board of Directors (the “Board”) by identifying individuals qualified to become Board members;

(2)

recommend individuals to the Board for nomination as members of the Board and its committees;

(3)

lead the Board in its annual review of the Board’s performance;

(4)

monitor the attendance, preparation and participation of individual directors and to conduct a performance evaluation of each
Director prior to the time he or she is considered for re-nomination to the Board;

(5)

review and recommend to the Board responses to shareowner proposals;

(6)

monitor and evaluate corporate governance issues and trends;

(7)

provide oversight of the corporate governance affairs of the Board and the Company, including consideration of the risk
oversight responsibilities of the full Board and its committees;

(8)

assist the Board in organizing itself to discharge its duties and responsibilities properly and effectively; and

(9)

assist the Board in ensuring proper attention and effective response to stockholder concerns regarding corporate governance.

MEMBERSHIP AND STRUCTURE

The Committee will be composed of at least two directors, all of whom satisfy the definition of “independent” under the listing standard
of the NYSE MKT (the “Exchange”) or such other exchange(s) upon which the Company’s securities are listed. The Committee members will be
appointed by the Board and may be removed by the Board in its discretion. The Committee shall have the authority to delegate any of its
responsibilities to subcommittees as deemed appropriate, provided the subcommittees are composed entirely of independent directors.

Unless a chairperson (the “Chairperson”) is elected by the full Board, the members of the Committee shall designate a Chairperson by
majority vote of the full Committee membership. The Chairperson shall be entitled to cast a vote to resolve any ties. The Chairperson will chair all
regular sessions of the Committee and set the agenda for the Committee meetings.
III.

MEETINGS

The Committee shall meet as often as its members deem necessary to perform the Committees responsibilities. A majority of the
members of this Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and the act of the majority of Committee members present at
a meeting where a quorum is present shall be the act of this Committee, unless a different vote is required by express provision of law, the
Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation. Unless otherwise provided by the Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation: (i) any action required or
permitted to be taken at any meeting of this Committee may be taken without a meeting if all of the members consent thereto (a) in writing or (b)
by electronic transmission and such writings or transmissions are filed with the minutes of this Committee; and (ii) members of this Committee
may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating
in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation shall constitute presence at such a meeting.
IV.

COMMITTEE AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Committee will have the authority, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, to retain a search firm to be used to identify
director candidates. The Committee shall have sole authority to retain and terminate any such search firm, including sole authority to approve the
firm’s fees and other retention terms. The Committee shall also have authority, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, to retain other
advisors. The Company will provide the appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for payment of compensation to any search firm
or other advisors employed by the Committee.
Specific responsibilities and duties of the Committee include:
(a)Establishing criteria for selection of new directors and nominees for vacancies on the Board;
(b)Approving director nominations to be presented for stockholder approval at the Company annual Meeting and filing on the Board;
(c)Identifying and assisting with the recruitment of qualified candidates for Broad membership and for the positions of Chairman of
the Board and Chairmen of the committees of the Board;
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(d) Recommending to the Board to accept or decline any tendered resignation of a director;
(e) Considering any nomination of director candidates validly made by stockholders;
(f) Reviewing any director conflict of interest issues and determining how to handle such issues;
(g) Monitoring the attendance, preparation and participation of each director, conducting a performance review and making
recommendations to the Board on whether members of the Board should stand for reelection;
(h) Providing appropriate orientation programs for new directors;
(i) Reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices at least annually and
recommending any proposed changes to the Board;
(j) Reviewing annually the independence of each director, and reporting to the Board the results of its review;
(k) Implementing, administering and overseeing implementation of any compensation plans for directors (to the extent such
responsibility is not specified elsewhere);
(l) Providing no less than annually, a recommendation to the full Board regarding the CEO's and CFO’s performance;
(m)Identifying and evaluating emerging corporate governance issues and trends which may affect the Company and making
recommendations to the Board as appropriate;
(n) Reviewing and recommending to the Board responses to shareowner proposals;
(o) Identifying best practices and developing and recommending corporate governance principles applicable to the Company; and
(p) Adopting and maintaining guidelines for the review, approval or ratification, and disclosure of “related person transactions” as
defined by Securities and Exchange Commission rules.
The Committee will also make periodic reports to the Board and will propose any necessary actions to the Board. The Committee will
also be responsible for the review and reassessment of the adequacy of this Charter annually and for recommending any proposed changes to the
Board for approval. The Committee will annually evaluate its own performance.
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V.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Committee has the authority to lead the search for individuals qualified to become members of the Board of the Company and to
select or recommend to the Board nominees to be presented for stockholder approval. The Committee will select individuals who have high
personal and professional integrity, have demonstrated ability and sound judgment and are effective, in conjunction with other director nominees,
in collectively serving the long-term interests of the Company’s stockholders. The Committee may use its network of contacts to compile a list of
potential candidates, but may also engage, if it deems appropriate, a professional search firm. The Committee may meet to discuss and consider
candidates’ qualifications and then choose a candidate by majority vote.
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